
Wednesday, 
5 September 2018

10.00 am

Meeting of
Performance and 

Overview Committee
Sadler Road

Winsford
Contact Officer:
Donna Linton

Democratic Services

Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service, Sadler Road, Winsford, Cheshire, CW7 2FQ

Tel: 01606 868804
E-mail: donna.linton@cheshirefire.gov.uk

Public Document Pack



Cheshire Fire Authority
Notes for Members of the Public

____________________________________________________________________________
Attendance at Meetings
The Cheshire Fire Authority welcomes and encourages members of the public to be at its 
meetings and Committees.You are requested to remain quiet whilst the meeting is taking place 
and to enter and leave the meeting room as quickly and quietly as possible.

All meetings of the Authority are held at Sadler Road Winsford.  If you plan to attend please 
report first to the Reception Desk where you will be asked to sign in and will be given a visitors 
pass.  You should return your pass to the Reception Desk when you leave the building. There 
are some car parking spaces available on site for visitors at the front of the Sadler Road.  
Please do not park in spaces reserved for Fire Service personnel.

If you feel there might be particular problems with access to the building or car parking please 
contact the Reception Desk at Sadler Road Winsford Tel (01606) 868700.
___________________________________________________________________
Questions by Electors
An elector in the Fire Service area can ask the Chair of the Authority a question if it is sent to 
the Monitoring Officer at Fire Service HQ to arrive at least five clear working days before the 
meeting.  The contact officer named on the front of the Agenda will be happy to advise you on 
this procedure.

Access to Information
Copies of the Agenda will be available at the meeting.  A copy can also be obtained from the 
contact officer named on the front of the Agenda. Alternatively, individual reports are available 
on the Authority’s website (www.cheshirefire.gov.uk)

The Agenda is usually divided into two parts. Members of the public are allowed to stay for the 
first part.  When the Authority is ready to deal with the second part you will be asked to leave 
the meeting room, because the business to be discussed will be of a confidential nature, for 
example, dealing with individual people and contracts.

This agenda is available in large print, Braille, audio CD or in community languages upon 
request by contacting; Telephone: 01606868414 or email: equalities@cheshirefire.gov.uk

Recording of Meetings
Anyone attending the meeting should be aware the Authority audio-records its meetings.  There 
is a protocol on reporting at meetings which provides further information.  Copies are available 
on the Service’s website www.cheshirefire.gov.uk or alternatively contact Democratic Services 
for details

Fire Evacuation
If the Fire Alarm sounds you should make you way to the nearest exit as quickly as possible and 
leave the building.  Please follow any instructions from staff about evacuation routes.

mailto:equalities@cheshirefire.gov.uk
http://www.cheshirefire.gov.uk/


MEETING OF THE PERFORMANCE AND OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
WEDNESDAY, 5 SEPTEMBER 2018
Time : 10.00 am
Lecture Theatre - Sadler Road, Cheshire

AGENDA

PART 1 - Business to be discussed 

1 PROCEDURAL MATTERS 

1A Record of Meeting 
Members are reminded that this meeting will be audio-recorded.

1B Apologies for Absence 

1C Declaration of Members' Interests 
Members are reminded that the Members’ Code of Conduct 
requires the disclosure of Statutory Disclosable Pecuniary Interests, 
Non-Statutory Disclosable Pecuniary Interests and Disclosable Non-
Pecuniary Interests.

1D Minutes of the Performance and Overview Committee 
To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting of the 
Performance and Overview Committee held on 11th July 2018.

(Pages 1 - 4)

ITEMS REQUIRING DISCUSSION/DECISION 

2 Quarter 1 Financial Review 2018-19 (Pages 5 - 10)

3 Quarter 1 Programme Report 2018-19 (Pages 11 - 22)

4 Quarter 1 Performance Report 2018-19 (Pages 23 - 64)

5 Internal Audit Plan 2018-19 - Quarter 1 Progress and Follow 
Up Reports 

(Pages 65 - 94)

6 Unitary Performance Group Report 2017-18 and Quarter 1 
2018-19 

(Pages 95 - 112)

7 Annual Equality and Diversity Monitoring Report 2017-18 (Pages 113 - 158)



8 Forward Work Programme 2018-19 

The table includes those items that have been identified/agreed to-
date.  Members are asked to agree any additional items at the end 
of the meeting which need to be added to the programme.

(Pages 159 - 160)

PART 2 - BUSINESS TO BE DISCUSSED IN PRIVATE 



1

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE PERFORMANCE AND OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
held on Wednesday, 11 July 2018 at Lecture Theatre - Sadler Road, Cheshire at 10.00 
am

PRESENT: Councillors D Bailey, M Biggin, D Bailey, G Hayes, P Harris, K Mundry, 
T Sherlock and independent (non-elected) member D Barnett.

1  PROCEDURAL MATTERS 
 

A  Record of Meeting 

Members were reminded that the meeting would be audio-recorded.

B  Apologies for Absence 

Apologies were received from Cllr M Simon.

C  Declaration of Members' Interests 

There were no declarations of Members’ interests.

D  Minutes of the Performance and Overview Committee 

RESOLVED: That

[1] the minutes of the Performance and Overview Committee meeting held 
on 28th February 2018 be confirmed as a correct record.

E  Minutes of Closure of Accounts Committee 

RESOLVED: That

[1] the minutes of the Closure of Accounts Committee meeting held on 30th 
May 2018 be confirmed as a correct record.

2  QUARTER 4 PERFORMANCE REPORT 2017-18 

The Head of Protection and Organisational Performance introduced the report which 
provided on update on the 2017-18 Quarter 4 review of performance for each of the 
Service’s Key Performance Indicators (KPIs).  Appendix 1 to the report contained 
the Corporate Performance Scorecard reflecting the Quarter 4 position against 
targets set and the year-on-year direction of travel for the Service’s KPIs.

He expanded on each of the KPIs, providing further context particularly where 
targets had not been achieved, e.g. the number of deaths and injuries in primary 
fires; fires in non domestic properties; the number of non domestic premises fire 

Page 1

Agenda Item 1D



Minutes
Performance and Overview Committee

Wednesday, 11 July 2018

2

safety audits completed; and primary/secondary on-call availability. 

A member referred to the KPI relating to the number of deaths in primary fires and 
asked how officers investigated the trend, which indicated a slight increase in 
fatalities since 2013-14.  The Head of Protection and Organisational Performance 
explained that all fatal fires were fully investigated by officers and internal reviews 
were conducted to examine incidents pre/post fire to identify improvements the 
Service may need to make.  The Head of Prevention also informed Members that 
the Service’s Performance Scrutiny and Campaigns Board scrutinised these 
incidents and launched campaigns, where appropriate, as part of the Service’s 
prevention work.  The Chief Fire Officer and Chief Executive explained to Members 
that, as the number of deaths in primary fires were very few, each incident could be 
individually scrutinised by the Service.  He also explained that the Service may make 
recommendations to the coroner from the investigations undertaken by officers.

A Member referred to the expansion of Safe and Well visits across Cheshire and 
queried whether Eastern Cheshire’s Clinical Commissioning Group were involved in 
the Safe and Well programme.  Officers confirmed that it was and that future reports 
would make this clear.

A Member referred to the Corporate Performance Scorecard which indicated that 
23% of accidental dwelling fires had occurred in homes with residents over 
pensionable age.  He queried whether there had been an increase in the number of 
accidental dwelling fires among any other age groups or among certain 
demographics i.e. in less affluent areas.  The Chief Fire Officer and Chief Executive 
informed Members that a presentation on the Service’s profiling methodology would 
be included on the agenda at the next Planning Day in September.

A Member queried whether the Service’s on-call availability statistics were similar to 
other fire and rescues services nationally.  The Head of Service Delivery confirmed 
that on-call availability was a national issue and that services were working together 
to share best practice with a view achieving the 85% availability target.

RESOLVED: That

[1]  the Quarter 4 Performance 2017-18 report be noted.

3  QUARTER 4 PROGRAMME REPORT 2017-18 

The Chief Fire Officer and Chief Executive provided Members with an update on the 
Service’s 2017-18 Integrated Risk Management Plan (IRMP) programmes and 
projects.  He referred Members to Appendix 1 to the report which contained a health 
report for the final quarter of 2017-18.

He informed Members of the progress made in respect of the Blue Light 
Collaboration Programme. The current progress status of the Programme was now 
amber (previously red); this was due to the MFSS project being re-baselined in April 
2018.  

The Chief Fire Officer and Chief Executive referred Members to the update on the 

Page 2



Minutes
Performance and Overview Committee

Wednesday, 11 July 2018

3

Training Centre Programme, which had a current progress status of amber 
(previously green).  He informed them that further information on the Programme 
would be provided at the Members’ Planning Day on 13th July 2018 and the Fire 
Authority meeting on 18th July 2018.

He indicated that closedown reports had been agreed by the Service’s 
Performance and Programme Board for the programmes concerning the staffing of 
the second appliance at Crewe and Ellesmere Port.

The Chief Fire Officer and Chief Executive informed Members that the Cardiac 
Response Project remained on hold, awaiting the outcome of national discussions 
for the wider firefighter role.  He also explained that the Emergency Services Mobile 
Communication Programme currently had a red progress status; this was due to 
milestones being missed by the Home Office and Motorola which had impacted on 
the delivery of the project.

A Member queried whether officers were also lobbying alongside the unions in 
relation to pay negotiations concerning the Cardiac Response Project.  The Chief 
Fire Officer and Chief Executive informed Members that officers supported the 
Project and that he believed that firefighters deserved a pay rise.

RESOLVED: That

[1] the Quarter 4 Programme 2017-18 Report be noted.

4  INTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT AND DIRECTOR OF AUDIT OPINION 
AND ANNUAL REPORT 2017-18 

Kevin Lloyd (the Auditor), a representative from Mersey Internal Audit Agency 
(MIAA), was in attendance at the meeting to present the Internal Audit Progress 
Report and Director of Audit Opinion and Annual Report 2017-18.

He informed Members that a review of the Service’s Station Management 
Framework had now been completed and had received a ‘significant’ assurance 
level.  Work to assist in the preparation of Data Flow Audits – General Data 
Protection Regulation (GDPR) had also been completed by MIAA in which they 
provided advisory support to the Service by reviewing data processing activities.

The Auditor referred Members to the Director of Audit Opinion and Annual Report 
2017-18.  He explained that the overall opinion for the period 1st April 2017 to 31st 
March 2018 was that substantial assurance could be given that there was a good 
system of internal control in place and that controls were generally being applied 
consistently.

RESOLVED: That

[1] the Internal Audit Progress Report and Director of Audit Opinion and 
Annual Report 2017-18 be noted.

5  NORTH WEST FIRE CONTROL - ANNUAL REPORT 2017-18 

Page 3



Minutes
Performance and Overview Committee

Wednesday, 11 July 2018

4

The Director of Governance and Commissioning introduced the report which 
provided information about the performance of North West Fire Control (NWFC) 
during the year 2017-18 (1st April 2017 to 31st March 2018).

He summarised the current system performance which included information on the 
availability of the mobilising system, faults within the system and the speed of the 
system.  The report also contained information about call handling and mobilising 
performance, the cost of the service, staff performance and business continuity.

An independent member asked about resilience at NWFC.  The Director of 
Governance and Commissioning explained that during peaks of activity additional 
NWFC staff could be called in and that NWFC could also rely on support from other 
call handling centres.

A Member queried whether the Service had assisted Greater Manchester Fire and 
Rescue Service at the ongoing grass fires at Saddleworth Moor.  The Chief Fire 
Officer and Chief Executive confirmed that the Service had assisted and also 
provided cover in Manchester city centre to maintain regional resilience.  National 
assistance had also been provided by other fire and rescue services, as well as 
support being provided by the army.  The Head of Service Delivery also informed 
Members that an update would be delivered at the Planning Day on 13th July 2018.

RESOLVED: That

[1] the North West Fire Control – Annual Report 2017-18 be noted.

6  PERFORMANCE UPDATE ON NEW STATIONS (PRESENTATION) 

The Assistant Chief Fire Officer (Operational Assurance and Service Improvement) 
presented an overview of performance at the four new fire stations at Alsager, 
Penketh, Powey Lane and Lymm.  His overview included maps depicting the 
incidents responded to and average response times.  It also highlighted the 
resources that were deployed.

RESOLVED: That

[1]  the presentation be noted.

7  FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME 

The forward work programme was considered by members and the Director of 
Governance and Commissioning informed them that an additional report concerning 
the recent HMICFRS inspection should provisionally be added to the agenda for the 
November 2018 meeting.

Page 4



CHESHIRE FIRE AUTHORITY

MEETING OF: PERFORMANCE AND OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
DATE: 5 SEPTEMBER 2018
REPORT OF: HEAD OF FINANCE
AUTHOR: WENDY BEBBINGTON
_______________________________________________________________ 

SUBJECT: QUARTER 1 FINANCIAL REVIEW 2018-19 
_______________________________________________________________

Purpose of report

1. The report provides a review of the Service’s forecast financial 
performance and reports on the progress against 2018/19 capital projects.

Recommended: That

[1] Members note the forecast outturn position.

[2] Member approve the movement in reserves as set out in Appendix 2.

Background

2. The Authority’s vision, plans, policies, and organisational structures are all 
focused on ensuring the Service can deliver the improvements in safety 
outcomes that matter to the communities of Cheshire East, Cheshire West 
and Chester, Halton and Warrington.  

3. On 14th February 2017 the Authority approved the 2018-19 revenue budget 
of £41.57m together with a 2018/19 capital programme of £9.8m.  This 
report provides an indication of the forecast level of expenditure when 
compared to the approved budget and capital programme.  

Information

Funding position

4. The original budget for 2018-19 approved by the Authority assumed that 
the Collection Fund position would be broadly neutral.  The position relating 
to the Collection Funds - that are managed by the four unitary authorities - 
has now become clearer.  The Authority will receive £0.5m as its share of 
the surplus on the council tax collection funds and will make a contribution 
of £28k to a deficit on the business rates collection funds: i.e. a net 
additional £482k in 2018-19 when compared to the original budget. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



Forecast Revenue Spending

5. At this early stage of the financial year there are no significant issues that 
have emerged that will impact on the forecast to the year end. Based on 
this early assessment, there is a net forecast underspend of £62k as shown 
in the table below with further details of each service area’s forecast outturn 
set out in Appendix 1.  

Summary

Original 
Budget 

£000

Forecast 
Spend 

£000

Variance 
£000

Firefighting and rescue operations £24,886 £24,940 £54
Protection £2,045 £2,034 -£11
Prevention £2,466 £2,519 £53
Support Services £9,520 £9,442 -£78
Unitary Performance Groups £100 £100 £0
Finance Resources £3,269 £3,304 £35
Corporate Resources -£253 -£432 -£179
Contributions to/(from) reserves -£460 £86 £546
Net Revenue Position £41,573 £41,993 £420
Funding:

Council Tax -£27,735 -£27,735 £0
Collection Fund Surplus (council tax) £0 -£522 -£522
Business Rates Retention scheme -£9,325 -£9,313 £12
Collection Fund Deficit (business rates) £0 £28 £28
RSG -£4,513 -£4,513 £0

Overall Net Underspend £0 -£62 -£62

6. The Finance Resources budget shown above, includes provision for the 
assumed pay award of 3% to firefighters from April 2018. The forecast 
assumes this expenditure will be incurred, but this is still subject to on-going 
negotiations.      

7. In June 2018 the Authority received notification from the Department for 
Communities and Local Government that authorities would receive 
additional specific grant to compensate for the business rate relief 
measures announced by the Government in the Autumn Budget.  This 
meant an additional £179k for Cheshire Fire which is shown in the table 
above under Corporate Resources.  

8. The 2018/19 approved budget included one-off items funded from 
reserves (£0.4m) together with a contribution to the capital reserves of 
£0.9m, a net £0.5m funding transferred from reserves.  This includes the 
costs of Crewe and Ellesmere Port funded by reserves of £0.9m. At first 
quarter, the forecast shows a provisional net contribution to reserves of 
£86k.  This reduction in the use of reserves is due to the receipt of the 
additional in-year funding as identified in paragraph 4, which negates the 

Page 6



use of reserves as originally envisaged.  A breakdown of the movement is 
reserves is set out in Appendix 2.

9. In summary, the overall position at the first quarter, when forecast 
expenditure and improved funding are brought together, is for a forecast 
underspend to the year end of £62k (or 0.1%) when compared to the budget 
approved by the Authority.  The position will continue to be monitored during 
the year.    

Capital Programme

10. At the end of June 2018, the Authority had an approved capital programme 
of £9.8m.  Since then a number of additional schemes have been approved 
including an increase to the Training Centre project and the rebuild of 
Chester Fire Station which together with prior year schemes gives an overall 
capital programme of £18.7m.  At the end of June, the forecast outturn 
spend is £18.5m – an underspend of £0.2m (1% variance).  

11. One scheme is no longer required at this time – the Hazmat Unit (£75k). A 
review concluded that the equipment was still usable.  Details of all the 
schemes are in Appendix 3. 
 

12. Funding for the Training Centre was approved through borrowing, the timing 
of which is being kept under review in consultation with the Authority’s 
Treasury Management Advisors.  At the end of the first quarter, no new 
borrowing has been undertaken.

Financial implications

13. This report considers financial matters.

Legal Implications

14. There are no legal implications arising from the report.

Equality and diversity implications

15. There are no equality and diversity implications arising from this report.

Environmental implications

16. There are no environmental implications arising from this report.

BACKGROUND PAPERS: NONE

Page 7



Appendix 1
CHESHIRE FIRE AUTHORITY QUARTER 1 2018/19

Original 
Budget 

£000

Forecast 
Spend 

£000
Variance 

£000
Firefighting and rescue operations

Service Delivery £20,344 £20,088 -£256
Operational Policy and Assurance £4,542 £4,852 £310

Protection £2,045 £2,034 -£11
Prevention

Community Safety £2,038 £2,091 £53
Safety Centre £428 £428 £0

Support Services
Executive Management £846 £907 £61
Workforce Transformation £157 £115 -£42
Property Management £1,574 £1,542 -£32
Finance £399 £392 -£7
ICT £1,549 £1,496 -£53
Legal and Democratic Services £536 £533 -£3
People and Development £1,612 £1,595 -£17
Planning, Performance & Communications £997 £977 -£20
Procurement and Stores £238 £249 £11
Fleet services £1,612 £1,636 £24

Unitary Performance Groups £100 £100 £0
Finance Resources £3,269 £3,304 £35
Business Rates Specific grants -£283 -£462 -£179
Provision for non collection of funding £30 £30 £0
Total Service Expenditure £42,033 £41,907 -£126

Contributions to capital reserves £935 £1,018 £83
Contributions from revenue reserves -£1,395 -£932 £463
Total Net Revenue Expenditure £41,573 £41,993 £420

Funding of Net Revenue Expenditure:
Council Tax -£27,735 £0 £0
Collection Fund Surplus (council tax) -£522 -£522 -£522
Business Rates Retention scheme -£9,313 £12 £12
Collection Fund Deficit (business rates) £28 £28 £28

 RSG -£4,513 £0 £0
Total Funding -£41,573 -£42,055 -£482

Forecast Net Underspend £0 -£62 -£62

Page 8



Appendix 2
MOVEMENT IN RESERVES 2018/19

TOTAL
Department Description £K
Finance Resources Land & Building 2018/19 valuation -£10
Service Delivery Funding for EP & Crewe 2nd pumps -£900
Service Delivery ERP2 Project team -£60
OPA Temporary training facilities - year 1 of 2 -£100
Protection Sprinkler Campaign - one off -£250
Community Safety Engagement Officer - Halton -£13
Fleet Engagement Officer - Halton, vehicle element -£5
Property Management Temporary SM B (no flexi) - New Training Centre (OPA) -£57
Finance Resources Annual Contribution to Capital £935

Approved as part of 2018/19 Budget -£460

OPA Annual contribution to Uniform PPE £100
Community Safety Annual contribution to Cadet Vehicle Replacement £20
Property Management Annual contribution to Alsager Station Maintenance £20
Property Management Annual contribution of RHI Income to Environment Reserve £25
Property Management Annual contribution Poynton Maintenance £5
ICT Annual contribution Mobile Data Terminals (MDTs) £34

Annual Contributions £204

Further Contributions To Reserves:
Finance Resources Funding for new loan costs - not required in year £63
Finance Resources Payment back to reserves for pension scheme costs met in April 2017 £260
OPA New Dimensions Grant - transfer to reserves £6
Workforce Transformation Contribution to staff survey reserve - bi-annual £11
Property Management Additional RHI Income to Environment Reserve £3

First Quarter Transfers £342

TOTAL POTENTIAL NET CONTRIBUTION FROM RESERVES £86

Page 9



Appendix 3
CHESHIRE FIRE AUTHORITY CAPITAL QUARTER 1 2018/19

2018/19 
Budget

Total
Revised 
Budget

Total 
Expenditure 

to end 
Jun18

Expected 
Expenditure

2018/19

Expected 
Scheme  
Outturn Variance

Service Area Description £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Prior year schemes: ICT Review/Server Replacement Programme 0 507 311 196 507 0
 Line Rescue Vehicle 0 80 36 44 80 0
 2 * water incident units 0 154 95 47 105 -49
 1 * 4 Wheel drive resilience 0 55 0 55 55 0
 Support vehicles replacement programme 0 60 60 60 60 0
 1 * display unit (chip pan demo unit) 0 25 17 17 17 -8
 Salvation Army Vehicle 0 22 8 22 22 0
 Sub-total 0 903 527 441 846 -57
2018/19 Schemes 2 *  cadets vehicles 20 20 0 20 20 0
 Three New Appliances 810 810 0 810 810 0
 1 * 4 wheel drive vehicle 55 55 0 55 55 0
 support vehicles replacement programme 60 60 0 60 60 0
 Hazardous materials units / containers 75 75 0 0 0 -75
 Server replacement programme 50 50 0 50 50 0
 ICT - storage space 50 50 0 50 50 0
 Replacement thermal image cameras (phased replacement) 28 28 0 28 28 0
 Capital contingency 107 107 0 0 0 -107
 New Operational Training Facility 8,550 11,000 343 400 11,000 0
 Sub-total 9,805 12,255 343 1,473 12,073 -182
In-year approvals: Chester Fire Station 0 5,510 87 500 5,510 0
 Transport management system 0 45 0 45 45 0

Total 9,805 18,713 957 2,459 18,474 -239

P
age 10



CHESHIRE FIRE AUTHORITY

MEETING OF: PERFORMANCE AND OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
DATE: 5 SEPTEMBER 2018
REPORT OF: CHIEF FIRE OFFICER AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
AUTHORS: JOANNE CARTLEDGE/SUSAN WATKINS

SUBJECT: QUARTER 1 PROGRAMME REPORT 2018-19
_______________________________________________________________

Purpose of Report

1. To update Members on the Service’s 2018-19 Integrated Risk 
Management Plan (IRMP) programmes and projects.

Recommended: That

[1] Members review and consider the information provided.

Background

2. This report forms part of the Authority’s quarterly performance reporting 
cycle which also includes performance reports on key performance 
indicators and financial performance.

Information

3. Progress on delivery of the IRMP programmes and projects is reported in 
the form of a quarterly health report to the Service’s Performance and 
Programme  Board (members of Service Management Team). The 
Service’s Performance and Programme Board is responsible for ensuring 
the successful delivery of programmes and projects contained in the 
Authority’s IRMP annual action plans. The health report for the first quarter 
of 2018-19, based on the document that was recently considered at 
Performance and Programme Board, is attached as Appendix 1 to this 
report. It was produced in July 2018 and where necessary verbal updates 
will be provided.   

Financial Implications

4. Specific financial and budget impacts are detailed in the financial report 
presented separately by the Head of Finance.

Legal Implications

5. There are no issues to report that impact upon the Service’s ability to meet 
its statutory or other legal obligations.

Page 11

Agenda Item 3



Equality & Diversity Implications

6. Programmes and projects are required to have equality impact 
assessments completed in accordance with the Service’s Project 
Management Framework.

Environmental Implications

7. Projects are individually assessed for environmental implications by the 
relevant project managers in accordance with the Service’s Project 
Management Framework.

CONTACT: DONNA LINTON, FIRE HQ, WINSFORD
TE: [01606] 868804

BACKGROUND PAPERS: NONE

Appendix 1 – Quarter 1 Programme Health Report 2018-19

Page 12



Appendix 1 to Item 4
Performance and Overview Committee 

5th September 2018

Performance and Programme Board – Programme Health Report
All data supplied in the report has been populated directly from the Cheshire Planning System on 17th July 2018, any changes after 

this date will not be reflected.

Reporting Period FROM 1st April 2018 TO 30th June 2018

PROJECT PROGRESS SUMMARIES, RAG STATUS AND IMPACT MITIGATION

1226 BLUE LIGHT COLLABORATION PROGRAMME 

PROGRAMME MANAGER Head of Strategic Change  

Previous 
status

Current 
status

Mitigating steps
(where status is red or amber)

The Programme was due to complete on 1st October 2018.  However, there remains a 
significant amount of work for Estates and Facilities, e.g. car parking spaces which will not be 
completed for some time.  The MFSS programme is now due to complete by 29th October 
2018, but a challenging schedule exists which may prove difficult to deliver successfully.  
Overall the Programme is beginning to move from the delivery phase into what will become 
business as usual.

Programme Update

The delivery phase of the programme was due to have been completed by April 2018, but due to issues with certain 
elements of the programme it was rescheduled and is now due to complete by 29th October 2018.

The Joint Corporate Services have all been created now (the last commencing on 1st April 2018). The people related 
issues associated with the creation of the Joint Corporate Services and the IT and Information Management 
requirements of those staff have been delivered.

There remains a significant amount of work for Estates and Facilities and it seems clear that this will not be completed 
by 29th October 2018. This has not prevented the move of Senior Fire Rescue Staff to Clemonds Hey but has delayed 
the completion of communications related to the Joint Police and Fire HQ.

The MFSS programme is due to complete by 29th October 2018, but a challenging schedule exists which may prove 
difficult to deliver successfully.

The collaborative nature of the programme has been helpful in allowing work to move forward notwithstanding the 
challenge of producing suitable legal documentation to describe and define the relationship between the two 
organisations.  Whilst this pragmatic approach has been helpful, officers now need to uses the learning and experience 
to produce suitable legal documentation.  This work needs to be concluded soon.

Page 13



Appendix 1 to Item 4
Performance and Overview Committee 

5th September 2018

The MFSS remains the greatest risk to progress with the overall programme. Without the MFSS the integration of 
services, processes etc will not be possible. The delayed estates and facilities work is less critical but unfortunate as the 
parties cannot publically claim to have a joint HQ.

Following agreement at the last Programme Board, monthly Joint Corporate Services meetings have now been 
arranged and the Terms of Reference for this meeting were sent for review and approval at the first meeting on 10th 
August 2018.  

1490 SADLER ROAD TRAINING CENTRE PROGRAMME 

PROGRAMME 
SPONSOR

Assistant Chief Fire 
Officer, Operational 
Assurance and Service 
Improvement

PROGRAMME MANAGER
Head of Operational Policy 
and Assurance 

Previous 
status

Current 
status

Mitigating steps
(where status is red or amber)

Current status remains amber due to the slippage within the programme. 

Programme Update

Since December 2017 Officers and advisors have worked with ISG to complete the Stage 1 work to a point which will 
require some additional changes to the programme, resulting in an increase to the original budget being required. This is 
a result of abnormal costs being associated with two of the surveys which have been conducted establishing that a 
significant amount of work will be required to overcome and improve the poor ground conditions and the drainage 
system on the site. Another abnormal cost is the rise in construction industry inflation, which when combined with the 
matters found by the surveys requires around £1.6m extra budget plus a small contingency. 

Some options to reduce the current design and bring the project within budget were described to Members at the 
Estates and Property Committee on 5th July 2018 by Officers working on the programme. However, Officers did not 
believe that reducing the current design or refurbishment of the current facilities would deliver the vision and meet the 
training needs of the Service. Estates and Property Committee were unanimous in recommending that the programme 
should proceed and be presented to the CFA meeting on 18th July 2018 to recommend an increase in the budget. 

As requested the recommendation to allocate additional budget to the programme was presented to the CFA Meeting 
which again received unanimous support from the Members and has therefore triggered Stage 2 of the programme to 
commence. 

Therefore, the programme remains amber as it is recognised that the work included getting to stage 2 detailed above, 
has resulted in some slippage to the programme with works expected to commence on site during the early part of 2019.   

Page 14



Appendix 1 to Item 4
Performance and Overview Committee 

5th September 2018

1544 Replacement of Chester Fire Station 

PROGRAMME 
SPONSOR

Director of Governance 
and Commissioning PROGRAMME MANAGER Group Manager – Cheshire 

West and Chester  

Previous 
status

Current 
status

Mitigating steps
(where status is red or amber)

N/A

Programme Update

The Business Case has been approved. The PID has been developed and presented to Performance and Programme 
Board for approval. This has also moved to Stage 2, detail, design and contract sum.

The formal planning application was submitted on Friday 10th August 18.  Two public engagement events have taken 
place (one at the station and one in the city centre). 

Consultation with the FBU and staff consultation is ongoing.

1318 CARDIAC ARREST RESPONSE PROJECT 

PROJECT SPONSOR

Assistant Chief Fire 
Officer, Operational 
Assurance and Service 
Improvement

PROJECT MANAGER
Head of Operational Policy 
and Assurance 

Previous 
status

Current 
status

Mitigating steps
(where status is red or amber)

Current status remains red due to lack of progress on the project.

There continues to be no progress with this project during Q1 as it remains on hold awaiting the outcomes of national 
discussions for the wider Fire Fighter role linked to pay and conditions.

R

Page 15



Appendix 1 to Item 4
Performance and Overview Committee 

5th September 2018

1058 SPRINKLER CAMPAIGN 2014 

PROJECT SPONSOR

Assistant Chief Fire 
Officer, Operational 
Assurance and Service 
Improvement

PROJECT  MANAGER
Head of Protection and 
Organisational Performance

Previous 
status

Current 
status

Mitigating steps
(where status is red or amber)

Project re-forecast to complete in March 2019 

The 2014 campaign aimed to part fund projects to retro-fit sprinklers in four high rise blocks of flats across the four 
unitary council areas.

We have received confirmation from Cheshire West and Chester Council that they have completed the installation of 
sprinklers in all of their 3 Joseph Groome Towers blocks achieving 100% coverage.  

We are in communication with Sanctuary Housing regarding their project to retrofit sprinklers in their Rowland Heights 
property. Details are being sought to  confirm the extent of sprinkler coverage within their block and funding will be 
transferred as appropriate.

Churchill Mansions in Runcorn are near completion with their installation of sprinklers. 3 flat occupiers within the 
property have refused to allow access for installation to date but legal efforts have been made to overcome this.

1549 HIGH RISE SPRINKLER CAMPAIGN 2018

PROJECT SPONSOR

Assistant Chief Fire 
Officer, Operational 
Assurance and Service 
Improvement

PROJECT  MANAGER Head of Protection and 
Organisational Performance

Previous 
status

Current 
status

Mitigating steps
(where status is red or amber)

N/A

The 2018 campaign was approved to provide additional funding to further promote the adoption and retrofitting of 
sprinkler systems in high rise premises by local housing providers alongside a 12 month awareness and media campaign 
highlighting the benefits of sprinklers. 

The 12 month sprinkler media campaign will be officially launched alongside a live sprinkler demonstration in 
September. 

Some conversations have taken place with RSL's and Local Authorities about part funding a project and now funding has 
been secured a new round of meetings is being arranged to attempt to secure agreements. 

Page 16



Appendix 1 to Item 4
Performance and Overview Committee 

5th September 2018

Progress is hampered a little with one provider due to delays in transferring funding for a sprinkler retrofit project that 
was part of the old sprinkler project. Discussions are taking place to agree a way forward with this so that we can then 
look at future projects. 

Waverley Court in Warrington are considering their position regarding the installation of sprinklers and whether to 
progress a retrofitting project and we are working with the Responsible person.

Three live sprinkler demonstrations are taking place with the first on 14th June completed as a part of a Chambers of 
Commerce event and two more demonstrations planned for September and October. Members of the Fire Authority are 
invited to the one due in October 2018.

1500 SAFE AND WELL PHASE 2 – LONELINESS AND ISOLATION

PROJECT SPONSOR Assistant Chief Fire 
Officer, Service Delivery PROJECT MANAGER Partnership Co-ordinator 

Previous 
status

Current 
status

Mitigating steps
(where status is red or amber)

Project Update

A final MOU has been signed by British Red Cross, The Silver Line and CFRS to support a referral mechanism from CFRS 
to these organisations for support for Loneliness and Social Isolation. 

Training is currently being put together for delivery later in the year.

1496 SAFE AND WELL PHASE 2 – HYPERTENSION, BLOOD PRESSURE and ATRIAL FIBRILLATION

PROJECT SPONSOR Assistant Chief Fire 
Officer, Service Delivery PROJECT MANAGER

Prevention Policy and 
Projects Manager

Previous 
status

Current 
status

Mitigating steps
(where status is red or amber)

Project Update

Atrial Fibrillation - East Cheshire CCG. In partnership with NHS Innovation Agency (Greater Manchester), East Cheshire 
CCG has asked Cheshire FRS to add atrial fibrillation to Safe and Well work conducted in the Cheshire East area. NHS 
Innovation Agency has provided the necessary Mydiagnostick ECG devices for Macclesfield, Congleton and Wilmslow 
fire stations and advocates. All relevant staff have been trained in using the ECG device and signposting people who 
trigger the device to primary care. We expect this work to go live in East Cheshire CCG area on 4 September 18. 

Page 17



Appendix 1 to Item 4
Performance and Overview Committee 

5th September 2018

Atrial Fibrillation - Warrington CCG area. Following a number of meetings with the CCG Cheshire FRS has decided  we 
are unable to add Atrial Fibrillation screening to Safe and Well work in the Warrington area. This is because the CCG is 
requiring us to add additional elements to work above and beyond what we are doing elsewhere in Cheshire. In 
particular, they require the device we use to provide a clinical print out of the ECG result to then be presented by the 
householder to primary care. We do not have the kit to support this clinical requirement.  

Blood Pressure. Cheshire FRS has conducted a small scale pilot using a watch at Macclesfield and a watch at Chester to 
conduct BP testing as part of a Safe and Well visit. The purpose of the pilot was to provide assurance that operational 
crews have the skill set to conduct BP tests and to use BP cuffs. The pilot ran from 1 March to 30 June. We have 
evaluated the pilot and the feedback from the two watches is very positive. They felt the training was good; the BP 
element of a Safe and Well visit was well received by householders; the equipment is very easy to use and BP testing is 
a valuable addition to a Safe and Well visit. A training plan for Operational staff and Prevention teams requires 
developing, planning and dates agreed before rolling this project pan-Cheshire. 

1313 EMERGENCY SERVICES MOBILE COMMUNICATION PROGRAMME  

PROJECT SPONSOR

Assistant Chief Fire 
Officer, Operational 
Assurance and Service 
Improvement

PROJECT MANAGER

Station Manager - 
Operational Policy and 
Assurance 

Previous 
status

Current 
status

Mitigating steps
(where status is red or amber)

Current status to remain as red as still awaiting revised project timeline. 

Programme Update

Latest projection for the data and critical voice implementation via ESN for the NW is now Autumn 2020.  The 
extension for airwave has been agreed at national level, there are currently no details regarding costings or liabilities 
for the extension.  

Motorola have purchased the rights to Kodiak, an application that can be used to deliver some of the push to talk (PTT) 
integration into the ESN project which should assist is the overall project delivery.

The regional FRS and NFCC leads have visited Cheshire for our view of the new phased implementation of the project.

Additional funding has now been agreed (71K per FRS) to support the delivery of ESN until the end of 2020.  Further 
additional funding has also been agreed for the NW region to appoint a technical lead to support and advise the 
regional and individual FRS transition teams on a 12 month fixed term basis.

R

Page 18



Appendix 1 to Item 4
Performance and Overview Committee 

5th September 2018

1535 COLLABORATIVE DRONE PROJECT

PROJECT SPONSOR

Assistant Chief Fire 
Officer, Operational 
Assurance and Service 
Improvement

PROJECT MANAGER
Station Manager - 
Operational Policy and 
Assurance

Previous 
status

Current 
status

Mitigating steps
(where status is red or amber)

Programme Update

The trial for the UAS project went live on May 1st 2018.  The UAV is performing well with the team of Fire & Police 
operators building up their experience both through attending incidents and joint training.  The benefits of the UAS 
have been demonstrated on a number of Fire & Police incidents.

The overall availability and subsequent requests for the UAS has not met expectations, partly due to other demands on 
the pilots time and also delays in assessing the competence of pilots to deploy independently without the support of 
the dedicated Police resource allocated to the project.  A development to competent framework has now been 
introduced following the NFCC and NPCC guidelines which will resolve the issue shortly.

A mid trial review has been conducted and has identified some lessons learned and areas where improvements to the 
trial project can be made.  These changes will be put in place once agreed by Project Board.

The trial will run until November 18 upon which a further full review will be completed.

Page 19



Appendix 1 to Item 4
Performance and Overview Committee 

5th September 2018

RISK MANAGEMENT

CPS Ref Risk Detail Risk Owner Rick 
Score 

Progress Update 

1226: BLUE LIGHT COLLABORATION PROGRAMME
987 MFSS – As a result of the 

introduction of a new version 
of Oracle and unfamiliarity with 
the changes in technology 
there is a risk that technical 
challenges could lead to delays 
in data migration and external 
system integration testing.

MFSS
Project 
Manager

Risk Review:
MFSS Project 
Board / BLC 
Programme 
Board

16
New Risk added on 30th April 2018

Contingency budget until the end of 
November. Regular reviews will provide clear 
indicators of delays.  

979 MFSS On boarding 
As a result of a number of 
partners on boarding to Oracle 
at the same time there is a risk 
that the project will slip beyond 
the planned go-live date. 
Delays for partners could be 
caused by a number of factors 
including parallel payroll runs, 
delays in testing poor data 
quality, resourcing problems.

The impact of this risk may be 
increased costs, in terms of 
extra resources and the 
requirement to renew system 
contracts. There would also be 
an impact on organisational 
expectations and reputation of 
continuing change.

MFSS
Project 
Manager

Risk Review:
MFSS Project 
Board / BLC 
Programme 
Board

20
20

The MFSS remains the greatest risk to 
progress with the overall Blue Light 
Collaboration Programme.   The MFSS 
programme is due to complete by 29th 
October 2018, but a challenging schedule 
exists which may prove difficult to deliver 
successfully.  Data migration and user 
acceptance testing is ongoing.  Work also 
continues in relation to the cutover and 
training approach.  A contingency budget has 
been built in until the end of November.  

950 As a result of a lack of clarity 
regarding the overall 
governance and service model 
there is a risk that overall 
timescales for the collaboration 
agreement may be 
compromised.

This may result in increased 
costs and impact on 
Programme delivery.  

Director of 
Governance 
and 
Commissioning 

Risk Review: 
BLC Board 

16
16

Work is developing with regular meetings 
arranged to consider performance and ways 
of working. 

Page 20



Appendix 1 to Item 4
Performance and Overview Committee 

5th September 2018

ISSUE MANAGEMENT

CPS Ref Issue Detail Issue Owner Progress Update 

1313: ESMCP - Financial Implications to the Service should the Airwave contract need extending beyond 2020 
970 As a result of slippage/delay in 

the ESMCP Programme 
nationally the Airwave TETRA 
network will need to remain 
operational beyond March 2020 

Station 
Manager - 
Operational 
Policy and 
Assurance 

Latest projection for the data and critical voice 
implementation via ESN for the NW is now Autumn 
2020.  The extension for airwave has been agreed at 
national level, there are currently no details regarding 
costings or liabilities for the extension.

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



 CHESHIRE FIRE AUTHORITY

MEETING OF: PERFORMANCE AND OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
DATE: 5 SEPTEMBER 2018
REPORT OF: HEAD OF PROTECTION AND ORGANISATIONAL 

PERFORMANCE 
AUTHOR: ANTHONY JONES 

SUBJECT: QUARTER 1 PERFORMANCE REPORT 2018-19
_______________________________________________________________

Purpose of Report

1. To present the 2018 -19 Quarter 1 review of performance for each of the 
Service’s Key Performance Indicators (KPIs).

Recommended that: 

[1] Members review and consider the information presented in this 
report. 

Background

2. The report forms part of the Authority’s performance reporting cycle and 
provides a summary of the Service’s performance against the KPIs for Q1 
2018-19. 

Information

3. The Service’s Performance and Programme Board (members of the 
Service Management Team) receives a quarterly review of performance 
against KPIs. The Board is responsible for monitoring and reviewing 
progress against performance targets and ensuring that action is taken 
wherever possible if targets are not being met.  The performance reviews 
are in turn presented to the Performance and Overview Committee.

4. The Corporate Performance Scorecard is attached to this report at 
Appendix 1. It reflects the Q1 position against targets set and the year-on-
year direction of travel for the Service’s KPIs. 

5. A more detailed description of each KPI including a summary of current 
performance and any actions required to improve performance is set out in 
the Performance and Programme Board – Performance Report attached to 
this report at Appendix 2. 

Financial implications

6. There are no financial implications with this report.

Page 23

Agenda Item 4



Legal implications

7. There are no issues to report at the end of Q1 that should impact upon the 
Service’s ability to meet its statutory or other legal obligations.

Equality and Diversity implications

8. The Service has for a number of years collected and reported equality 
monitoring data across a number of indicators.  This is reported quarterly 
to the Equality Steering Group and annually to this committee so that trends 
can be identified and addressed. 

Environmental implications

9. There are no specific environmental implications.  Environmental 
performance targets are reviewed and monitored as part of the delivery of 
the Authority’s Environmental Strategy.  

Appendix 1 – Quarter 1 2018-19 Corporate Scorecard
Appendix 2 – Quarter 1 2018-19 Performance and Programme Board 
including Appendices.

Page 24



V
isio

n

IR
M

P
 

Th
e

m
e

Actual

Target

Q1 Year 

on Year

Q1 2017-

18

Actual

Target

Q1 Year 

on Year

Q1 2017-

18

Actual

Target

Q1 Year 

on Year

Q1 2017-

18

D
e

a
th

s
 in

 P
rim

a
ry

 F
ire

s
0

0


0
1

0
 M

in
u

te
 S

ta
n

d
a

rd
8

7
%

8
0

%


8
8

%
A

v
e

ra
g

e
 D

a
y
s
/S

h
ifts

 L
o

s
t to

 

s
ic

k
n

e
s
s

1
.1

4
1

.3
8


1

.0
3

In
ju

rie
s
 in

 P
rim

a
ry

 F
ire

s
1

2
1

2


1
3

O
n

 C
a

ll A
v
a

ila
b

ility
6

4
%

8
5

%


6
6

%
W

o
rk

in
g

 D
a

y
s
 L

o
s
t T

o
 In

ju
ry

2
8

8


8

A
c
c
id

e
n

ta
l d

w
e

llin
g

 fire
s

9
4

9
5


9

3
N

u
c
le

u
s
 O

C
 p

u
m

p
s

9
9

%
8

5
%

 - %
 s

ta
rtin

g
 in

 k
itc

h
e

n
s

4
8

 (5
1

%
)

n
/a


5

3
 

(5
7

%
)

P
rim

a
ry

 O
C

 p
u

m
p

s
6

3
%

8
5

%

 - %
 in

 h
o

m
e

s
 w

ith
 re

s
id

e
n

ts
 

o
v
e

r p
e

n
s
io

n
a

b
le

 a
g

e

1
3

  

(1
4

%
)

n
/a


2

1
 

(2
3

%
)

S
e

c
o

n
d

a
ry

 O
C

 p
u

m
p

s
4

6
%

8
5

%

D
e

lib
e

ra
te

 fire
s
 (P

rim
a

ry
 a

n
d

 

S
e

c
o

n
d

a
ry

)
2

9
9

3
6

6


4
1

0

F
ire

s
 in

 N
o

n
 D

o
m

e
s
tic

 P
re

m
is

e
s

4
4

4
8


5

5

A
F

A
s
 in

 N
o

n
 D

o
m

e
s
tic

 P
re

m
is

e
s

1
0

0
1

3
2


1

4
4

Actual

Target

Q1 Year 

on Year

Q1 2017-

18

H
S

A
s
 D

e
liv

e
re

d
 to

 H
e

ig
h

te
n

e
d

 R
is

k
9

,8
7

9
1

0
,0

0
0


1
0

,3
6

5

P
la

tin
u

m
 a

d
d

re
s
s
 s

u
c
c
e

s
s
 ra

te
7

7
%

6
5

%


6
1

%

T
h

e
m

a
tic

 In
s
p

e
c
tio

n
s
 C

o
m

p
le

te
d

4
6

1
5

0
1


4

4
8

N
D

P
 F

ire
 S

a
fe

ty
 A

u
d

its
 C

o
m

p
le

te
d

3
4

4
4

5
0


4

2
8

Y
e

a
r o

n
 y

e
a

r d
ire

c
tio

n
 k

e
y

 P
e

rfo
rm

a
n

c
e

 k
e

y

N
e

g
a

tiv
e

  d
ire

c
tio

n
 o

f tra
v
e

l y
e

a
r

Q
u
a
rte

r 1
 2

0
1
8
/1

9
 P

e
rfo

rm
a
n
c
e

A
 C

h
e
s
h
ire

 w
h
e
re

 th
e
re

 a
re

 n
o
 d

e
a
th

s
, in

ju
rie

s
 o

r d
a
m

a
g
e
 fro

m
 fire

s
 o

r o
th

e
r e

m
e
rg

e
n
c
ie

s

P
ro

te
c
tin

g
 L

o
c
a
l C

o
m

m
u
n
itie

s
R

e
s
p
o
n
d
in

g
 to

 E
m

e
rg

e
n
c
ie

s
D

e
v
e
lo

p
in

g
 th

e
 o

rg
a
n
is

a
tio

n

M
e

e
tin

g
 ta

rg
e

t
P

o
s
itiv

e
  d

ire
c
tio

n
 o

f tra
v
e

l y
e

a
r o

n
 y

e
a

r

N
e

g
a

tiv
e

  d
ire

c
tio

n
 o

f tra
v
e

l y
e

a
r o

n
 y

e
a

r b
y
  u

p
 to

 1
0

%
W

ith
in

 1
0

%
 o

f ta
rg

e
t

F
a

ilin
g

 a
g

a
in

s
t ta

rg
e

t b
y
 a

t le
a

s
t 1

0
%

Outputs Outcomes

Appendix 1 to Item
 4

Perform
ance and O

verview
 

5th Septem
ber 2018

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 to Item 4 
Performance and Overview  

5th September 2018 

Performance and Programme Board – Performance Report 

Reporting 
Period 

Quarter Q1 From 01/04/2018 
To 
30/06/2018 

Target 0 Actual  0 

Indicator: [Number of Deaths in Primary Fires]    
Primary fires include all fires in buildings, vehicles and some outdoor structures or any fire involving 
casualties, rescues or fires attended by five or more appliances. 
Previous 
Status 

Current 
Status 

Summary of Current Performance 

 
 

 

 
 
 

 
At the end of Q1 there have not been any fatalities.  
 
Nationally in 2016/17 61% of fatalities, in accidental dwelling fires, 
involved people aged 65 or older. Whilst in Cheshire over the last three 
years 29% (4 out of 14) fatalities were within this age group.   
 
The other noticeable trend is that over the same period 12 of the 14 
fatalities were male.  
 

G R 

Page 27



What actions will be required to improve performance? 

   

 Whilst there have been no fire deaths in Q1, officers will continue to investigate the causes of 
fires and work with partner agencies and other stakeholders to prevent further fires occurring.  
Findings and outcomes of any fire fatalities are recorded and actions are monitored and 
scrutinised by Heads of Department. 

 Following an incident at a care home in Warrington and the ensuing fire investigation the 
Prevention & Protection teams are communicating with residential care home managers, 
practitioners and care providers on the risks associated with emollient creams, airflow 
mattresses, oxygen use etc. and the fire safety measures to be considered as part of a care 
home’s fire risk assessment. 

 Those with poor mental health are at heightened risk from dying in a fire.  Prevention 
managers are exploring opportunities to establish a team of jointly funded mental health 
advocates to work with vulnerable people at risk in our communities.  A paper outlining this 
proposal is to be considered by SMT in July. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 28



Performance and Programme Board – Performance Report 

Reporting 
Period 

Quarter Q1 From 01/04/2018 
To 
30/06/2018 

Target  12 Actual 12 

Indicator: [Number of Injuries in Primary Fires] 
Primary fires include all fires in buildings, vehicles and some outdoor structures or any fire involving 
casualties, rescues or fires attended by five or more appliances. 
Previous 
Status 

Current 
Status 

Summary of Current Performance 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
The number of Injuries in primary fires are on target, with 12 injuries 
recorded during the first quarter of 2018/19. The injuries occurred at 
11 individual incidents, with one incident involving more than one 
casualty. One injury was described as serious which involved a male 
aged 35-44 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Unitary Authority Number of Injuries 

Cheshire East 2 

Cheshire West and Chester 3 

Halton 5 

Warrington 2 

Total 12 

R G 

Page 29



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Description 
Number of 
Injuries Severe 

Number of 
Injuries 
Slight 

Burns - severe 1 0 

Burns - slight 0 8 

Overcome by gas, smoke 
or toxic fumes; 
asphyxiation 

0 3 

Total 1 11 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

   
 

Age Group 
Number of Injuries 
Severe 

Number of Injuries 
Slight 

0-9 0 1 

10-19 0 0 

20-29 0 3 

30-39 1 2 

40-49 0 1 

50-59 0 2 

60-69 0 2 

70-79 0 0 

80-89 0 0 

90-99 0 0 

Total 1 11 

Cause Number of Injuries 

Smoking Related 1 

Cooking Appliance 1 

Matches and Candles 3 

Fuel/Chemical Related 2 

Electricity Supply 4 

Vehicle 1 

Total 12 

Page 30



What actions will be required to improve performance? 

 

 Prevention will continue to work with the Communications team via the Campaigns group to 
ensure that safety campaigns are fit for purpose and targeted where they will have the most 
impact with appropriate key messages. Due to the nature of the injuries in Q1 the Service has 
run a specific campaign high-lighting the dangers associated with barbecues and cooking 
outdoors in the summer, including the dangers of using petrol as a means of ignition. 

 The educational programmes at Safety Central, school visits and Princes Trust schemes all 
focus on improving awareness of children and young people of the dangers of fire and we will 
continue to strive for increased attendance across our programmes (see appendix 3) 

 The Prevention team are working to implement Safe and Well Phase 2 comprising: monitoring 
of hypertension/blood pressure pilot (Chester and Macclesfield) with a view to rolling out 
Service wide and hospital discharge referrals for over 65s admitted to ward for a fall.  

 Safe and Well visits are being expanded to include advice on affordable warmth across the 
Service Area and atrial fibrillation testing in West Cheshire, East and South Cheshire and Vale 
Royal CCG areas to vulnerable people aged 65 plus.  Affordable warmth referrals will be made 
to Energy Products Plus who will then offer advice to residents on the best energy tariffs, 
additional benefits they could be entitled to and central heating upgrades.   

 Officers continue to meet quarterly at the Performance Scrutiny and Campaigns Group 
interrogating performance and utilising local intelligence from UPGs to create targeted 
initiatives and campaigns.  Relevant messages are communicated to our local communities 
with the support of the Communications team and via the Service’s website.  

 The Risk-Rater App is available to download so residents can assess the risks in their own 
homes.     

 Officers continue to validate IRS records to confirm the accuracy of the data, as there is an 
indication that some incidents may have been mis-coded and the individual concerned may 
have received a ‘precautionary check’ rather than suffering an injury.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 31



Performance and Programme Board – Performance Report 

Reporting Period Quarter Q1 From 01/04/2018 
To 
30/06/2018 

Target 95 Actual 94 

Indicator: [Number of Accidental Dwelling Fires (ADFs)] 

Previous 
Status 

Current 
Status 

Summary of Current Performance 

 
 
 
 
 
 

  

 

At the end of Q1 there has been 94 accidental dwelling fires (ADFs) 

compared to a target of 95. There has been an increase of 1% (2 

incidents) compared to Q1 2017/18. 

Looking at the key risk areas, there have been reductions in the 
number of kitchen fires from 53 to 48. There has also been a reduction 
in the number of fires involving occupants over the pensionable age 
who live on their own, from 21 to 13. 
 
In addition, no fire-fighting action was required at 30 incidents (32%) 
and there was no fire spread beyond the room of origin in 83 (88%) of 
accidental dwelling fires. 
 

Unitary Authority Total 

Cheshire East 32 

Cheshire West and Chester 27 

Halton 15 

Warrington 20 

Total 94 

 

G A 

Page 32



 

 Indexed to an average score of 100 
 

 

Occupancy 
Type 

No of 
Incidents 

Population Indexed Score 

Lone person 
over 
pensionable 
age 

13 56,533 249 

Lone parent 
with 
dependant 
children 

18 82,396 236 

Couple one or 
more over 
pensionable 
age, no 
children 

11 80,559 148 

Lone person 
under 
pensionable 
age 

8 73,421 118 

Couple both 
under 
pensionable 
age with no 
children 

11 167,332 71 

Couple with 
dependant 
children 

17 347,436 53 

Other 16 209,308 83 

What actions will be required to improve performance? 

 

 Whilst there has been a slight decrease in the number of kitchen fires, cooking is still the most 
common cause of ADFs (47%).  We will continue to work with the Communications team on 
targeted campaigns, interventions and educational programmes with an aim to reducing these 
figures.  

 The Prevention team in conjunction with the Fire Research and Analysis team will continue to 
review our targeting methodology to ensure we are targeting the most vulnerable in our 
society – indications are that ADFs involving Lone Parents with Dependant Children and Lone 
persons under pensionable age are increasing.  However, in terms of rate per 10,000 dwellings 
lone persons over pensionable age are still at highest risk from fire. 

 Station Open Days have or are taking place and home safety advice is given out to members 
of the public. Impact event planned for Macclesfield for 15th August and will include kitchen 
safety/home fire safety advice. 

 Safety Central’s educational programme continues to contribute towards making Cheshire 
safer.  Since 1st April 2018 2,104 visitors including 1,254 children and young people, 181 
accompanying adults and 473 stakeholders have visited the centre with on average 72% 

Page 33



improvement in test of key life-skills subject knowledge – see Infographic attached as 
Appendix 3. 

 The Prevention team are working to implement Safe and Well Phase 2 comprising: monitoring 
of hypertension/blood pressure pilot (Chester and Macclesfield) with a view to rolling out 
Service wide and hospital discharge referrals for over 65s admitted to ward for a fall.  

 Safe and Well visits are being expanded to include advice on affordable warmth across the 
Service Area and atrial fibrillation testing in West Cheshire, East and South Cheshire and Vale 
Royal CCG areas to vulnerable people aged 65 plus.  Affordable warmth referrals will be made 
to Energy Products Plus who will then offer advice to residents on the best energy tariffs, 
additional benefits they could be entitled to and central heating upgrades.   

 Unitary managers meet quarterly at the Performance Scrutiny and Campaigns Group 
interrogating performance and utilising local intelligence from UPGs to create targeted 
initiatives and campaigns.  Relevant messages are communicated to our local communities 
with the support of the Communications team and via the Service’s website.  

 The Risk-Rater App is available to download so residents can assess the risks in their own 
homes.     

 Station based Community Action Plans (CAPs) have been reviewed in conjunction with the 
performance dashboard which will focus resources and engagement in priority areas. 

 It has been established that the majority of ADF incidents in Halton occur in the kitchen. Plans 
are in place to visit all schools in Halton, in conjunction with the Police, to discuss kitchen safety 
(amongst other things). We are also looking to carry out a number of kitchen safety events at 
supermarkets in the area in an attempt to spread our messages further. 

 CW&C – engagement will take place with Chester university students around freshers’ week 
regarding kitchen safety following a spike in accidental fires. 

 In Q2 Blue Watch will attend the Halliwell Jones Stadium to hand out kitchen safety messages 
and also by utilise the club’s social media platform.  During the final of the Warrington Wolves’ 
Schools Foundation Cup in July, which the UPG make a contribution to, kitchen safety 
messages will be given out and the players will also have a message on their shirts. 

 Blue Watch, Warrington have organised an impact event to be held on the 13th August in the 
Fairfield and Howley area of Warrington working in partnership with Cheshire Police and 
Warrington Borough Council and utilising the kitchen safety unit.  It is noted that the majority 
of the profiles of residents having incidents in this area are under pensionable age (13 out of 
20 incidents). 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 34



Performance and Programme Board – Performance Report 

Reporting 
Period 

Quarter Q1 From 01/04/2018 
To 
30/06/2018 

Target  
(Primary) 
(Secondary) 

 
69 
297 

Actual 
 

 
72 
229 

Indicator: [Number of Deliberate Fires] 

Previous 
Status 

Current 
Status 

Summary of Current Performance 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 Overall 72 deliberate primary fires were recorded at the end 
of Q1, against a target of 69.  Overall the station area with the 
highest number of incidents is Warrington (18).  Deliberate 
ignition of houses accounting for 6 out of these 18 incidents 
(33%). 

 

 Across Cheshire, 34 incidents (47%) involved the deliberate 
ignition of a road vehicle.  Of these, 25 were cars and 6 motor 
cycles. The station areas with the highest number of incidents 
involving motor vehicles are Widnes (8) and Ellesmere Port (7). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

A A 

Page 35



  
 

 

The number of deliberate secondary fires recorded in Q1 was 229 
which is 68 under target. The highest number of incidents have been 
in Warrington (36) and Ellesmere Port (32), which account for 29.6% of 
all incidents. The peak time for incidents was between 19:00 and 21:00 
(28%)  

 
The main property types are loose refuse (52) and Small 
refuse/rubbish/recycling container (30). The stations with the highest 
number of fires involving wheelie bin/recycling containers is 
Warrington (10) followed by Widnes (9). 
 

What actions will be required to improve performance? 

 
Primary Fires 

 Overall the station area with the highest number of primary fire incidents is Warrington (18).  
Deliberate ignition of houses accounting for 6 out of these 18 incidents (33%).  One of these 
incidents involved a child with a fascination for fire who will be directed towards our fire-setter 
interventions.  A further incident involved a deliberate ignition at the house of an ‘intended 
target’ which turned out to be the wrong address – Prevention teams have attended the 
correct address to put fire safety measures in place.  Our officers are working with the local 
police Partnership Tasking and Coordination group following two incidents in Ripley Street, 
Warrington.  

 Analysis of car fires will continue with relevant information being shared with the Police and 
Police Notification Reports (PNRs) being completed after each incident.  Our officers meet with 
beat managers on a monthly basis and share information with partner agencies at strategic 
local meetings/boards.   

 Following agreement with the police the next few months will see an increase in police patrols 
in areas with a high rate of activity.  

 In May an impact event was held in Hough Green, with input from OTS in the area too.  A 
further impact event is being planned with a focus on community reassurance and supporting 
the police in more conventional policing work.  The attendance of a Fire Investigation officer 
is now mandatory for every Primary Fire in Hough Green.  The Local Authority Risk 
Management team are also working in the area to remove any large items/household goods 
in the area which may have been dumped and could potentially be set on fire. Targeted youth 

G G 

Page 36



support team are delivering the Respect Programme and Advocates are going into local 
schools.  

 Following a number of vehicle fires in Ellesmere Port (Town ward) the local Station Manager 
is working with the local police SPOC to identify any underlying cause/trend although it is 
thought to be drug related. 
 
Secondary Fires 

 As in Primary Fires above, the Service’s “On the Streets” youth team (OTS) will continue to be 
deployed within identified problem areas to provide local engagement and distraction 
activities.  The OTS team members will attend local authority youth provision meetings to 
improve the sharing of intelligence and ensure that initiatives are targeted to the areas most 
needed.  The Service Delivery and Prevention teams continue to work with local partners via 
problem solving groups and Police Single Point of Contacts (SPOCs).    

 Comms. will be targeting and refreshing campaign material on how to prevent wheelie bin 
fires after the spate of fires in Warrington and Widnes. The OTS teams will also be leaflet 
dropping with information about wheelie bin management in problem areas. 

 Best practice noted in Halton has been shared across the Service with Station Managers 
continuing to work closely with local SPOCs.  Liaison takes place at watch level with the beat 
managers to obtain a police log and record small fires, e.g. wheelie bin fires as crimes.   

 OTS have been working in the Bunbury Green area of Ellesmere Port, officers are attending 
local arson reduction meetings and police are increasing patrols in the area. 

 The team at Safety Central are working to increase footfall at the centre to ensure early 
intervention and improved awareness around ‘risk-taking’ behaviours. 

 Cheshire East is trialling work with local CCTV operators to help identify hot-spots of anti-social 
behaviour and Business Intelligence to draw up polygons to assess trends.  The polygons will 
be sent to North West Fire Control so that they can inform the CCTV operators who can identify 
any activity in the areas.  If successful, this initiative will be rolled out across the Service.  

 In Q1 the crews in June have been going into secondary schools to do talks about the dangers 
of deliberate fires and crew representatives are attending local multi-agency action groups.  In 
particular crews in CW&C have been going into schools prior to the end of term highlighting 
dangers and consequences of burning books/uniform etc. at then end of term. 

 Two incidents on the English Martyrs playing field are in the vicinity of Radley Common.   
Warrington UPG have approved a contribution to the setting up of a Radley Common Boxing 
Project by way of a diversionary activity and which is now up and running.  Regular reports will 
be given from our Partner at LiveWire – Paul Flannery.  SM Neil Winstanley is now Vice Chair 
of PTAC (Partnership, Tasking & Coordinating – formerly NAT) which will enable the service to 
have greater responsibility and report specifics to the quarterly UPG meetings.  

 As a result of the PNRs completed by crews, supporting statistics from our Business Intelligence 
team and information gathered by the Police via plain clothes officers in the Radley Common 
area a number of children (aged between 14-16) were identified as being responsible for 
setting fires.  SM Winstanley has attended three panel meetings at Charles Stewart House with 
the children and their parents and also attended a school assembly at St Gregorys High School.  
The children have also been referred to our Prevention fire-setter programme.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 37



Performance and Programme Board – Performance Report 

Reporting 
Period 

Quarter Q1 From 01/04/2018 
To 
30/06/2018 

Target A) 10,000 
B) 65% 

Actual A) 9,879 
B) 77% 

Indicator: A) [Number of Safe and Well visits delivered to properties of   
Heightened Risk] 
                  B) [Platinum Address Success Rate : Percentage] 
Previous 
Status 

Current 
Status 

Summary of Current Performance 

 
 

 Number of Safe and Well Visits 
 
In Q1 9,879 heightened risk visits have been completed by Prevention 
and whole-time operational staff.   Since the introduction of Safe and 
Well visits on 1st April 2018 9.6% of visits have resulted in referrals to 
partner health agencies – see Infographic attached at Appendix 1. The 
number of Safe and Well visits within the infographic is different as it 
includes non-HRD visits and those members of staff who don’t have a 
target, but may conduct a safe and well visit e.g. on call staff. 

  

  Platinum Address Success Rate 
Platinum – the top 10,000 households identified at most risk from fire. 
Gold – the next 20,000 households identified at most risk from fire. 

 

 Currently 77% of platinum visits have been completed which is 

above target.  

 38.8% of platinum households and 23.3% gold households have 

been engaged with. 

At the end of Q1, 77% of the platinum households engaged with by the 
Service had been successful with a completed visit. The way visits are 
mapped is to ensure best use of resources, i.e. walk-sheets are produced 
based on geographical concentration of target addresses (gold and 
platinum).  This may mean on some occasions there maybe a higher 
percentage of gold addresses than platinum depending on the locality.  
The lone working policy also impacts on the numbers of visits achieved 
in a particular area by the Prevention teams. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

G A 

A G 

Page 38



What actions will be required to improve performance? 

 

 Individual and team targets have been adjusted, should anyone leave in a particular team, 
other individual staff targets will be adjusted upwards until vacancies can be filled to ensure 
the team targets will be met.  This more rigorous method of performance management will no 
doubt see an improvement in performance.  The Prevention teams’ performance will be 
monitored through weekly performance sheets with managers challenging areas of poor 
performance. 

 In Q1 of 18/19 we started with almost a full establishment of Prevention staff, with new 
starters in Halton, Warrington and Chester.  Two Advocate vacancies have arisen in the team 
due to applicants successful in process to move to Protection team. 

 The Prevention team are working to implement Safe and Well Phase 2 comprising: monitoring 
of hypertension/blood pressure pilot (Chester and Macclesfield) with a view to rolling out 
Service wide and hospital discharge referrals for over 65s admitted to ward for a fall.  

 Safe and Well visits are being expanded to include advice on affordable warmth across the 
Service Area and atrial fibrillation testing in West Cheshire, South Cheshire and Vale Royal CCG 
areas to vulnerable people aged 65 plus.  The Prevention team are working with local health 
teams to encourage the roll out of atrial fibrillation testing in the Warrington area. 

 Affordable warmth referrals will be made to Energy Products Plus who will then offer advice to 
residents on the best energy tariffs, additional benefits they could be entitled to and central 
heating upgrades.   

 Attached also for reference is Halton HELPS Summary Report 2018 appendix 2. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 39



Performance and Programme Board – Performance Report 

Reporting 
Period 

Quarter Q1 From 01/04/2018 
To 
30/06/2018 

Target 48 Actual 44 

Indicator: [Fires in Non-Domestic Premises] 

Previous 
Status 

Current 
Status 

Summary of Current Performance 

 
 

 
 

 

There were 44 non-domestic fires during Q1 compared to 56 for the 
same period last year. 
 
The most significant numbers of fires have been identified in the 
following building types: 
 

 Retail, Single shop                            - 7 

 Pub/Wine bar/bar                            - 5  
 

Other categories have less than 3 occurrences.    
                         
The main causes for fires in non-domestic premises were: 
 

 8 Electrical causes - including fluorescent lights, other lights, 
batteries, wires and cabling.   

 5 Smoking related – all accidental 

 8 Cooking related incidents - including cookers, deep fat fryers 
and microwaves. 
 

70% of the 44 fires (31 incidents) were either confined to the item first 
ignited (26) or involved smoke and heat damage only (5).  Whilst a 
further 10 fires were confined to the room of origin.  For two properties 
the fire spread to the whole building – these being a fire in a car wash in 

R G 

Page 40



Warrington which spread to the office and a barbeque fire at a holiday 
home in Congleton. 
 
In addition, only 6 out of the 44 fires were deliberate. 
 

What actions will be required to improve performance? 

 

 Our risk-based inspection programme is driven by life safety and not necessarily directed 
where fires are presently occurring - although the Service Policy allows flexibility for directing 
audits following local or national incidents/trends.  The 18/19 departmental plan includes a 
review and re-evaluation of our risk based inspection strategy to incorporate additional risk 
factors to improve targeting methodology, e.g. key infrastructure sites such as Crewe railway 
station.  We will work with other fire and rescue services and consider developing a regional 
approach. 

 Where appropriate, we will continue to take enforcement action in accordance with our 
enforcement management model and prosecute duty holders where necessary. We will use 
social media and the press to highlight successful prosecutions by means of a deterrent to 
businesses.   

 The Protection team meet monthly to discuss departmental performance and all non-
domestic premises fires are scrutinised and any emerging trends/patterns are considered.  
Where appropriate any trends will be translated into themed thematic inspections for the 
operational crews. 

 H&W were 106% of target – with 4 deliberate fires.  Work is ongoing with schools and local 
environmental health and trading standards officers in Palacefields, Runcorn and Padgate, 
Warrington after fires involving over-heated commercial frying equipment.   

 CW&C – team working with Dorin Park School, Chester following a deliberate fire (pupil with 
SEN with no concept of their actions – referred to Prevention for fire-setter intervention) and 
the University of Chester following a chip pan fire in their commercial kitchen (university sub-
lets kitchen space to third party companies and this fire was attributable to one of these 
companies). 

 Business specific safety campaigns will continue to be developed and supported by the 
Business Safety team working in conjunction with the Service’s Campaigns Board.   

 Six impact events are programmed into the team’s departmental plan for 18/19 – three of 
which will be multi-agency events with local partners and will focus on areas of concern or key 
themes for maximum effect.  In CW&C these are planned for Winsford Industrial estate and 
Chester (multi-agency event focussing on heritage).  CE event is planned for Macclesfield on 
the 15th August. In H&W events are planned for Birchwood and Daresbury business parks. 

 An active Business Safety presence across the Service’s social media platform will continue to 
ensure that appropriate fire safety messages (including business continuity advice) are 
communicated to the wider business community.    We will continue to make free fire risk 
assessment templates available on the Service’s website to assist businesses with improving 
fire safety on their own premises.  

 The Business Safety Manager is working with Local Authorities to develop a comprehensive 
‘Business Information Pack’ which will be sent to all new businesses and include fire safety 
advice.  This has been introduced in CW&C and is being explored in the other unitary areas.  

 Seminar took place in June to promote the benefits of sprinklers to businesses with a live 
demonstration with 50 attendees.  Further seminars are planned in the autumn. 

 

Page 41



Performance and Programme Board – Performance Report 

Reporting 
Period 

Quarter Q1 From 01/04/2018 
To 
30/06/2018 

Target 132 Actual 100 

Indicator: [AFAs in Non Domestic Premises] 

Previous 
Status 

Current 
Status 

Summary of Current Performance 

 
 

  
At the end of Q1 there have been 100 attendances to AFAs in non-
domestic against a target of 132.   

 
The station areas with the highest number of calls are Chester, 
Macclesfield and Warrington which together account for 50% (50) of the 
overall total. 

 
The main property types for AFAs are hospitals (30) and nursing, 
retirement or care homes (37).  In addition, 11 of the calls should not 
have been attended under the current policy. 
 
The most common reason for the alarm to go off was a fault (40), 
followed by Accidentally/carelessly set off (16). 
 
 
 

What actions will be required to improve performance? 

 

 Local Protection teams will continue to work with businesses where there have been instances 
of multiple false alarms to reduce calls, e.g. residential care homes.   

 Fire inspecting officers continue to work to reduce the number of false alarms with 
representatives on the hospital groups across the unitary areas.   CW&C – the Hospital Fire 
Safety meeting is booked in for Q2.  H&W – the team has scheduled monthly meetings with 
Warrington hospital to address false alarms. 

 The Service will continue to interrogate those calls which should not have been attended 
under the current UwFS policy and liaise with North West Fire Control (where appropriate) to 
ensure that the number of such calls is reduced.  SM Kay is conducting a review of ‘out of 
policy attendance’ to scrutinise these incidents and reviewing our policy to ensure that it 
doesn’t exclude any premises where we have had fires.  

 The Business Safety team will continue to proactively promote ways in which businesses can 
better manage UwFS during presentations to Chambers and via the Service’s social media 
channels. 
 
 
 
 

 

G G 

Page 42



Performance and Programme Board – Performance Report 

Reporting 
Period 

Quarter Q1 From 01/04/2018 
To 
30/06/2018 

Target 501 Actual 461 

Indicator: [Thematic Inspections Completed by Operational Crews] 

Previous 
Status 

Current Status Summary of Current Performance 

 
 

 
 

      

 
A total of 461 thematic inspections were completed against an 
annual target of 2,004 (23%) slightly behind target at the end of Q1.     
 
Thematic inspection targets are allocated to all stations with the 
exception of on call.   
 
A thematic inspection is a fire safety assessment carried out by 
operational crews of low-risk premises.  An example of a themed 
approach would be visits to shops in the run up to Christmas to 
check on over-stocking etc. 
 
In Q1 Protection officers carried out audits/re-inspections of 
premises following issues identified by operational crews during 
thematic inspections, resulting in:  
 

 Educate and Inform: 6 

 Notification of Deficiencies: 6 

 Action Plan: 0 

 Enforcement Notice:  0 

 Prohibition: 0 

 Alteration Notice: 0 
 

What actions will be required to improve performance? 

 

 Operational Crews undertake thematic audits of non-domestic premises on a locally 

determined basis and the Protection team continue to monitor, identify and inform crews of 

any appropriate/emerging trends to ensure that the correct types of premises are targeted.  Q1 

– theme being shops/retail premises (continuing in Q2) with a focus on electrical safety.  Q3 

will focus on fireworks and over-stocking in the lead up to Christmas.  Consideration is being 

given to looking at licensed premises following a number of recent fires in such premises. 

 The Protection team will continue to follow-up on any issues operational crews find during 

their visits and enforce where appropriate.   

 The format of the thematic forms is to be re-visited as part of the 18/19 departmental 

objectives. 

 It has been noted that referrals from operational crews have been low, although this is steadily 

improving.  The Protection team will ensure that operational crews are educated on the 

G 

Page 43



importance of referring information via the thematic inspection process during operational fire 

safety training sessions. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 44



Performance and Programme Board – Performance Report 

Reporting 
Period 

Quarter Q1 From 01/04/2018 
To 
30/06/2018 

Target 450 Actual 344 

Indicator: [Number of Non Domestic Premises Fire Safety Audits Completed] 

Previous 
Status 

Current Status Summary of Current Performance 

 
 

      

 
 

      

 

At the end of Q1 a total of 344 non-domestic premises fire safety 

audits were completed against an annual target of 1,800 (19%) 

slightly below target.  (CE – 147 audits 24%; CW&C – 76 audits 13%; 

and H&W – 121 audits 20%). 

 

Outcomes of these audits resulted in: 

 Educate and Inform – 254 (74%) 

 Notification of Deficiencies – 63 (18%) 

 Action Plan – 20 (5.8%) 

 Enforcement Notice – 6 (1.7%) 

 Prohibition – 1 (0.3%) 

 Alteration Notice – 0 

Almost three quarters of the audits result in no further action. 

To date, the Service has had at least one interaction with 22,196 

(80%) of the 27,707 active premises recorded on the Protection 

team’s CFRMIS* database under the following categories: 

 Fire Safety Audit 

 Peak activity inspection 

 Specific hot-spotting (post-fire reassurance visit) 

 Specific post-fire inspection 

 Specific pre-Christmas inspection 

 Specific Fire Safety activities/events 

 SSRI inspections 

 Thematic inspections. 

 

* where building status is: 7(2)(d) Inspection; Active; Active Premises 
Multi Bldgs on Schools; Multi-Complex Parent; Multi Occ Parent No 
Common Areas; or Peak Activity Inspection Premises. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 45



What actions will be required to improve performance? 

 

 The department has lost a significant number of staff due to temporary promotions to other 

areas of the Service and resignations (including both of the Business Safety Advocates, 

employed to carry out Business Safety visits). In Q1 the team will have almost a full 

establishment, with the exception of 1 x Technical Fire Safety Officer and qualified staff on long 

term sick.   

 CW&C local office has a plan in place to get the new fire safety inspectors on target to complete 

Level 3 to allow them to conduct audits as the office currently only has two qualified inspectors.  

The Halton & Warrington office has a similar plan in place. 

 Whilst it is recognised that the time taken to train staff in the technical aspects of fire safety 

may have impacted on year-end performance.  The Protection team now meet monthly to 

discuss departmental performance and moving forward the audit target will be scrutinised 

more closely to ensure available resources are deployed accordingly.   

 Focus is on getting existing staff competent to Level 4 diploma in Fire Safety; with an 

acknowledgment that the pathway to competency for new staff takes approximately two 

years. 

 Our risk-based inspection programme is driven by life safety and not necessarily directed where 

fires are presently occurring - although the Service Policy allows flexibility for directing audits 

following local or national incidents/trends.   In the 18/19 departmental plan we will undertake 

a review of, re-evaluate and, where necessary adapt the risk based inspection strategy to 

incorporate additional risk factors to improve targeting methodology, e.g. key infrastructure 

sites such as Crewe railway station.  We will work with other fire and rescue services and 

consider developing a regional approach. 

 Where appropriate, we will continue to take enforcement action in accordance with our 

enforcement management model and prosecute duty holders where necessary. We will use 

social media and the press to highlight successful prosecutions by means of a deterrent to 

businesses.   

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 46



Performance and Programme Board – Performance Report 

Reporting 
Period 

Quarter Q1 From 01/04/2018 
To 
30/06/2018 

Target 80% Actual  87% 

Indicator: [10 Minute Standard] 

Previous 
Status 

Current 
Status 

Summary of Current Performance 

 
 

  
Overall 87% of life risk incidents were attended within 10 minutes, 
which is above the target of 80%. The average attendance time for life 
risk incidents is 8 minutes and 17 seconds. 

 
Dwellings 

 
87% of dwelling fires were attended within 10 minutes. 
There were 12 attendances to dwelling fires which failed the standard. 
The average attendance time for a first pump to a dwelling fire 
between April 2018 and June 2018 inclusive was 7 minutes and 42 
seconds. 
 
Road Traffic Collisions (RTCs) 
87% of RTCs were attended within 10 minutes. 
Overall there were 8 incidents which failed the standard. The average 
time from alert to in attendance was 9 minutes 04 seconds. 
 
 
 
 
Call Handling data 
 
North West fire Control report on the average time taken in seconds 
from the time of call to the time that the first resource is mobilised, 
based on the priority incidents below. 

 
Priority ‘1’ Incidents involving: Aircraft, Bariatric Emergency, Life 

Risk, Terrorism, Public Disorder, Special Operational 
Plans, Co Responder, Major Incidents, Road Traffic 
Collisions involving Large/Small Vehicles with Persons 
Trapped, Chemical Suicides, Trains/Trams. 

Priority ‘2’  Incidents involving: Boat/Barge Fires, Building Fires, 
Caravans, Casualty Care, Chimney Fire (Thatched 
Roof), Electrical Installations, Chemicals, Pipelines, 
Ships in Dock, Tunnels. 

Priority ‘3’ Incidents involving: Automatic Fire Alarms, Derelict 
Buildings, Cylinders, Petrol (Smell of/Leaking), 
Domestic Smoke Alarm, Vehicles Fires, Wind Turbines. 

 

G G 

Page 47



Current performance is detailed in the table below: - 
 

FRS Q1 
(seconds) 

Q2 
(Seconds) 

Q3 
(Seconds) 

Q4 
(Seconds) 

Cheshire 112 109 
 

110 105 

 
 

What actions will be required to improve performance? 

 

 The service is performing over and above its target in this area demonstrating consistently 
good performance. However, all failures to respond within the ten-minute standard are 
scrutinised by the responsible station manager to identify areas for improvement to reduce 
any such failures.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 48



Performance and Programme Board – Performance Report 

Reporting 
Period 

Quarter Q1 From 01/04/2018 
To 
30/06/2018 

Target 5.5 Actual 1.14 for Q1 (4.54 projected for whole year) 

Indicator: [Average Days/Shifts Lost to Sickness] 

Previous 
Status 

Current Status Summary of Current Performance 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The Q1 statistics show that performance for operational staff is 
strong with the Service currently under target for this group, the 
performance for non-operational staff has shown an increase in 
days lost when compared with Q1 last year, and for this staff group 
during Q1 we are currently above target. This is as a result of a 
number of support staff being on long term sick during the quarter 
with serious, long term conditions. In addition the support staff who 
have left as a result of BLC historically had lower levels of sickness 
than the support staff departments which remain with CFRS 
meaning that average days lost may now appear higher.  
 
Overall across all staff groups the Service is still under target for the 
quarter.  
 

Staff Category # of sickness 
days/shifts 

 
Headcount 

Average 
working days 
lost to 
sickness per 
person 

Whole-time 271 415 0.65 

On-call 335 278 1.21 

Uniform Total 606 693 0.87 

Support 398.5 192 2.08 

CFRS Q1 Total 1004.5 885 1.14 

 
Sickness is also monitored at a national level and a report is 
compiled by Cleveland FRS on a quarterly basis.  The Q1 national 
results showed that Cheshire continues to perform at a very high 
level across the UK, particularly in respect of whole-time 
operational staff, achieving the second lowest level of sickness of all 
FRS’s. 
 

What actions will be required to improve performance? 

 
 Monthly scrutiny at the Attendance Management meetings continues to be applied to all 

absence cases to ensure that the appropriate interventions are put in place to ensure staff are 
given adequate support to assist with their return to the workplace. 
 

G G 

Page 49



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 Quarterly contract meetings with OHU are also ongoing to monitor service delivery and 
performance. 
 

 Development of wellbeing initiatives to reduce absence ongoing coupled with a desktop review 
to assess effectiveness of Service’s existing support mechanisms in respect of wellbeing (College 
of Policing Wellbeing Framework). 
 

Page 50



  

Performance and Programme Board – Performance Report 

Reporting 
Period 

Quarter Q1 From 01/04/2018 
To 
30/06/2018 

Target 8 Actual 28 

Indicator: [Working Days Lost to Injury] 

Previous 
Status 

Current Status Summary of Current Performance 

 
 

 
 

       

 
The current total of days lost due to injury is greater than the total 
for 2017/18. However, the majority of these are due to two 
accidents where the injury has resulted in prolonged absence from 
work. This indicator has always been affected by single accidents 
resulting in prolonged absence. 
 
 

Year 

Average 
Q1 

09/10 – 
13/14 

5 years 

14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 

Q1 
Totals 

50.2 25.5 9 25 8 28 

 
 
 

What actions will be required to improve performance? 

 
The current absentees will be managed through the normal attendance management procedures. 
Accident reports will be monitored to detect any trend resulting in more serious outcomes 

G 

Page 51



Performance and Programme Board – Performance Report  

Reporting 
Period 

Q1 From 01/04/2018 
To 
30/06/2018 

Target 85% Actual 64% 

Indicator: [On call Availability] 

Previous 
Status 

Current Status Summary of Current Performance and Intelligence 

Nucleus  

 On-call availability for the year to date is 63.77%.   

 

There are significant variations of availability between the differing 

on-call shift systems, where an: 

 On-call pump is part of nucleus crewing, availability is 

98.82%, a significant improvement on target 

 On-call pump is the primary pump, availability is 62.69%. 

(e.g. Malpas, Poynton etc.).   

 On-call pump is the second pump, availability is 45.56% (e.g. 

Winsford etc.) 

 

The Individual figures for each pump over the last 12 months are 

shown in appendix 4.   

 

 
On Call 

Availability 

On Call 
Availability 

as SIU 

All OC Pumps (average) 63.77% 70.16% 

Nucleus OC Pumps 98.82% 99.45% 

Primary OC Pumps 62.69% 70.86% 

Secondary OC Pumps 45.56% 50.78% 

 
 
 

 

Primary on call 

 
 
 

 

Secondary on call 

  

What actions will be required to improve performance? 

 
Officers continue to implement improved working practices and explore new approaches and 
initiatives.   Following recent visits to On Call stations and feedback from the NFCC working groups the 
Service is looking to revisit how we attract, recruit and reward on call firefighters. This revised approach 
will be detailed in a Project Initiation Document during Q3. 
 
 
 
 

G 

R 

R 

G 

R 

R 

Page 52



Recruitment 

 Two Watch Managers have been appointed to facilitate on call recruitment and initial training 
courses. The initial course (MOD1) and sessions for the written and practical tests are 
scheduled monthly - the aim being to provide more and regular opportunities for new 
candidates. Shadow training with Operational Training Group Instructors has now commenced 
and they will look to identify additional courses (including weekends) for the remainder of 
2018. 

 

 Some of our existing Operational Training Group and Command Training Group instructors are 
now providing On Call cover during weekdays at Winsford Fire Station. This will see an increase 
of availability with their skills sets adding value to the existing workforce. This will be monitored 
closely. 

 

 The Service will support the new NFCC Recruitment Campaign that is due to be launched in the 
Autumn of 2018. Corporate Communications are looking into how the Service can promote the 
video and recruitment material amongst local communities. 

 
Rewards / Retention (Increase pay, rewards and job satisfaction thus improving retention) 

 The On Call appliances are now considered first in line for ‘Relief’ duties at protracted incidents 
in favour of whole-time appliances. This approach gives the on call staff greater exposure to 
incidents and the opportunity to gain more experience. 

 Continue to facilitate on call staff to work full shifts on whole-time stations and further increase 
opportunities by including on call in the new Resilience Register.  

 Annual on call celebration event being planned for those members of staff who have achieved 
their ticket to ride and joined us during course of the year. 

 
Management/Supervision 

 Undertake a full review of the pilot for the ‘Whole-time on call Watch Manager’ role. This new 
role oversees Knutsford and Holmes Chapel, providing both managerial capacity and 
operational daytime cover, thus helping to improve pump availability.  

 Deliver regular meetings/conferences for on call managers so they can interact with senior 
officers and feedback issues and concerns. 

 Expand the pilot of employing an extra supervisory manager on a temporary basis on stations 
where there is a business need. 

 Monitor the pilot of two Temporary whole-time Crew Managers who provide cover and 
managerial capacity during the night shifts at Wilmslow. 

 
Daytime Cover 

 Explore the possibility of using technology to allow the on call pumps to be available – in certain 
circumstances - but on a delayed turnout, thus maximising resources. 

 Currently developing a partnership with Howdens Joinery to increase day cover at Runcorn. 

 Participants from the WM Step-Up Programme have developed new ideas and initiatives which 
will be taken forward with the aim of improving day cover.  The team are focusing on pilots at 
Frodsham and Tarporley. This is under review. 

 

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



Bowel Cancer Screening .. (32.88%
)

LA Falls team
 referral (8.95%

)

LA Sm
oking Cessation te.. (0.29%

)
Alcohol Reduction team

 .. (0.07%
)

Atrial Fibrillation screenings (52.72%
)

Affordable W
arm

th Referral (5.09%
)

9.6%
 of visits

resulted in
referrals to

Health
Agencies

614
 Bowel cancer

screening kit
referrals

186
 Local Authority

Falls team
referrals10

Smoking cessation
team referrals

1

Alcohol reduction
team referrals

1025
Atrial

Fibrillation
screenings 

 

with 60
people

being
signposted
to see their

GP

1st April 2018 - 3oth june 2018
 

105*
 Affordable

Warmth
Referrals

 (*1 referral per household)

(Halton, West Cheshire, South
Cheshire & Vale Royal)

10,167
 Visits completed

Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service has a proud record of delivering successful fire safety,
road safety and youth engagement initiatives. This excellent record is now being extended

and expanded to provide help to our health partners for some key local health priorities
through Safe and Well visits, which the Service commenced on 1st February 2017.

Safe and well
Initiative

 

Appendix 1 to Performance Report 

Page 55



177
 

Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service has a proud record of delivering successful fire safety,
road safety and youth engagement initiatives. This excellent record is now being extended

and expanded to provide help to our health partners for some key local health priorities
through Safe and Well visits, which the Service commenced on 1st February 2017.

Visits
completed

11.0%
 

268
 

63
 

3736
 

Cheshire
East

% to
referral Alcohol

Reduction
Team

Referral

Falls
referral

Smoking
cessation
referral

Bowel Cancer
Screening kit

referral

Atrial
Fibrillation
screenings

0
 

0
 

510
 

8.6%
 

194
 

65
 

3671
 

Cheshire
West 3

 
0

 
338

 

7.3%
 

46
 

27
 

1233
 

Halton
Borough
Council

1
 

0
 

10.5%
 

106
 

31
 

1527
 

Warrington
Borough
Council

6
 

1
 

0
 

Unitary
Area

Safe And Well unitary overview

*figures
represent the

physical
location of the

visit/referral.

Safe and well
Initiative

1st April 2018 - 30th June 2018
 

Affordable
Warmth

Referral
 

49
 

36
 

3
 

17
 

Page 56



Halton HELPS 

Summary report 2018 

Quotes from referrers - 

‘The equipment has given the family peace of 
mind’. (CF&RS advocate) 

‘Amazing scheme—so many of our families 
have benefitted’ (Family Nurse Partnership) 

500 Milestone! 

By May 2018 we had 

completed 500 home safety 

checks for Halton families! 

Of these, 416 led to the 

installation of safety 

equipment by Cheshire  

Fire and Rescue Service. 

That’s a success rate of 

83.2% since November 2011. 

Halton HELPS home safety equipment. 

HELPS comprises a range of good quality, subsidised home safety equipment, available from 13 outlets 

around the borough, for Halton families who register with a Children’s Centre. 

HELPS equipment enabled 195 families to protect their children from unintentional injuries in 2017-18.  

**************** 

Fit 4 Safety 

Fit 4 Safety provides gates and fireguards 

installed by Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service. 

Each family has a home safety check done by a 

professional working with them.  

The Fire Service undertake their own fire safety 

check whilst at the property, including smoke 

detectors, and give advice on exit strategies etc. 

34 families had provision in 2016-17 

37 families had provision in 2017-18 

Appendix 2 to Performance Report

Page 57



 

 

 

 

Free HELPS 

Free HELPS provides a core range of equipment for qualifying families. 

Each family has a home safety check done by a professional working with 

them. Referrals come from - 

Family Nurse Partnership - 38%              HBC Early Help  - 28% 

Health Visitors - 17%     Children’s Social Care - 9% 

C.A.B - 7%    Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service - 1% 

 

Hospital admissions 

Hospital admissions data is provided by Halton Borough Council Public Health Intelligence team. 

Data is filtered to include just admissions due to accidents.  

0-4 year olds includes up to child’s fifth birthday - 0-2 years up to the third birthday. 

Families 

58 families received a 

home safety check and 

free equipment in 

2017/18. 

Windmill Hill had the 

greatest increase over 

last year. 

**************** 

‘Injury prevention can be 

low cost and there is a 

large return on 

investment for young 

children in terms of 

preventable years of life 

lost and disability 

adjusted life years’. 

Reducing unintentional 

injuries in and around the 

home among children under 

five years - report by Public 

Health England. 

Page 58



 

 

 

 
What else does HELPS do? 

 

 

Family First Aid courses are now firmly embedded in the local offer. Millie’s Trust run monthly courses at Halton venues 

which prove consistently popular. 

In 2017-18 - 67 people attended courses in Widnes and 34 in Runcorn. 

 

Child Safety Week  

HELPS hosts two multi-agency events in June each year for National 

Child Safety Week - one Widnes, one Runcorn. 

Previous themes have included -  bath time safety, burns and scalds 

awareness, poisoning prevention, blind cord safety, Millie’s Trust 

First Aid courses and Safer Sleeping information from the Lullaby 

Trust. 

This year we focussed on Safety around Pets. The stand from Dogs 

Trust was a great attraction. 

We made over 450 contacts across all agencies involved. 

Comments from course evaluations - 

‘Positive, interactive atmosphere, great presenter’ 

‘Very informative, approachable teaching and accessible 

because you can bring children with you’ 

‘I feel so much more confident about coping with any 

accident or injury to our baby’ 

‘Really good instructor, content was very focussed with 

lots of relevant information’ 

‘Great info—not overloaded but all relevant’ 

‘Loved the opportunity for all the practical  learning’ 

‘ Everyone needs to do this course—it’s brilliant!!’ 

Page 59



 

 

 

 

‘Unintentional injuries in and around the home are a leading cause of preventable death for children under five years and are 

a major cause of ill health and serious disability. Analysis shows that the emergency hospital admission rate for unintentional 

injuries among the under-fives is 38% higher for children from the most deprived areas compared with children from the least 

deprived. (Source - Public Health England 2018) 

NICE PH30 has five recommendations for addressing home safety issues in local areas:- 

Prioritising households at greatest risk - Fit 4 Safety and 

Free HELPS works with  a range of professionals involved 

with vulnerable families across Halton. Referrals are dealt 

with promptly and equipment supplied as requested. 

Co-ordinating delivery - All referral requests come 

through the Halton HELPS co-ordinator, who has an 

overview of provision and a network of contacts within 

Halton Borough Council, NHS and Cheshire Fire and 

Rescue Service. 

Working in partnership - Fit 4 Safety provides stairgates 

and fireguards fitted by Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service, 

who conduct their own fire safety assessment whilst at 

the property. 

Integrating home safety into all visits - A significant 

number of referrals for equipment come from Health 

Visitors, who undertake home visits for all families with 

new babies. 

Ensuring families with children at high risk of injury are provided with home safety assessments and advice and referred 

to safety equipment schemes - Fit 4 Safety and Free HELPS referrals require a visit from a professional working with the 

family, who will do a home safety check at the property and address any safety issues that may be applicable. Education is 

as important as provision in ensuring the best outcomes for the children involved. 

HELPS role in unintentional injury prevention 

Carolyn McAuley, Halton HELPS Co-coordinator, Warrington Road Children’s Centre, Naylor Road, Widnes, WA8 0BS 

Tel 0151 511 8409 or 0151 424 4686. 

Other parts of the HELPS  role 

HELPS provides education and information to groups etc- 

 First Time Families –a group that focusses on information 

that’s vital to new parents. 

 Keep Your Child Healthy and Safe - course run by Adult 

Learning tutors for parents of young children. 

 Events –including fun days, Children’s centre family days, 

Health conferences, professional events and celebrations. 

 Baby clinics and Children's Centre activities - promotion 

of HELPS offer on a regular basis. 

 Other professionals promote HELPS and Millie’s Trust 

including - Health visitors, play workers, HIT staff, 

Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service, Halton Play council, 

Halton Breastfeeding team, Halton Housing Trust, 

Families Information Service. 

Comment from parent after Keep Your 

Child Healthy and Safe course 

Page 60



Page 61

donna.linton
Typewritten Text
Appendix 3 to Performance Report



This page is intentionally left blank



Shift System* Appliance Location Call Sign July 2017
August 
2017

September 
2017

October 
2017

November 
2017

December 
2017

January 
2018

February 
2018

March 
2018

April 2018
May 
2018

June 2018
Rolling 12 

month 
Percentage

Rolling 12 
month 

Percentage 
as SIU

Nucleus OC Macclesfield E19P1 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%
Nucleus OC Birchwood E02P1 99.66% 99.60% 99.79% 99.87% 99.44% 100.00% 99.93% 100.00% 100.00% 99.65% 100.00% 99.10% 99.75% 99.90%
Nucleus OC Wilmslow E23P1 97.18% 85.08% 89.44% 92.74% 95.69% 95.90% 93.01% 97.92% 100.00% 100.00% 94.09% 96.53% 94.77% 97.46%
Primary OC Nantwich E12P1 92.20% 89.01% 96.60% 93.55% 90.31% 80.01% 93.75% 90.44% 89.28% 84.10% 91.87% 94.76% 90.48% 90.49%
Primary OC Sandbach E16P1 80.21% 67.84% 65.14% 75.74% 85.42% 87.13% 90.05% 94.83% 89.31% 86.04% 76.18% 75.97% 81.08% 86.09%
Primary OC Poynton E22P1 81.22% 74.76% 76.81% 79.13% 86.46% 85.85% 78.39% 86.20% 82.09% 81.88% 83.94% 76.11% 81.04% 85.92%
Primary OC Middlewich E26P1 72.72% 69.02% 73.99% 83.40% 86.49% 83.50% 91.83% 84.67% 91.87% 87.33% 68.88% 77.99% 80.94% 84.24%
Primary OC Alsager E14P1 68.51% 57.80% 71.11% 76.04% 64.41% 72.92% 79.81% 85.57% 78.70% 81.63% 65.73% 81.49% 73.53% 81.29%
Primary OC Malpas E11P1 78.29% 65.49% 64.65% 61.36% 69.27% 80.95% 79.60% 75.74% 76.21% 61.91% 59.58% 59.97% 69.43% 79.14%
Primary OC Bollington E20P1 64.72% 72.24% 70.07% 57.22% 77.08% 71.30% 86.49% 79.43% 75.27% 67.95% 55.71% 56.01% 69.39% 76.64%
Primary OC Holmes Chapel E17P1 67.64% 54.77% 64.97% 65.73% 65.31% 71.61% 56.45% 61.79% 67.91% 62.85% 54.64% 76.22% 64.14% 75.66%
Primary OC Audlem E13P1 53.09% 50.97% 67.33% 64.38% 59.27% 69.56% 78.06% 72.88% 55.71% 64.79% 57.19% 54.62% 62.24% 72.38%
Primary OC Stockton Heath E03P1 42.91% 56.59% 54.24% 53.60% 61.39% 58.47% 57.12% 59.82% 53.73% 47.05% 44.86% 48.75% 53.16% 67.03%
Primary OC Tarporley E10P1 48.96% 41.20% 42.26% 58.47% 55.56% 59.95% 58.10% 49.03% 51.75% 49.06% 49.16% 49.79% 51.14% 58.74%
Primary OC Knutsford E24P1 35.79% 48.79% 37.53% 44.19% 55.21% 41.94% 51.98% 30.13% 30.34% 45.56% 41.97% 56.18% 43.35% 55.82%
Primary OC Frodsham E06P1 43.38% 38.14% 45.73% 49.70% 45.03% 24.80% 42.41% 25.04% 17.31% 22.01% 18.75% 26.42% 33.28% 45.87%
Secondary OC Northwich E25P2 44.99% 51.58% 53.75% 51.75% 54.58% 63.27% 64.99% 67.45% 79.74% 59.62% 66.53% 59.76% 59.80% 69.51%
Secondary OC Macclesfield E19P2 59.38% 50.03% 48.78% 70.03% 60.80% 68.72% 65.86% 64.66% 56.52% 54.34% 49.09% 57.08% 58.76% 65.60%
Secondary OC Penketh E29P2 48.25% 45.90% 55.97% 55.65% 44.55% 36.79% 69.66% 60.19% 59.34% 54.86% 56.49% 42.81% 52.51% 57.61%
Secondary OC Runcorn E05P2 68.82% 55.61% 48.72% 57.02% 61.22% 47.28% 66.73% 59.19% 59.74% 40.07% 34.61% 30.56% 52.49% 54.63%
Secondary OC Winsford E27P2 14.05% 24.13% 16.01% 27.02% 33.02% 16.63% 42.27% 47.58% 45.97% 38.47% 16.06% 23.02% 28.54% 35.49%

64.86% 61.84% 63.95% 67.46% 69.07% 67.46% 73.64% 71.07% 69.56% 66.15% 61.21% 63.96% 66.85% 73.31%

Quarterly Availablity as SIU

ON CALL AVAILABILITY

70.25% 74.71% 78.12% 70.16%
Quarterly Availablity 63.55% 67.99% 71.43% 63.77%

Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 Quarter 1

Overall Availability

P
age 63

donna.linton_1
Typewritten Text
Appendix 4 to Performance Report



T
his page is intentionally left blank



CHESHIRE FIRE AUTHORITY

MEETING OF: PERFORMANCE AND OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
DATE: 5 SEPTEMBER 2018
REPORT OF: DIRECTOR OF GOVERNANCE AND COMMISSIONING 
AUTHOR: LOUISE WILLIS/CHRIS ASTALL

SUBJECT:
INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN 2018-19 – QUARTER 1 
PROGRESS REPORT AND FOLLOW UP 
REPORTS  

Purpose of Report

1. To present to Members: the Progress Report in relation to the Annual Audit Plan 
2018-19: and the Internal Audit Follow-up Report (which covers audit activity 
from previous years).   

Recommended: That

[1] Members of the Performance & Overview Committee review and note the 
attached reports; and

[2] Members highlight any specific audit findings for which they would like to 
receive further detail.

Background

2. Internal audit is an assurance function that provides an independent opinion to 
the Authority on the organisation’s control environment.
 

3. Recommendations made by MIAA are presented formally in a report to relevant 
senior officers. Each recommendation is prioritised as Critical, High, Medium, or 
Low to reflect the assessment of risk.  It is a management responsibility to 
respond to the recommendations and identify actions that can be taken to 
mitigate or reduce the risk. 

4. Terms of reference and final audit reports are reviewed by senior officers and 
significant risks identified may be referred to the Risk Management Board (RMB). 
The Performance & Overview Committee receives quarterly updates for the 
purpose of monitoring and scrutiny of progress against the Annual Audit Plan. 

5. Delivery of recommendations are monitored and tracked on the Service’s 
Cheshire Planning System (CPS). 

Page 65

Agenda Item 5



Information

Internal Audit Plan 2018-19 Quarter 1Progress Report

6. The Progress Report is attached to this report at Appendix 1. The audit activity 
is summarised below:-

  Operational Training – Fieldwork complete and report being drafted.

  Safe and Well – Terms of Reference being developed, Fieldwork to 
commence.

  National Fraud Initiative – Terms of Reference, awaiting approval.

7. There have been no requests for change during the Quarter 1 reporting period.

Internal Audit – Follow-up Report September 2018

8. The Follow-up is attached to this report at Appendix 2.

9. The Follow-up Report is intended to provide assurance regarding management 
implementation of actions from previous internal audit reports.

Financial Implications

11. Internal audit is an outsourced service funded from base budget. Any additional 
financial implications arising from internal audit recommendation are assesses 
individually as part of the management response to final audit reports.

Legal Implications

12. Legal implications are considered when audit reports are presented to senior 
managers.

Equality and Diversity Implications

13. There are no differential impacts on any particular section of the community 
arising from this report. 

Environmental Implications

14.    There are no specific impacts on the environment arising from this report.

CONTACT: DONNA LINTON, FIRE SERVICE HQ, WINSFORD
TEL [01606] 868804

Page 66



BACKGROUND PAPERS:  Information provided by Mersey Internal Audit Agency 
(MIAA)

Appendix 1 – Internal Audit Plan 2018-19 - Quarter 1 Progress Report

Appendix 2 – Internal Audit - Follow Up Report September 2018

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 to Item 5 
Performance and Overview

5th September 2018

Internal Audit Plan 2018-19 
Quarter 1 Progress Report
Performance and Overview 
Committee (5th September 2018)

Cheshire Fire Authority / Fire & Rescue Service

Page 69



Progress Report

Performance and Overview Committee September 2018

Cheshire Fire Authority / 

Fire & Rescue Service

P a g e  | 1

Contents

1. Introduction

2. Key Messages for Committee Attention

3. Work in progress and planned

4. Request for Audit Plan Changes

Appendix A: Risk Classification and Assurance Levels 

Appendix B: Contract Performance 

Appendix C: Critical & High Level Risk Action Plans

Page 70



Progress Report

Performance and Overview Committee September 2018

Cheshire Fire Authority / 

Fire & Rescue Service

P a g e  | 2

1. Introduction
This progress report provides an update to the Performance and Overview Committee 
in respect of the assurances, key issues and progress against the Internal Audit Plan 
for 2018/19. Comprehensive reports detailing findings, recommendations and agreed 
actions are provided to the organisation, and are available to Committee Members on 
request. In addition a consolidated follow up position is reported on a periodic basis to 
the Performance and Overview Committee.

2. Key Messages for Audit Committee Attention
Since the previous meeting of the Performance and Overview Committee the following 
reports have been finalised:

 Follow Up Review (reported as a separate agenda item)

Appendix A provides the categorisation of assurance levels and risk ratings and 
Appendix B confirms performance against plan. Details of High Level actions agreed 
with the management are provided in Appendix C.

3. Work in Progress and Planned
The following pieces of work are in progress and/or planned and will be reported to 
Committee following completion:

Work planned

 Operational Training – Fieldwork Complete, Report being drafted.

 Safe and Well – Planning meeting held 7th August, Terms of Reference in 
development.

 National Fraud Initiative – Terms of Reference issued, awaiting approval.

4. Request for Audit Plan Changes

It is recognised that we may need to update the audit plan during the year as different 
risks emerge. Any proposed changes to the plan are discussed with the Service 
Management Team and this will be reported to the Performance and Overview 
Committee to facilitate the monitoring process.  

 There are no proposed amendments to the audit plan for consideration by the 
committee.

Page 71



Progress Report

Performance and Overview Committee September 2018

Cheshire Fire Authority /

Fire & Rescue Service

A p p e n d i x  A  | 1

Appendix A: Assurance Definitions and Risk Classifications

Level of 
Assurance

Description

High There is a strong system of internal control which has been effectively designed to meet 
the system objectives, and that controls are consistently applied in all areas reviewed.

Substantial There is a good system of internal control designed to meet the system objectives, and 
that controls are generally being applied consistently. 

Moderate There is an adequate system of internal control, however, in some areas weaknesses in 
design and/or inconsistent application of controls puts the achievement of some aspects 
of the system objectives at risk.

Limited There is a compromised system of internal control as weaknesses in the design and/or 
inconsistent application of controls puts the achievement of the system objectives at risk.

No There is an inadequate system of internal control as weaknesses in control, and/or 
consistent non-compliance with controls could/has resulted in failure to achieve the 
system objectives.

Risk Rating Assessment Rationale

Critical Control weakness that could have a significant impact upon, not only the system, 
function or process objectives but also the achievement of the organisation’s objectives 
in relation to:

 the efficient and effective use of resources

 the safeguarding of assets

 the preparation of reliable financial and operational information

 compliance with laws and regulations.

High Control weakness that has or is likely to have a significant impact upon the achievement 
of key system, function or process objectives.  This weakness, whilst high impact for the 
system, function or process does not have a significant impact on the achievement of the 
overall organisation objectives.

Medium Control weakness that:

 has a low impact on the achievement of the key system, function or process 
objectives;

 has exposed the system, function or process to a key risk, however the 
likelihood of this risk occurring is low.

Low Control weakness that does not impact upon the achievement of key system, function or 
process objectives; however implementation of the recommendation would improve 
overall control.

Page 72



Progress Report

Performance and Overview Committee September 2018

Cheshire Fire Authority /

Fire & Rescue Service

A p p e n d i x  B  | 1

Appendix B: Contract Performance
The primary measure of your internal auditor’s performance is the outputs deriving from work 
undertaken. The plan has also been discussed with lead officers to determine the appropriate 
timing of individual work-streams to accommodate priorities, availability, mandatory 
requirements and external audit views.

General Performance Indicators
The following provides some general performance indicator information to support the 
Committee in assessing the performance of Internal Audit.

Element Status Summary

Progress against plan Green Audit reviews are on track in terms of planned 
completion.

Timeliness Green Generally, reviews are progressing in line with 
planned delivery other than that identified above.

Qualified Staff Green

MIAA Audit Staff consist of:

 65% Qualified (CCAB, IIA etc.)

 35% Part Qualified

Quality Green

MIAA operate systems to ISO Quality Standards. The 
External Quality Assessment, undertaken by CIPFA, 
provides assurance of MIAA’s compliance with the 
Public Sector Internal Audit Standards.

Page 73



Progress Report

Performance and Overview Committee September 2018

Cheshire Fire Authority /

Fire & Rescue Service

A p p e n d i x  B  | 2

Overview of Output Delivery

REVIEW TITLE PLANNED COMPLETION Commentary

Sep Nov Feb Jul

ASSURANCE 
LEVEL

CORPORATE SERVICES

Financial 
Systems: Oracle 
Fusion

ο ο
Local Code of 
Corporate 
Governance

ο
National Fraud 
Initiative ο
PROTECTION & ORGANISATIONAL PERFORMANCE
Performance 
Reporting ο
HMICFRS Call off Days

SERVICE DELIVERY / OPERATIONAL POLICY & ASSURANCE

Operational 
Training ● Fieldwork

Vehicle Fleet ο
Station 
Management 
Framework

ο
PREVENTION

Safe and Well ● Terms of 
Reference

FOLLOW-UP AND CONTINGENCY

Follow-up


Final Report

Contingency

Key

ο  = Planned ● = In Progress     

 = Complete

Page 74



Progress Report

Performance and Overview Committee September 2018

Cheshire Fire Authority /

Fire & Rescue Service

A p p e n d i x  C  | 1

Appendix C: Critical / High Risk Recommendations
There were no Critical or High Risk recommendations raised within any of the finalised report 
this period.

Page 75



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 to Item 5
Performance and Overview

5th September 2018

Internal Audit - Follow Up Report 
September 2018 
Performance and Overview Committee 
(5th September 2018)
Cheshire Fire Authority/ Fire & Rescue Service

Page 77



Appendix 1 to Item 5
Performance and Overview

5th September 2018

Page 78



Internal Audit Follow - Up Report September 2018 Cheshire Fire Authority/ Fire & Rescue Service

P a g e  | 1

Contents

1. Introduction and Background 

2. Executive Summary

3. Outstanding and Partially Implemented Recommendations

Appendix A: Assurance Definitions and Risk Classifications

Appendix B: Follow-Up Report Distribution and contacts

Page 79



Internal Audit Follow - Up Report September 2018 Cheshire Fire Authority/ Fire & Rescue Service

P a g e  | 2

1. Introduction and Background 
In making recommendations and agreeing action plans, it is intended that improvements may 
be made to both internal controls and operational effectiveness.  However, in order to verify 
that the benefits of the process are achieved, it is necessary to subsequently follow up on the 
implementation of agreed actions, in order to fully assess:

 Whether implementation has occurred or been superseded by further events; and

 Whether the actions have produced the intended effect.

Follow-up is, therefore, a vital aspect of the internal audit process and it is our policy, in 
accordance with the Fire Authority’s Internal Audit plan, to revisit previously agreed actions.

This paper sets out the completion of the most recent phase of follow-up reviews where we 
have been informed that action plans have been completed.

2. Executive Summary
Section 4 provides a summary of all agreed Internal Audit actions due for implementation 
which were followed up during July/ August 2018.  Of the 38 actions due for implementation: 

 28  were evidenced as implemented including one awaiting evidence of 
implementation ; and

 10 actions were noted that whilst not complete, progress towards implementation was 
evidenced.

A summary of these recommendations, including their status at August 2018, and revised 
dates for implementation are detailed in section 4.  Of those still outstanding, none are 
considered high risk.  These actions will be monitored through the CFRS Action Tracker and 
will be followed up by MIAA and a further update provided to the Performance and Overview 
Committee.      

Page 80



Internal Audit Follow - Up Report September 2018 Cheshire Fire Authority/ Fire & Rescue Service

P a g e  | 3

3. Summary of Outstanding Actions
The following table summarises all Internal Audit recommendations which have been followed up during July/August 2018:

Total Number of Recommendations followed up

Audit Report Year
Number of 

Recommendations 
Outstanding

Recommendations 
not yet due Implemented

Partially 
Implemented Superseded

Not 
Implemented

IT Core Infrastructure 2014/15 2 - 2 - - -

Fire Cadets 2015/16 3 - 2 1 - -

NW Control Centre 2015/16 2 - 1 1 - -

Insurance Arrangements 2016/17 3 - 2 1 - -

On Call 2016/17 2 - 2 - - -

Partnerships 2016/17 6 - 3(1*) 3 - -

Site Specific Risk Information 2016/17 7 - 7 - - -

E&D Recruitment 2017/18 3 - 3 - - -

Business Continuity 2017/18 5 - 1 4 - -

Business Audits/Fire Safety 2017/18 3 - 3 - - -

Station Management Framework 2017/18 2 - 2 - - -

Totals 38 0 28(1*) 10 0 0

*   Relates to actions confirmed by Management as completed, evidence to be provided / reviewed before being removed from the 
Tracker Report

P
age 81



Internal Audit Follow - Up Report September 2018 Cheshire Fire Authority/ Fire & Rescue Service

P a g e | 4

4. Outstanding and partially Implemented Recommendations
The following table provides full details of those recommendations which are still outstanding/partially implemented following our 
review, along with the original agreed management responses and timescales. 

Fire Cadets

Rec 
No

Risk 
Rating

Recommendation(s) Management Response Action 
Deadline

Person(s) 
Responsible

Status as at September 
2018

Revised 
Deadline

3 Medium The Authority should 
produce a Corporate 
Fundraising Policy that 
should be 
supplemented by 
comprehensive 
guidance for those 
involved in fundraising 
activities.  The policy 
and procedures should 
identify the 
responsibilities of 
individuals, the 
Authority and require 
the implementation of 
adequate controls 
during fundraising 
including the security, 
recording and banking 
of funds collected.

CFRS fund raiser for a 
number of charitable 
organisations, the majority of 
CFRS fundraising is for the 
Fire Fighters Charity.  There 
is no specific fundraising 
policy and I believe this 
should be a service wide 
policy not just for youth 
engagement programmes. A 
discussion needs to take 
place with the DCFO, Head 
of Legal and Democratic 
Services, Head of Finance 
and Head of Prevention to 
agree the policy.

31/12/2016 DCFO, Head 
of Legal and 
Democratic 
Services, 
Head of 
Finance and 
Head of 
Prevention.

Partially implemented

A Corporate Fundraising 
Policy has been drafted 
and is in the process of 
being reviewed by the 
Legal Department prior to 
formal approval. 

 

31/10/2018

P
age 82



Internal Audit Follow - Up Report September 2018 Cheshire Fire Authority/ Fire & Rescue Service

P a g e | 5

NW Control Centre

Rec 
No

Risk 
Rating

Recommendation(s) Management Response Action 
Deadline

Person(s) 
Responsible

Status as at September 
2018

Revised 
Deadline

1 Medium The members’ 
agreement should be 
amended to reflect the 
correct number of 
Authorities that currently 
hold an interest in 
NWFC Ltd.

The documentation 
associated with 
Merseyside’s withdrawal 
was completed and had to 
be formally accepted by the 
four remaining Authorities. 
At the time there was some 
discussion between officers 
about the Members 
Agreement and whether it 
needed to be updated. 
Whilst the document 
contains a number of 
provisions that are now only 
of historical interest (they 
have no practical impact) 
the Agreement remains fit 
for purpose in the way it 
binds the Authorities 
together – preventing them 
from making certain key 
changes to the company’s 
governance unless there is 
unanimity. The Agreement 
can be reviewed, but it is not 
a priority.

1/04/2017 Director of 
Governance 
and 
Commissioning 

Partially implemented

The organisation have 
reviewed the document 
and currently undertaking 
a review. Since the audit 
the governance 
arrangements for fire and 
rescue have changed 
(twice) in Greater 
Manchester.  This has 
opened up a wider debate 
about fire control and its 
future governance. 
Currently delaying 
updating the Members 
Agreement. 

An update will be provided 
once the agreement is 
amended and accepted by 
all parties to the NW Fire 
Control 

As at the time of the audit 
the Members Agreement is 
still fit for purpose, the key 

31/03/2019

P
age 83



Internal Audit Follow - Up Report September 2018 Cheshire Fire Authority/ Fire & Rescue Service

P a g e | 6

Rec 
No

Risk 
Rating

Recommendation(s) Management Response Action 
Deadline

Person(s) 
Responsible

Status as at September 
2018

Revised 
Deadline

ingredients which protect 
the parties to the 
collaboration remain 
relevant and binding on the 
parties to NW Fire Control.

Insurance Arrangements

Rec 
No

Risk 
Rating

Recommendation(s) Management Response Action 
Deadline

Person(s) 
Responsible

Status as at September 
2018

Revised 
Deadline

4 Medium CFRS as planned 
should work with other 
members to develop a 
report summarising 
learning from analysis of 
risk profiles of 
members. The report 
can be used alongside 
information in quarterly 
reports if it is agreed that 
contributions of 
members should be 
based on claims made 

This is part of the FARRG 
process and it is the 
intention to make 
benchmarking information 
available.

31/03/2017 Head of 
Finance

Partially implemented

The Health, Safety and 
Wellbeing Manager  has 
taken responsibility for the 
recommendation 

FRIC Board that sets the 
performance indicators. 
The Health, Safety and 
Wellbeing Manager has 
requested that they 
consider this is an indicator 
for the future which is being 

31/10/2018

P
age 84



Internal Audit Follow - Up Report September 2018 Cheshire Fire Authority/ Fire & Rescue Service

P a g e | 7

Rec 
No

Risk 
Rating

Recommendation(s) Management Response Action 
Deadline

Person(s) 
Responsible

Status as at September 
2018

Revised 
Deadline

and on members risk 
profiles.

requested at the Fire and 
Rescue Risk Group. 

Partnerships

Rec 
No

Risk 
Rating

Recommendation(s) Management Response Action 
Deadline

Person(s) 
Responsible

Status as at September 
2018

Revised 
Deadline

1 Medium CFRS should review 
and update its 
Partnership Policy to 
clarify what CFRS 
defines as a partnership 
and to reflect new 
national and local 
requirements

The Partnership Policy will 
be reviewed and updated in 
2017 to reflect changes at a 
local and national level

30/09/2017 Partnerships 
Co-ordinator / 
Head of 
Prevention

Partially implemented

The Prevention 
Partnership policy has 
been updated with the 
audit recommendations 
and is currently being 
quality assured by the 
Prevention Department. 
The Policy should be 
published within the next 3 
months.

December 
2018

3 Medium CFRS should review 
where key duties 
previously undertaken 
by the Partnership 
Steering Group are to 

Reports will be received by 
SMT through the 
Programme Management 
Board. Principal 
responsibility for oversight of 

31/07/2017 Partially implemented

As part of the Quality 
Assurance process the re-
assignment of partnerships 

Awaiting 
Evidence 

P
age 85



Internal Audit Follow - Up Report September 2018 Cheshire Fire Authority/ Fire & Rescue Service

P a g e | 8

Rec 
No

Risk 
Rating

Recommendation(s) Management Response Action 
Deadline

Person(s) 
Responsible

Status as at September 
2018

Revised 
Deadline

be reassigned to ensure 
there remains robust 
oversight of 
partnerships across 
CFRS.     

partnerships will be the 
Performance Scrutiny Group 
who have responsibility for 
monitoring delivery of 
projects and the IRMP.     

oversight and monitoring   
previously undertaken by 
the Partnership Steering 
Group will now be the 
responsibility of the 
Service Management 
Team (SMT).      

4 Medium i) The Prevention Team 
should work with the 
CFRS Legal Team to 
define and agree the 
minimum standard for a 
partnership agreement. 
Whether that be a MoU 
or SLA the agreement 
should provide 
additional assurance 
responsibilities for 
CFRS and its partners 
are agreed.      

ii) As planned, signed 
copies of agreements 
should be uploaded to 
CPS

i) For new partnerships and 
partnership renewals, the 
Legal Team will further 
consider the most effective 
agreement to be used to 
provide additional 
assurance that 
responsibilities of CFRS and 
its partners are agreed. 

ii) Signed copies of 
agreements will be added to 
CPS. The Prevention Team 
will confirm that signed 
agreements are in place for 
partnerships where it was 
identified a signed 
agreement could not be 
evidenced.         

31/12/2017 Head of 
Prevention

Partially implemented

i) The legal team agreed 
MOU would be the 
minimum standard for a 
partnership agreement and 
the policy has been 
updated to reflect this. 

ii) Signed copies of 
agreements will be 
uploaded to the new CPS 
site when available, 
incorporating the 
improvements to the 
partnerships tab.

December 
2018

P
age 86



Internal Audit Follow - Up Report September 2018 Cheshire Fire Authority/ Fire & Rescue Service

P a g e | 9

Rec 
No

Risk 
Rating

Recommendation(s) Management Response Action 
Deadline

Person(s) 
Responsible

Status as at September 
2018

Revised 
Deadline

6 Low As planned, training 
should be provided to 
partnership leads on 
requirements in the 
Partnership Policy to 
ensure key partnership 
documentation has 
been fully completed.

As part of the uploading of 
partnerships into CPS, 
training will be provided to 
partnership leads to ensure 
there is clarity on actions 
required to comply with the 
Partnership Policy.

31/12/2017 Unitary 
Performance 
Managers

Partially implemented

Training will be provided to 
partnership leads to ensure 
there is clarity on actions 
required to comply with the 
Partnership Policy, once 
CPS has been updated 
and the policy published.

December 
2018

Business Continuity 

Rec 
No

Risk 
Rating

Recommendation(s) Management Response Action 
Deadline

Person(s) 
Responsible

Status as at September 
2018

Revised 
Deadline

2 Medium CFRS should: -

 Develop a three year 
schedule with 
Cheshire 
Constabulary to detail 
the timing and 
assurances from live 
incidents and table 
top business 
continuity plan tests.

 A three year schedule will 
be developed with 
Cheshire Constabulary to 
detail the timing and 
assurances from live 
incidents and table top 
business continuity plan 
tests. This will be 
established alongside 
developing agreeing a 
standardisation of 

28th February 
2018

31st March 
2018

Operational 
Support, Risk, 
Research & 
Development 
Lead

Partially implemented

The Constabulary’s 
approach to Business 
Continuity differs to CFRS. 
The differences in 
approach at the two 
organisations need further 
investigation and 
agreement.

December 
2018

P
age 87



Internal Audit Follow - Up Report September 2018 Cheshire Fire Authority/ Fire & Rescue Service

P a g e | 10

Rec 
No

Risk 
Rating

Recommendation(s) Management Response Action 
Deadline

Person(s) 
Responsible

Status as at September 
2018

Revised 
Deadline

 Report the results and 
assurances of testing 
in revised reporting 
arrangements to 
senior management 
(recommendation 4 
refers).

approach, documentation 
and systems for business 
continuity with Cheshire 
Constabulary.

 Revised reporting 
arrangements will be 
taken to the Risk 
Management Board for 
approval in March 2018

3 Medium CFRS should: -

 Develop an 
agreed schedule of 
regular meetings with 
business continuity 
leads at Cheshire 
Constabulary.

 Agree a work plan 
and action log 
detailing actions 
required from each 
partner. This should 
include agreeing a 
shared risk appetite 
and risk scoring 
process.

 Agree with Cheshire 
Constabulary the 

 An agreed schedule of 
regular meetings will be 
agreed between business 
continuity leads at CFRS 
and Cheshire 
Constabulary.

 CFRS and Cheshire 
Constabulary will work to 
develop a standardisation 
in approach, 
documentation and 
systems for business 
continuity. As part of this 
work a work plan and 
action log detailing 
actions.

 As part of developing a 
testing schedule CFRS 
will clarify with Cheshire 

 28th 
February 
2018

 30th June 
2018

 30th June 
2018

 30th June 
2018

Operational 
Support, Risk, 
Research & 
Development 
Lead

Partially implemented

The Constabulary’s 
approach to Business 
Continuity differs to CFRS. 
The differences in 
approach at the two 
organisations need further 
investigation and 
agreement. 

December 
2018

P
age 88



Internal Audit Follow - Up Report September 2018 Cheshire Fire Authority/ Fire & Rescue Service

P a g e | 11

Rec 
No

Risk 
Rating

Recommendation(s) Management Response Action 
Deadline

Person(s) 
Responsible

Status as at September 
2018

Revised 
Deadline

nature and frequency 
of assurances for 
which they are the 
lead for.   

 As planned CFRS 
Business Impact 
Assessments should 
be reviewed and 
updated to reflect 
changes as a result of 
Blue Light 
Collaboration.

Constabulary the nature 
and frequency of 
assurances for which they 
are the lead for.

 As part of the 
development of a 
standardisation of 
approach Business 
Impact Assessments will 
be reviewed and updated 
to reflect changes as a 
result of Blue Light 
Collaboration.

4 Medium  To further strengthen 
assurances escalated 
to senior 
management CFRS 
should develop a 
RAG rated report 
providing assurances 
that business 
continuity plans for 
the Joint Corporate 
Services Teams 
located at Clemonds 
Hey (BLC) have been 
reviewed, tested and 
from assurances from 

 Revised reporting 
arrangements will be 
taken to the RMB for 
approval in March 2018 
including references to 
learning gained from joint 
working with CFOA, 
Cheshire Constabulary, 
national reports or 
guidance and progress 
against planned business 
continuity testing.

 An annual report will be 
reported to the RMB in 
October 2018

 30th June 
2018

 October 
2018

Operational 
Support, Risk, 
Research & 
Development 
Lead

Partially implemented

Development work on the 
Cheshire Planning System 
(CPS) or Police equivalent 
will need to be completed 
to create/amend and view 
the reporting system.  To 
allow RAG process to be 
developed and agreed 
between stakeholders. A 
formal reporting process in 
relation to the assurances 
to be provided to CFRS is 
also under negotiation. 

December 
2018

P
age 89



Internal Audit Follow - Up Report September 2018 Cheshire Fire Authority/ Fire & Rescue Service

P a g e | 12

Rec 
No

Risk 
Rating

Recommendation(s) Management Response Action 
Deadline

Person(s) 
Responsible

Status as at September 
2018

Revised 
Deadline

Cheshire 
Constabulary for 
services they have 
responsibility for.

 An annual report 
should be reported to 
the RMB which 
includes references to 
learning gained from 
joint working with 
CFOA, Cheshire 
Constabulary, 
national reports or 
guidance and 
progress against 
planned business 
continuity testing.

5 Low  As planned, quarterly 
Business Continuity 
Champion meetings 
should be held with 
agreed actions 
monitored to provide 
assurance they are 
completed.

 To accompany the 
role of Business 
Continuity 

 Business Continuity 
Champion meetings will 
be held with agreed 
actions monitored to 
provide assurance they 
are completed.

 Business Continuity 
Champions will continue 
to raise awareness of 
business continuity within 
their departments. 

 29th 
February 
2018

 30th April 
2018

 29th 
February 
2018

Operational 
Support, Risk, 
Research & 
Development 
Lead

Partially implemented

New departmental 
Business Continuity leads 
have been identified, with 
the line management 
responsibilities agreed.   
The Operational Policy and 
Assurance administration 
hubs will allow more 
support in the development 
of regular meetings and 

December 
2018

P
age 90



Internal Audit Follow - Up Report September 2018 Cheshire Fire Authority/ Fire & Rescue Service

P a g e | 13

Rec 
No

Risk 
Rating

Recommendation(s) Management Response Action 
Deadline

Person(s) 
Responsible

Status as at September 
2018

Revised 
Deadline

Champions, CFRS 
and Cheshire 
Constabulary should 
consider processes to 
periodically raise the 
profile of business 
continuity across 
each organisation. 
This includes 
participation in 
national awareness 
campaigns by 
Resilience Direct.

 CFRS should request 
business continuity to 
be included 
periodically at CFRS 
service and 
departmental 
meetings.

Additionally CFRS will 
update its business 
continuity intranet page 
and consider its 
involvement in the 
national business 
continuity event held in 
May each year.

 Business continuity will be 
included at CFRS 
departmental meetings to 
raise the awareness of 
business continuity and 
actions required to be 
completed.

inclusion as standard 
agenda items.

Prior to completion further 
engagement meetings are 
required.

P
age 91



Internal Audit Follow - Up Report September 2018 Cheshire Fire Authority/ Fire & Rescue Service

A p p e n d i x  A  | 1

Appendix A: Assurance Definitions and Risk Classifications

Level of 
Assurance

Description

High There is a strong system of internal control which has been effectively designed to meet 
the system objectives, and that controls are consistently applied in all areas reviewed.

Substantial There is a good system of internal control designed to meet the system objectives, and 
that controls are generally being applied consistently. 

Moderate There is an adequate system of internal control, however, in some areas weaknesses in 
design and/or inconsistent application of controls puts the achievement of some aspects 
of the system objectives at risk.

Limited There is a compromised system of internal control as weaknesses in the design and/or 
inconsistent application of controls puts the achievement of the system objectives at risk.

No There is an inadequate system of internal control as weaknesses in control, and/or 
consistent non-compliance with controls could/has resulted in failure to achieve the 
system objectives.

Risk Rating Assessment Rationale

Critical Control weakness that could have a significant impact upon, not only the system, 
function or process objectives but also the achievement of the organisation’s objectives 
in relation to:

 the efficient and effective use of resources

 the safeguarding of assets

 the preparation of reliable financial and operational information

 compliance with laws and regulations.

High Control weakness that has or is likely to have a significant impact upon the achievement 
of key system, function or process objectives.  This weakness, whilst high impact for the 
system, function or process does not have a significant impact on the achievement of the 
overall organisation objectives.

Medium Control weakness that:

 has a low impact on the achievement of the key system, function or process 
objectives;

 has exposed the system, function or process to a key risk, however the 
likelihood of this risk occurring is low.

Low Control weakness that does not impact upon the achievement of key system, function or 
process objectives; however implementation of the recommendation would improve 
overall control.

Page 92



Internal Audit Follow - Up Report September 2018 Cheshire Fire Authority/ Fire & Rescue Service

A p p e n d i x  A  | 2

Appendix B: Follow-Up Distribution and Contacts 

Report Distribution
Name Report Distribution

Performance & Overview Committee Final Report (PDF)

Review prepared on behalf of MIAA by

Name: Lyndon Wiles

Title: Principal Auditor

 0161 743 2029

 Lyndon.wiles@miaa.nhs.uk

Name: Kevin Lloyd

Title: Assistant Director

 0161 743 2028 / 07585401639

 kevin.lloyd@miaa.nhs.uk

Acknowledgement and Further Information

MIAA would like to thank all staff for their co-operation and assistance in completing this follow-
up review.

This report has been prepared as commissioned by the organisation, and is for your sole use. 
If you have any queries regarding this review please contact the Audit Manager.  To discuss 
any other issues then please contact the Director.

Page 93



This page is intentionally left blank



CHESHIRE FIRE AUTHORITY

MEETING OF: PERFORMANCE AND OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
DATE: 5 SEPTEMBER 2018
REPORT OF: HEAD OF SERVICE DELIVERY
AUTHOR: LIZ THOMPSON 

SUBJECT: UNITARY PERFORMANCE GROUP REPORT 
2017-18 AND QUARTER 1 2018-19

Purpose of Report

1. To provide Members with an update on the initiatives supported and funded 
by the Unitary Performance Groups (UPGs) during 2017-18 and Q1 of 2018-
19.

Recommended: That

[1] Members note the report.

Background

2. The Service operates across four unitary authorities: Cheshire East, Cheshire 
West and Chester, Halton and Warrington.  Within each of these unitary 
authorities the Service run regular UPG meetings.

3. UPG meetings provide an opportunity for local Cheshire Fire Authority 
Members to engage with officers from Service Delivery, Prevention and 
Protection to scrutinise performance at a local level.  The UPG also develop 
initiatives which can help to improve performance and outcomes for the 
communities within each unitary area. UPGs have budgets allocated to enable 
them to consider and approve funding bids within their areas.

Information

4. Appendix 1 to this report contains details of some of the initiatives supported 
and funded by the UPGs.

Financial Implications

5. Each UPG receives £25k per year from Cheshire FRS. Appendix 2 to this report 
details the expenditure of each of UPGs.

Legal Implications

6. There are no known legal implications.

Page 95

Agenda Item 6



Equality and Diversity Implications

7. The events and initiatives outlined in this report have enabled stations to 
engage with their local communities and to deliver safety messages to some 
disadvantages groups who are more vulnerable to the risk of fire.

Environmental Implications

8. There are no known environmental implications.

CONTACT: DONNA LINTON, FIRE SERVICE HQ, WINSFORD
TEL [01606] 868804
BACKGROUND PAPERS:  NONE

Page 96



Appendix 1 to Item 6 
Performance and Overview Committee 

5th September 2018 
Event Details Photo 

Service wide -
funding of 
defibrillators 

The UPGs supported and provided funding for the 
installation of publically accessible defibrillators at each of 
the Service’s fire stations. The aim of the initiative was to 
assist the Service with realising its vision of “a Cheshire 
where there are no deaths, injuries or damage from fires or 
other emergencies”. £31,000 was utilised for the initiative. 

 

  

Service wide - 
funding of Virtual 
Reality items 

The UPGs supported and provided funding for the Service 
to purchase virtual reality equipment to assist the delivery of 
road safety interventions. The technology provides a fully 
immersive experience in which individuals experience risk 
through a simulated road traffic collision. It is being utilised 
within the Service at: Think Drive Survive events, Road 
Safety Education (Key Stage 4) events, Safety Central and 
at events in the local communities across Cheshire. 
£9885.32 was utilised for the initiative. 

 

 

 

Service wide -
funding of items 
for Winter Driving 
Events  

The UPGs supported and provided funding for the Service to purchase equipment to create a ‘safety bag’ for drivers who had their 
vehicles checked at one of winter driving events during October 2017. The aim of the initiative was to highlight to drivers the need to 
prepare and check their vehicles in preparation for winter conditions. Items in the ‘safety bag’ included: ice-scrapers, tyre depth 
gauges, de-icer and screen wash.  £400 was utilised for the initiative. 
 
 

Service Wide - New 
Ice Cream Machine 
for use at various 

A new ice cream machine was purchased which is used to help generate funding for The Firefighters Charity. The machine is used 
very successfully at station open days and at other public events.  

 

P
age 97



events including 
Station Open Days 
Service Wide – 
Festive Hampers 

Fire Service personnel (Whole-time, On Call & Advocates) 
across Cheshire to deliver a Christmas Hamper to targeted 
elderly/vulnerable people identified via Safe Well 
engagement or fire incidents. 

Alongside the hamper each Watch/Advocate spent a little 
time with each person, this may have been the only visitor 
they encountered over the Christmas period, ensuring that 
their safe and well visit/information and equipment is in 
working order and checking on their well being. 

Local over 65’s benefitted from meeting with the fire service 
in December 2017. Wilmslow Delta watch arrived at the 
doorstep of a local resident aged 83 years with an early 
Christmas present.  They were in complete surprise when 
the fire engine pulled up outside his house and the crew 
came bearing gifts. 

This initiative is now repeated annually service wide.  

 
 
     
 

Service Wide - 
Visor Wipes  

To purchase visor wipes for use by Road Safety to improve motorcycle safety.  

This was part of a larger order of 1,000 visor wipes to buy in bulk and sharing the cost between the Unitaries which reduces the 
overall cost of the items. 

Service Wide - 
CF&RS Choir  

Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service Choir was the first fire and rescue service choir and has continued to build its reputation since its 
establishment in 2013 by representing both Cheshire Fire & Rescue Service and all fire services both locally and nationally. 
The choir continues with the support of the Fire Authority and Principle Officers to utilise its positive PR for the good of the service 
under the guidance of Musical Director Ben Hamilton and Accompanist Wendy Dolby. 
 

P
age 98



Service wide - Beer 
Mats  

During the winter drink drive events the Police provided 
10,000 beer mats, printed with both service logos and a 
‘None for the Road’ message. These were delivered to 
public houses across Cheshire by fire crews. These beer 
mats were well accepted by the Publicans and vendors.  

  
Service wide - 
Manchester 
Camerata  

Safer Together’ is a creative music and drama project that sees young people of primary school age (KS2) join together with 
firefighters and older members of the community to produce and perform an innovative show that looks to tackle key safety issues 
from an intergenerational perspective. 
 

Service Wide -
Plastic Helmets for 
Station Open Days 
2018  

To purchase plastic helmets for Station Open Days/Events.  

Service Wide – 
Tread Readers 

In order to assist in the Engagement and Education of road users Tyre Scanners were purchased. They are hugely beneficial and are 
used by trained members of local authorities and Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service to accurately check tyre condition and then to be 
able to inform and educate the public of the tread condition across the full width of the wheel.  This is a hard copy record handed to 
the individual and also emailed to them on approval, this will be more effective in embedding the required message in relation to the 
current condition and future remedial requirements needed to ensure safe tyres on the vehicles. 
 
Also to be used in partnership with the Fire Fighters Charity and Highways England at this years Charity Car wash events.           

 

 

 

 

            

                           

P
age 99



Service Wide - 
Prevention Dept. 
Equipment for 
vulnerable people 
 

A range of equipment for use at high risk domestic dwellings where vulnerable people are identified: 
Extension leads – To replace block adaptors are often overloaded which can cause fires. 
Metal Bins - issued to smokers who are identified as being at heightened risk of fire due to the poor management of smoking 
materials. 
Deep Fat Fryers – To replace chip pans  
Fleece Blankets – Part of the affordable warmth initiatives (Cheshire East only) 
 
 
 

CWAC Multi 
agency Impact 
event 

Multi agency Impact held within Ellesmere Port town centre 
on Thursday 27th July 2017. Objective of the event was for 
local partners to work closely together to engage and deliver 
their individual key safety messages to local businesses. Aim 
of the event was to visit approx. 200 premises. Fire Authority 
members and local councillors supported the event to 
promote safety in the town centre. 
 
  

Halton Station 
Open Days – 
Widnes & Runcorn  

Assisted by local Police, Fire Cadets, On-Call Teams, FF 
Charity and Volunteers. 
The days proved to be a great success, crews got the 
opportunity to engage with our local community to discuss 
and educate in a wide range of topics including Road 
Safety, with two live RTC demonstrations extricating a live 
casualty (with fire cadets) and Fire safety advice. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

          
    

P
age 100



Service Wide 
Station Open Days 
2017-18 & 2018-19 

Representatives from the police and ambulance, Volunteers, 
advocates and the Station’s Cadet Unit carried out 
demonstrations throughout the days including kitchen 
safety, RTC and information relating to the role of the 
Cadets. An NWAS first responder also attended providing 
the general public with Defib awareness, with children also 
completing CPR on a manikin with the best performance of 
the day winning a bike. 
The operational crews carried out RTC demonstrations, and 
specialist vehicles attended, such as the aerial appliance, 
demonstrating their capabilities during the days as well. 
 

 
 

Phoenix Park 
Experience (PPX) 
event for youths 
and families 
Phoenix Park 
Runcorn 
 
 

Multi agency event involving the Kitchen Safety Unit and a 
Safety tour 
Approx. 600 engagements with young children and families 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Victoria Park 
Experience (VPX) 
event – Victoria 
Park, Widnes 
 

A multi agency event consisting of CFRS, Police, Widnes 
Vikings, local cricket club etc. providing demos and activities 
for the residents of Widnes. Great opportunity for community 
engagement with over 2000 visitors.  
 

 

 

 

 

Joint Emergency 
Services Day – 
Runcorn FS 
 

Runcorn FFs engaged with over 150 members of the public. 
Crews ran a scenario which simulated a drink driver and a 
passenger requiring the fire service to cut them free. 
Cheshire Police were on hand and simulated a drink drive 
test at the roadside which resulting in the driver being 
arrested. Other activities included a smoke tent, Driver 
simulator & kitchen display unit. Cheshire Police had a stand 

 

P
age 101



and the children loved trying out the riot gear. There was 
also a beat the Fire-fighter getting dressed challenge. 
 

Boats & Hoses – 
Runcorn FS 
 

Now in its 4th year this was the annual narrow boat trip along 
the Bridgewater Canal with a number of elderly Halton 
residents. The event linked in with Older Persons Week and 
the isolation of older people. The trip was a great success and 
new friendships were created between two of the guests who 
have arranged to meet up. 

    
Warrington Wolves 
Foundation 
Primary Schools 
Pre Match 7s 
Challenge Cup. 

The Foundation Pre Match Challenge Cup will be supported 
by CFRS and will promote positive messages through a 
programme of activity which includes assemblies, certificates 
and match day activities. 

 
Drowning 
Prevention Week - 
Warrington 

Crews provided an interactive and dynamic show of their 
swift water rescue technique capability to complement the 
skills the children were being taught in relation to rescue 
following a 10 week water safety programme. UPG funded 
water bottles with a safety message which were given to all 
the young people at all the sessions (approx. 1500) 

     

P
age 102



Victoria Park 
Experience (VPX) 
event –  
Victoria Park 
Warrington 

Now in its 10th Year, this event is held every Tuesday in 
August for younger people during the school summer 
holidays to occupy them and discourage them from 
engaging in anti social behaviour. Included in the event are 
a range of activities with many partner organisations 
attending and contributing to the costs. Over 11000 
attended this year. 

 
Macmillan Coffee 
Morning – 
Wilmslow Fire 
Station 

The funding bid was to purchase coffee, cafetieres, tea, 
milk, sugar, biscuits, cakes, cake stands, decorations and 
sundries.  Cakes/cup cakes were made and brought in by 
the Station personnel to ensure a minimal cost was incurred 
to host the event. Gave an opportunity to raise fire 
safety/road safety messages to fit in with service aims and 
objectives and additionally promote awareness of cancer 
research and raise funds for cancer research.  This event 
has taken place in both 2017 and 2018 and has helped raise 
hundreds of pounds for charity. 

 
 

Congleton In 
Bloom 2017 – 
Cheshire East 

Congleton Town Council was taking part in the Britain in 
Bloom event and the Service was approached to participate.  
To enhance the Stations participation, it was proposed by 
the FF’s at Congleton that 10 hanging baskets displaying 
the events theme colours (Gold) should be displayed around 
the Station. The current raised flower bed (from previous 
years funding bids) displayed a road safety mosaic and was 
planted in front of a row of sunflowers and was visible from 
the road.   

 

P
age 103



CWAC - Bonfire 
Diversionary 
events - Wharton 

Working in partnership with Cheshire Police, CWAC, WVHT, PCSO’s, Active Cheshire and Community Groups to provide a variety of 
youth engagement activities across a six week period. (Street Football and Boxing / Boxercise training). 

CWAC – 
Winsford(Wharton) 
Pizza & Smoothie 
Event 

Work with CWAC, WVHT, PCSO’s and Community Groups to provide a variety of youth engagement activities centred on cooking 
health snacks.  The objective of the project is to provide an opportunity to engage with local youths and deliver fire safety information 
to them over the bonfire period. This will include, malicious calls, fire setting and anti social behaviour. 

Petty Pool Make a 
Difference Week 
CWAC 

On the 9th October 2017 Northwich Fire Station was host to 
the Petty Pool Trust College to help facilitate the ‘Make a 
Difference Week’ they organise yearly. UPG money was 
used to purchase refreshments. 
The day was an initiative organised between the College 
and Northwich Fire Station that enables the students with 
learning difficulties to undertake community based tasks 
within a safe environment to make that difference and 
contribute to local areas. 
The original proposal was to complete outside property 
maintenance on the grounds such as fence painting, 
however the week prior to the event this was adjusted to 
station based operational tasks.  
The students completed tasks such as cleaning of the 
appliance inside and out along with checking operational 
equipment for cleanliness.  
The students enjoyed the responsibilities and routines of 
being a fire fighter for the day and understood the 
importance of operational preparedness and equipment 
maintenance. 

 

Beanie Hats/Bag 
Tags/Cycle Lights 
– Cheshire East & 
CWAC 

The Watches at Crewe and Congleton Fire Stations 
distributed bright, warm CFRS ‘Be Safe Be Seen’ children’s 
beanie hats. 

The hats assist crews to engage with different vulnerable 
road user groups and adjust their attitude, knowledge and 
behaviour. 

LED cycle lights and bag tags were also provided and were 
used to engage with adults and children alike keeping them 
safe when close to roads whilst walking/cycling to/from 
school and undertaking activity or exercise. 

 

P
age 104



 

 
Alsager Christmas 
Market – Cheshire 
East 

Alsager Fire Station attended Alsager Christmas Market to 
promote awareness of CFRS winter and Christmas safety 
campaigns and other key safety themes to reduce the 
number of accidental dwelling fires and road traffic collisions 
through proactive intervention.  Funding was for the stand at 
the market. 

  
Christmas Trees 
CWAC 

Christmas Trees were sponsored in both Winsford and 
Chester Cathedral to promote safety messages. 

 
Multi Action 
Impact Event 

To provide catering for the multi action impact event held in Crewe Town Centre in February 2018.  The objective of the event was for 
local partners to work closely together to engage and deliver their individual key safety messages to local businesses and members 

P
age 105



(20/02/18) – 
Protection Dept. – 
Cheshire East 

of the public. The event aimed to visit approx. 200 premises. This community engagement in Crewe town centre took place with 
partners, Fire Authority members and local councillors supporting the event. 

A34 Bypass Event 
– Cheshire East 

To purchase a scrap car and refreshments for the A34 bypass event - To enable crews to engage with members of the public (vehicle 
drivers) at Stanley Green Retail Park on the A34 Handforth, to promote, highlight and educate users of the A34 which has been high 
lighted by station within Cheshire action plan as high risk road network for KSI’s 

 
Pointy Fingers – 
Cheshire East, 
Halton & 
Warrington 

To purchase “smoke alarm testers” – see photo.  The 
merchandise is given to any older person engaged with, 
within Cheshire East, Halton & Warrington Unitary areas to 
assist in testing their smoke detectors.   

This piece of equipment also provides a reminder to the 
occupier to test their alarms.  

 

 
Congleton In 
Bloom 2018 – 
Cheshire East 

As in 2017 Congleton Town Council took part in the Britain in Bloom event and the Service again participated.  

 
Alsager Carnival – 
Cheshire East 

To purchase Sixth Sense Items to promote safety messages 
at Alsager Carnival. 

 
 

P
age 106



Breathing Space – 
Cheshire East 

To provide 2 large round picnic tables for Crewe Fire Station 
- The provision of 2 picnic benches to be situated on the 
station grounds for use by all staff (green and grey book) 
and visitors/ users of the station. This provision will enable 
staff to get outside in the fresh air, to maximise their rest 
periods, take a break away from their desks to support 
positive wellbeing and mental health.  

It will also be used by Cadet groups and Princes Trust and 
any other visitors invited to the station. It will act as an 
additional space for break out meetings and training when 
there are numerous groups on station which due to the 
design and layout of Crewe Fire station can impact on the 
available space.   

  

Multi Action 
Impact Event 
(August 2018) – 
Protection Dept. – 
Cheshire East 

To provide catering for the multi action impact event held in Macclesfield Town Centre in August 2018.  The objective of the event is 
for local partners to work closely together to engage and deliver their individual key safety messages to local businesses and 
members of the public. Aim of the event was to visit approx. 200 premises. The event involved partners, Fire Authority members and 
local councillors. 
 
 

CWAC – Ellesmere 
Port Boxing Club 

Funding to support an existing amateur boxing club in Ellesmere Port. 

The club, Golden Star ABC, has a longstanding history within the local community, but has relied massively on the coaches spending 
large amounts of their own money, to sustain the club and keep it open for the use of the local youths. 

The funding is to support the long term future of the club, with the procurement of additional equipment, which will raise awareness in 
sport and wellbeing, but also encourage youths off the street into a disciplined, inclusive and respectful environment. 

CWAC – Air Fryers Purchase of air fryers for use at identified high risk domestic dwellings where vulnerable people are identified. They reduce the risk to 
the most at risk groups of our community including over 65’s. Target households include those who have already suffered an 
accidental dwelling fire as a result of unsafe cooking practices. High risk dwellings are identified by advocates through the safe and 
well process as well as the ‘Post Fire Advocate’ and operational crews. 

CWAC - CO2 
Detectors 

In May Northwich crews carried out a boat safety week initiative on at least a couple of the days. Crews visited many of the 
Narrowboats delivering Safe and Well visits driving home the importance of safety near the water and dangers of using gas products 
on confined spaces and provided Carbon Monoxide (CO2) detectors where appropriate. 

P
age 107



 
Penketh Primary 
School Reading 
Project 

Blue Watch Penketh have started a literacy project at 
Penketh Primary school to encourage young children who 
struggle or are reluctant readers to enjoy reading, with 
crews attending the school to read with the pupils on a 
regular basis. Through UPG funding a bank of books have 
been purchased, chosen from a list provided by the school, 
which are stored on station. The students will be rewarded 
with a book which they will 'win' for the school library if they 
show good progress or perform particularly well. Certificates 
from CFRS are presented to the student in an assembly. 
Each book will be stamped to indicate it was donated by 
CFRS as part if the project. The progress of the childrens’ 
reading will be monitored and recorded by the school so that 
we can have a measure of the impact of our intervention. 
  

 

 
 
 

 

Halton – Annual 
contribution to the 
Bonfire Initiative 

This initiative has been running successfully since 2008 in conjunction with the Tasking & Co-Ordination Group and Halton Borough 
Council (Waste Management) to alleviate issues surrounding the bonfire period. The initiative is led by the Tasking & Co-Ordination 
Group, Halton Borough Council (Waste Management) and Halton Housing Trust all price match the funding CFRS contribute of 
£500.00 

Halton’s Mayor 
Town Hall Open 
Day 

This is an annual event that the Halton UPG contribute to where the Mayor invites local charities, school choirs & families for a 
Christmas celebration. 
Charities have an opportunity to fundraise & there are various stalls. Attendance is estimated at 400+ people from Halton. 
Approximately 200 school children from a range of borough schools sing in choirs to provide a Carol Service.  Each child is provided 
with a goody bag. 

Warrington Radley 
Common Boxing 
Club Project 

The Radley Common Project is supported by CFRS and promotes positive messages through a programme of diversion and 
supervision to endeavour to reduce the levels of ASB in Warrington’s WA2 area, currently the most prolific for deliberate fire setting. 

The programme also aims to provide motivation and develop relationships between key authorities and local youths and young 
people 

P
age 108



Road Safety Event 
– Blue Watch 
Warrington in 
partnership with 
Decathlon 

A safety day at the Decathlon store in Warrington to coincide with the Summer Road Safety week in August 2018.  The event will 
include a stand with a bicycle in poor repair and a manikin dressed poorly for cycling.  Residents can enter a competition to spot 5 
hazards with the bike and 5 hazards with the rider (no Helmet, using headphones, untied laces.....etc). 

Correct entries will be pulled from a bucket at the end of the day with the prizes being vouchers to spend in store for a child or adult 
cycling safety gear. 

Whilst the child is doing the competition the parents are spoken to and given leaflets about safe cycling. 
Hough Green 
Widnes Impact 
Event 

Collaboration work with Cheshire Police, local authority and housing providers, to focus on the issues of arson and and ASB related 
crime within the Hough Green area of Widnes looking to protect life and property through advice. It includes involvement of Partners 
to develop services to meet the needs of local communities. 

Fairfield & Howley 
Warrington Impact 
Event 

Collaboration work with Cheshire Police, local authority and housing providers, to focus on the issues of arson and and ASB related 
crime within the Fairfield & Howley areas of Warrington aiming to protect life and property through advice. Partners are involved to 
develop services to meet the needs of local communities. 

Bewsey & 
Whitecross 
Warrington Impact 
Event 

Collaboration work with Cheshire Police, local authority and housing providers, to focus on the issues of arson and and ASB related 
crime within the Bewsey & Whitecross areas of Warrington. Protect life and property through advice. Partners are involved to develop 
services to meet the needs of local communities. 

Warrington Deaf 
Awareness Event 

Following UPG funding an interpreter was employed to assist with communications between crews and the Warrington and District 
Society for deaf people during this Fire Safety event.  

 
 

P
age 109



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 to Item 6
Performance and Overview

5th September 2018
Unitary UPG Finances

All 4 Unitaries – Cheshire East, Cheshire West & Chester, Halton and Warrington receive £25k each 
financial year from Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service.

Cheshire East UPG

2017-18
Total spent in 2017/18 - £19,282.26

2018-19
Total spent so far - £7,450.40
Total committed spend - £23,262.73

Cheshire West and Chester UPG

2017-18
Total spent in 2017/18 - £21,414.39

2018-19
Total spent so far - £14,659.60
Total committed spend - £30,812.57

Halton UPG

2017-18
Total spent in 2017/18 - £14,635.19

2018-19
Total spent so far - £4,155.30
Total committed spend - £12,342.52

Warrington UPG

2017-18
Total spent in 2017/18 - £16,359.88

2018-19
Total spent so far - £15,172.08
Total committed spend - £15,607.09

Page 111



This page is intentionally left blank



CHESHIRE FIRE AUTHORITY

MEETING OF: PERFORMANCE & OVERVIEW COMMITTEE       
DATE: 05 SEPTEMBER 2018
REPORT OF: DIRECTOR OF TRANSFORMATION
AUTHOR: MELANIE HOCKENHULL
_____________________________________________________________

SUBJECT:       ANNUAL EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY 
REPORT

_____________________________________________________________

Purpose of this Report

1. As part of the Service’s commitment and compliance with the Equality 
Act 2010, a report is published on an annual basis which contains 
comprehensive equality monitoring information – see Appendix A.  In 
addition to the information found within the report, this covering report 
seeks to provide Members with a summary of progress and the key 
achievements and progress during the year relating to Equality, Diversity 
and Inclusion (EDI).  

Recommended: that  
 

[1] That Members review the content of the Equality Monitoring 
Report 2017-2018 and approve for publication.

[2] That Members note the content of this summary report.

Background

2. In addition to the production of the annual monitoring report, equality 
monitoring information is gathered on a quarterly basis both internally in 
respect of employment practices and externally in relation to community 
engagement initiatives.  This information once analysed is presented to 
the Equality Steering Group (ESG) for scrutiny and discussion.  

3. Where trends are identified whether positive or adverse, appropriate 
interventions are discussed which can range from further analysis to get 
a better understanding of the issues, direct action to mitigate any 
negative impact or the development of initiatives to capitalise on areas 
of success and/or strength. 
 

4. The end of year monitoring report attached at Appendix A was reviewed 
and discussed at the July meeting of the ESG.

Summary of Key Achievements, Progress and Results during 
2017/18

5. An early decision made during 2017/18 was to retain the EDI portfolio 
within the newly formed CFRS Transformation team.  This was in 

Page 113

Agenda Item 7



preference to keeping it within the scope for transfer to one of the Joint 
Corporate Service teams within Cheshire Constabulary as part of the 
blue light collaboration.  

6. This decision was underpinned by Service’s desire to ensure that the 
EDI agenda remained a key priority for the Service.  It also maintained 
the profile of EDI and provided direct access to Senior Officers who could 
ensure the appropriate investment in time and resources.   The new 
Chief Fire Officer and Chief Executive has endorsed this and shown 
personal commitment by assuming the role of chair of the ESG.  

Key achievements during 2017/18 include: 

 Moving from 8th place in the Stonewall Workplace Equality Index in 
2017 to 4th place during 2018.  This showcased Cheshire Fire and 
Rescue Service as the most inclusive UK emergency service in 
respect of LGBT and also as the top employer in the North West of 
England.  

 Re-accreditation as a Disability Confident Employer.

 Introduction of an exemplary maternity and adoption policy which is 
currently the best in class across the fire sector. 

 Establishment of a positive action working group to ensure a more 
focused approach to improving the Service’s ability to attract a 
diverse workforce.  

Initiatives to promote diversity in recruitment arising out of this 
group have included attending female specific community events 
such as Race for Life; visiting local mosques and Gurdwaras; 
holding taster days on station; creation of video diaries and blogs; 
and promoting buddying and fitness training opportunities to 
potential recruits.  The recent success of these initiatives will be 
measured upon conclusion of the 2018/19 wholetime recruitment 
campaign.  

 Delivery of specific training in conjunction with Stonewall on LGBT 
awareness seminar to Prince’s Trust staff and apprentices to 
improve confidence and support towards LGBT young people.  

Progress and Analysis – Key Headlines

7. The Equality Monitoring report is divided into two sections:  Internal 
Employment (including recruitment monitoring) and Service Delivery 
which covers the monitoring and analysis of external service users who 
either interact with the service in respect of prevention and protection 
activities or have been affected by community risks and incidents.  

Page 114



8. In relation to the 2017-2018 Monitoring Report key areas of interest in 
the two sections include the following.  

Employment 

Area Commentary

Staff Profile The Service employs 895 staff, the majority of which 
are white British males, aged between 35 and 44. 
This trend is similar to that reported in previous 
years. 

Gender Profile In 2017/18 there was a net increase of 2 female staff
in operational roles as a result of the 2017 whole time 
recruitment campaign in addition to a further 2 
female apprentices. Although this did not 
change the overall % of women across the service in 
operational roles which remained at 6%, it did 
provide positive reinforcement and highlight the 
value of the work around positive action.  

Volunteers There are currently 195 volunteers, the majority of 
whom are aged between 17 and 24, male and white 
British.  However, during 2017/18 the percentage of 
female volunteers increased by 7% which is 
encouraging.  

Leavers There were 52 more leavers in 2017/18 than in 
2016/17, with a 6% increase in the number of female 
leavers and a 3% increase in the number of LGBT 
leavers.  This was impacted by the initial tranches of 
support staff transferring to Cheshire Constabulary 
under blue light collaboration.

Recruitment

Area Commentary

Green book 
recruitment 
(excluding 
apprentices)

55% of green book applicants were women, most 
commonly aged 25-35 and 93% white British. 
Typically green book posts attract female applicants 
but in this instance there was an increase in the 
number of LGBT candidates who represented 4.5% 
of new starters.  

Grey book 
recruitment 
(excluding on-
call and 
wholetime 
recruitment)

 5% of grey book applicants were women, most 
commonly aged between 36 and 45 and 93% White 
British. 1% of applicants identified as LGBT. This 
category includes operational staff engaged as a 
result of on call migration and inter brigade transfer 
processes.

Apprentices 12 apprentices were recruited in 2017/18 in addition 
to the 11 apprentices that were recruited the year 
previously.  The 2017/18 intake increased the 
representation of female apprentices to 26%.  16% 

Page 115



in the second cohort identified as LGBT which was 
a further increase.

Wholetime 14 candidates were recruited as wholetime 
firefighters in 2017/18.  Of those who were 
successful, 7% were from a BAME background, 
14% were women and 29% identified as LGBT. 7% 
declared a disability.  The LGBT result represented 
a 5% increase over the previous year’s intake.

On call 
recruitment

19 new on-call firefighters were recruited during 
2017/18, with 16% being female, 5% from a BAME 
background and 5% identifying as LGBT.

Community Engagement

Area Commentary

Safe and well 
delivery

Research shows that personal fire-risk increases 
with age, thus the majority of Safe and Well 
Assessments are delivered to residents aged over 
65. The makeup of residents receiving a safe and 
well visit was in line with this targeted risk 
methodology. Twelve residents (1.3%) identified as 
trans, suggesting that, based on a national a average 
of 1%, Cheshire has a higher older trans community. 

Safe and well 
resident 
satisfaction 
surveys

12% of responders to Safe and Well Resident 
Satisfaction surveys identified as Hindu, which we 
anticipate is an error due to the format of the report.  
Currently the census figures for Cheshire identify 
only 1% of the population as Hindu.  The format of 
the report is in the process of being addressed to 
prevent further mistaken entries.   

Youth 
Engagement 
Activities

There is encouraging diversity within the young 
people taking part in youth engagement activities.  
Typically aged between 15 and 17, females 
represent 33%.  

Business 
premises 
audits

The number of outcomes following business 
premises audits against people of Chinese origin 
has decreased from 2016/17 but by contrast have 
increased against people of Asian origin (although 
numbers are small and inspections  are predicated 
on risk, not ethnicity).

Injuries and 
fatalities as a 
result of fire

The age of those who have suffered injuries and 
fatalities as a result of fire was much younger in 
2017/18 than 2016/17.  Most injuries were suffered 
by those aged between 17 and 24 and proportionally 
most serious injuries occurred to those aged 
between 45 and 54.  However, numbers are 

Page 116



relatively small to make definite conclusions and 
prevention work will have impacted on the number of 
injuries to those aged over 65.  This trend will be fed 
into performance reporting.

Injuries and 
fatalities 
occurring as a 
result of 
accidental fires 
in the home

Those aged between 45 and 54 suffered the most 
number of serious injuries and most injuries in 
general.  The numbers are too small to make 
definite conclusions and prevention work will have 
impacted on the number of injuries to those aged 
over 65. This trend will be fed into performance 
reporting.

Challenges and ongoing priorities for 2018/19

9. Recruitment – There is both a local and a national focus on the need to 
recruit a more diverse cohort of operational staff.  In particular, this is 
focused on recruiting more women and members of the BAME and 
LGBT communities into the Fire and Rescue Service.   Whilst the Service 
has invested a significant amount of time into positive action, and has 
successfully recruited more under-represented groups into the 
operational roles in recent times, diversifying the workforce remains a 
key priority for the Service.  In 2018/19, the Service intends to put in 
place a high profile positive action campaign that demonstrates a 
genuine aspiration to develop a workforce that is reflective of the 
community it serves i.e. 50/50 in terms of gender.  

10. Staff profile – The Service is similarly committed to ensuring that it 
retains a diverse workforce once staff are in post and that staff from 
under-represented groups have access to development and promotion 
opportunities.  Therefore, any campaigns developed and referred to 
above will also aspire to ensure that the Service retains a more diverse 
workforce and offers appropriate development and promotion 
opportunities.  

11. Leavers – As referred to above, we know that the transfer of staff under 
Blue Light Collaboration impacted on workforce diversity during 2017/18 
as a significant number of employees who worked in support 
departments were female.    Further analysis is underway to determine 
the extent of impact on workforce diversity in respect of the remaining 
tranches of staff who transferred to the Constabulary during 2018/19.  
The results will be presented to the Equality Steering Group in October.

12. Stonewall Workplace Equality Index – Work is continuing to 
strengthen the Service’s commitment and reputation for LGBT inclusion.  
During 2018/19 the Service has committed to signing up to be a launch 
partner in respect of Stonewall’s trans awareness training.  There is also 
a strong appetite to work more closely with older LGBT community 
groups to support them and reduce vulnerabilities.  The service has also 
started to work alongside private sector employers to expand its 

Page 117



knowledge and understanding of LGBT issues and to arrange joint 
events.      

13. Safe and Well visits – Given the higher than expected number of trans 
people receiving safe and well visits, the Service’s prevention teams 
need to be equipped to support the older LGBT community.  As such, 
the Service has engaged Opening Doors London, an LGBT Charity 
focused on supporting older LGBT people, to provide training to its 
prevention teams.  This training will focus on how prevention teams can 
best support the needs of older LGBT people when carrying out safe and 
well visits. 

14. Youth Engagement Schemes – The Service’s youth engagement 
schemes attract more diverse participants than compared to its 
workforce.  As such, the Service intends to explore how its youth 
engagement schemes can act as a talent pipeline for its workforce.  

15. Business Premises Audits – Business protection outcomes are 
decided on the basis of a risk matrix, under which ethnicity is not a risk 
factor.  However, previous reports highlighted high levels of 
enforcement, action plans and advisory outcomes being issued against 
people of Chinese origin following business premises audits due to the 
types of businesses such as takeaways being operated (not because of 
ethnicity).  This year’s report has shown a reduction in these outcomes, 
but increases in the percentage of enforcements and action plans 
against businesses of Asian origin (for the same reasons explained).  
Therefore focused engagement work will again be carried out throughout 
the year.

Financial Implications

16. There may be limited costs associated with some of the actions needed 
to ensure that the Service is addressing the trends identified within the 
report, mainly associated with holding events and courses. These costs 
will be factored into budgets of the relevant department or met from 
within the Equalities Budget. 

Legal Implications

17. Production of the Annual Equality Monitoring Report ensures that the 
Authority complies with its statutory responsibilities and is compliant with 
the Equality Act 2010.

Equality and Diversity

18. The Annual Equality Monitoring Report is produced to reinforce the 
Service’s commitment to the EDI agenda and to remove any barriers or 
adverse impacts to our employment policies/practices and service 
delivery.

Page 118



CONTACT: DONNA LINTON, FIRE AND RESCUE SERVICE HQ, 
WINSFORD TEL [01606] 868804

BACKGROUND PAPERS : None

Appendix A - Annual Equality Monitoring Report 2017-18

Page 119



This page is intentionally left blank



   

 
Annual Equality Monitoring report 
Employment and community engagement 
2017-18  
{Official Sensitive} 

 

 

Page 121

donna.linton_2
Typewritten Text
Appendix 1 to Item 7Performance and Overview5th September 2018



 

 

 
 
 

A picture of Cheshire 
Cheshire consists of four unitary Councils: Cheshire East, Cheshire West and Chester, Halton 
and Warrington. Combined, the population of Cheshire is just over one million: Cheshire 
East has the largest population, with Halton having the smallest. Over the next fifteen years, 
the population of Cheshire is predicted to rise by approximately 60,000. 
 
 
Cheshire covers approximately 919 square miles, with a strategic crossroads in the national 
motorway infrastructure, including the M6, M56, M53 and M62 – as well as having the UK’s 
third largest airport at Manchester, as well as Liverpool Airport on its borders. 
 
 
Cheshire is an area of diversity, both socially and economically. Cheshire comprises areas of 
affluence, together with areas of multiple 
deprivation in each of the four council 
areas. There are also large rural 
expanses, areas of heavy industry and a 
number of urban areas. There are currently 
440,000 households with an average of 2.33 
people per household. The average age of 
residents is 40.4 years. Approximately 20% 
of Cheshire’s residents are aged over 65, 
whereas the proportion of residents under 
24 is falling. 
 
 
According to the most recent Census, 
Cheshire’s population is predominantly made up of White British 
residents, who account for 96.9% of the population. After Christianity, the second most 
popular religion is Islam, although 22% of residents indicate they do not have a religion. 
 
 
Although there are no official figures, estimates suggest that approximately 200 residents 
identify as transgender and between 52,176 and 73,047 residents identify as lesbian, gay or 
bisexual (LGB). This has been calculated using Government assumptions that suggest 
between 5‐7% of the population identify as LGB.  
 
In terms of disability, approximately 19% of Cheshire residents are living with a long term 
health problem or disability, which impacts on their ability to carry out day‐to‐day activities. 
  

Equality and Diversity Monitoring 

Employment 

2017-18  

Page 122



 

 
Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service monitors equality and diversity information internally across 
several areas of the organisation as detailed below. 
 
Staff in post  
The age, gender, ethnic origin, religion, sexual orientation and any registered disabilities are 
recorded for all staff.  The Service intends to monitor gender identity across all categories once 
migration to a new workforce system has been completed. This information ensures that the make‐
up of our organisation strives to reflect the community we serve. Trends are identified and 
monitored in comparison to previous quarters. 
 
Volunteers 
The age, gender, ethnic origin, religion, sexual orientation and any registered disabilities are 
recorded for all volunteers.  Figures quoted reflect those in post at the end of March 2018. 
 
Female operational employees 
In line with historic nationally set indicators, we monitor the percentage of operational employees 
who are female.  This also details the split of female firefighters against crewing types.  
Crewing types included are: 
Whole‐time – staff working a 2 day rota of days and 2 nights, followed by 4 days away from work. 
DC1 –This is a self‐rostering system, crewed Whole‐time Monday –Friday from 09:00 – 19:00 and 
on call outside of these hours. 
Nucleus – staff working days on agreed shifts. This is 3 days 12hr shifts 07.00 – 19.00 with 3 days off 
On Call – staff contracted to be available to attend incidents for an agreed number of hours a week, 
from work or home locations. 
 
Full details of the agreements are on the intranet and internet  
 
Recruitment 
The Service is dedicated to monitoring all vacancy applications to ensure that all individuals feel 
eligible to apply and be considered for new posts.  As such, the Service monitors applications 
across a range of characteristics. 
 

 
Staff Training 
As part of the Service’s commitment to developing a workforce able to deliver its vision, it is 
dedicated to staff training.  Data is collated for training across the organisation, from regular 
mandatory firefighting modules to leadership development programmes in addition to any specific 
job related support staff training. 
 
Disciplines and grievances 
Data was also collated on disciplines and grievances to ensure a consistent approach to internal 
procedures.  This is currently being monitored but due to the small data set, it is not possible to 
include the data in this report for reasons of confidentiality and anonymity.     

  

 

Equality and Diversity Monitoring 

Employment 

2017-18  

Page 123



  
Page 124



 

Staff in Post 

 Q4 2017/18 Commentary 

Staff included 895 This shows an annual decrease of 26 
employees since 2016/17. 

 
Age 

 

As with previous trends, staff are most 
commonly aged between 35‐44.  This remains 
in line with national statistics for employment 
by age group.   

 
Gender 

 

There has been an annual net reduction of 13 
female employees and 13 male employees 
since 2016/17.  The proportion of female staff 
has reduced by 1% from 2016/17. 

Ethnicity 

 

95% of staff identify as White British, 1% 
higher than in 2016/17. 
 
*11 staff identified 8 other ethnicities which are not 
shown in the summarised chart for reasons of 
confidentiality. The chart shows the top 6 ethnicities of 
CRFS staff. 

Disability 

 

96% of staff members recorded no disability, 
which has remained the same since 2014/15. 
3.4% of Operational staff recorded a disability 
compared to 6.3% of Support staff.  

Religion 

 

21% of staff declared no religion, an increase 
of 3% from 2016/17.  Christianity remains the 
most common religion amongst staff.  

 
Sexual 

Orientation 

 

There was an increase of 3 staff declaring a 
sexual orientation of Gay/Lesbian or Bisexual 
compared to 2016/17.   Furthermore, There 
has been decreases in the number of staff 
declining to state or not stating a sexual 
orientation.  

56

202

291 272

67

7
0

50
100
150
200
250
300
350

17‐24 25‐34 35‐44 45‐54 55‐64 Over
65

Female
172
19%

Male
723
81%

846

11 9 8 7 3
0

200
400
600
800

1000

N
858
96%

Y
37
4%

439

185 185

47 29 7 3
0

100
200
300
400
500

Christian Decline
to State

No
religion

at all

Not
Stated

Other Buddhist Muslim

689

144
41 14 7

0

200

400

600

800

Heterosexual Decline to
state

Not Stated Gay/Lesbian Bisexual

Page 125



 

Females in Operational Roles 

 Q4 2017/18  Commentary 

Number of 
Female 

Operational 
Staff 

 
Overall – 40 

 
On Call – 17 

Whole‐time – 20  
Day Crewing/DC1 – 1 

Nucleus – 2  

There has been an overall increase of 2 
women in operational roles compared to 
2016/17.  However, the proportion of female 
operational staff remains the same at 6%.   

 
Breakdown of 

Female 
Operational 

Staff 

 

Wholetime is currently the most popular shift 
system for female operational staff. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

1 17 20 2

0 10 20 30 40

DC1 On Call Wholetime Nucleus

Page 126



 

Volunteers in post 
 

 End of Q4 2017/18  Commentary 

Volunteers 
included 

195 There has been an annual increase of 7 
volunteers from 2016/17. 

 
Age 

 

Volunteers are most commonly aged 17‐24, in 
line with national research and previous 
trends.  However, there has been an annual 
reduction of 8 volunteers from this age group 
since 2016/17 with an increase of 6 in the 25‐
35 age group and 12 in the 56‐65 age group.   

 
Gender 

 

The percentage of female volunteers has risen 
from 29% in 2016/17 to 36% in 2016/17.  

Ethnicity 

 

86% of volunteers declared their ethnicity as 
White British, a 3% annual increase from 
2016/17.  The proportion of employees 
declining to state their ethnicity decreased 
from 15% in 2016/17 to 11% in 2017/18. 

Disability 

 

There has been an annual decrease of 1% of 
volunteers declaring a disability from 2016/17 
(6%) to 2017/18 (5%).  

Religion 

 

55% of volunteers declared their religion as 
Christianity.  This is the same as 2016/17. It is 
largely in line with census data and current 
employee data. 

 
Sexual 

Orientation 

 

The proportion of LGBT volunteers has 
increased slightly from 2016/17.  

 
 
 

45 41

25
30 30

24

0
0

10
20
30
40
50

17 ‐ 2425 ‐ 3536 ‐ 4546 ‐ 5556 ‐ 65 66+ Not
Stated

Male
125
64%

Female
70

36%

167

22 2 1 1 1
0

50
100
150
200

Total 
who 

stated 
disability

10
5%

Total who 
stated no 
disability

185
95%

107

48
36

3 1
0

50

100

150

Christian None Deline to
State

Other Buddhist

1 4

149

41

0
50

100
150
200

Page 127



 

Top 5% of Earners 
 

 End of Q4 2017/18  Commentary 

Staff included 46 The number remains the same as in 2016/17. 

 
Age 

 

As in 2016/17, the majority of the top 5% of 
earners are aged between 45‐54. The average 
age of staff in the top 5% of earners is 47.  

 
Gender 

 

The proportion of women in the top 5% of 
earners has reduced by 4% since 2016/17. This 
equates to a decrease of 2 female staff from 
the top 5% of earners. 

Ethnicity 

 

There has been a decrease of 1 person in the 
top 5% of earners identifying as white British 
and an increase of 1 person identifying as 
White – Irish since 2016/17. 

Disability 

 

The proportion of the top 5% of earners 
declaring a disability increased slightly by 3% in 
2017/18. 

Religion 

 

The majority of the top 5% of earners are 
Christian, in line with overall staff numbers 
and with previous years.   

 
Sexual 

Orientation 

 

The majority of the top 5% of earners are 
heterosexual, in line with overall staff 
numbers.  There was a decrease of 2 staff who 
did not state their sexual orientation. 

18
22

6

0

5

10

15

20

25

35‐44 45‐54 55‐64

Female
4

9%

Male
42

91%

44

2
0

10
20
30
40
50

White ‐ British White ‐ Irish

N
43

93%

Y
3

7%

31

6 4 1 4
0

10
20
30
40

5

40

1
0

10
20
30
40
50

Page 128



 

Recruitment to Roles other than On Call [Excluding Apprentices] 

 End of 2017/18 Q4 Commentary 

Number of 
adverts & 
applicants 

641 Applicants 
79 Adverts 

It is assumed that the inclusion of apprenticeship 
roles in recruitment statistics has skewed the 
figures somewhat, particularly to a younger age 
group.  As such, the following presents an analysis 
of recruitment excluding apprenticeship statistics. 

 
Age 

 

The most common age of applicants without 
apprentice data is 25‐35 which is in line with 
previous trends. However, the number of 
applicants aged 17‐24 has decreased significantly.  

 
Gender 

 
 

 

  
The proportion of women applying is slightly higher 
when apprentices are removed. It is still lower than 
reported in 2016/17. 

 
Ethnicity 

94% (597) White British 
2% (10) Any Other White 

1% (6) White Irish 
1% (6) Blank 

 
*22 applicants stated 11 ethnicities that 

are not shown in the above summary. 

The ethnicity of applicants largely remained the 
same with the exclusion of apprentice data, 
mirroring trends from previous years and quarters. 

Disability 
7% (46) applicants stated a 

disability 

The percentage of applicants declaring a disability 
largely remained the same with the exclusion of 
apprentice data. It increased from 5% in 2016/17.  

Religion 
56% (352) Christian 

32% (203) No Religion 
10% (64) Decline to State 

1% (9) Blank 

The percentage of applicants identifying as 
Christian increased slightly with the exclusion of 
apprentice data. Trends largely mirror trends from 
previous quarters and years. 
 
*13 applicants stated 4 other ethnicities which do not show 
in the summary list. 

 
Sexual 

Orientation 

 

The sexual orientation of applicants largely 
remained the same with the exclusion of 
apprentice data. There was a slight decrease in the 
% of LGBT applicants compared to 2016/17. 

 

85

194 179

133

41
1 8

0

50

100

150

200

250

Female
242
38%

Male
398
62%

(blank)
1

0%

560

55 17 5 4
0

200
400
600

Page 129



 

Recruitment to Green Book Roles (excluding Apprentices) 

 End of 2017/18 Q4 Commentary 

Number of 
adverts & 
applicants 

418 Applicants 
52 Adverts 

This is the first year green book recruitment has 
been analysed separately.  Trends will be reported 
in future years. 

 
Age 

 

Green book applicants were most commonly aged 
25‐35. 

 
Gender 

 
 

 

55% of applicants were women, much higher than 
the proportion of female applicants to grey book 
roles 

 
Ethnicity 

93% (390) White British 
1% (6) Any Other White 

1% (5) Blank 
0.7% (3) White & Asian 

*14 applicants stated 7 ethnicities that 
are not shown in the above summary. 

7% of applicants declared an ethnicity other than 
White British, slightly higher than the proportion in 
the workforce as a whole.   

Disability 
9% (36) applicants stated a 

disability 

The percentage of green book applicants declaring 
a disability is 5% higher than disabled colleagues in 
the workforce 

Religion 55% (228) Christian 
38% (157) No Religion 

4% (17) Decline to State 
2% (8) blank 

*8 applicants stated 3 other ethnicities 
which do not show in the summary list. 

The most commonly declared religion for green 
book applicants is Christianity, although a relatively 
high proportion (38%) indicated they did not have 
a religion. 

 
Sexual 

Orientation 

 

4.5% of green book applicants declared a sexual 
orientation other than heterosexual. 

 

 

 

 

75

123

87 84

41

1 7
0

20
40
60
80

100
120
140

Female
230
55%Male

187
45%

(blank)
1

0%

372

23 16 4 3
0

100
200
300
400

Page 130



 

Recruitment to Grey Book Roles  

 End of 2017/18 Q4 Commentary 

Number of 
adverts & 
applicants 

223 Applicants 
27 Adverts This excludes on‐call and wholetime recruitment 

 
Age 

 

Applicants were most commonly aged between 36‐
45, older than green book applicants. 

 
Gender 

 
 

 

5% of green book applicants were women, similar 
to the proportion of women in the Service’s 
operational workforce (6%). 

 
Ethnicity 

93% (207) White British 
2% (5) White Irish 

2% (4) Any Other White 
0.4% (1) Blank 

*6 applicants stated 6 ethnicities that 
are not shown in the above summary. 

Approximately 7% of applicants declared an 
ethnicity other than White British.   

Disability 
4% (10) applicants stated a 

disability 
Grey book applicants declared a disability in the 
same percentage as those in the workforce. 

Religion 56% (124) Christian 
21% (47) Decline to State 

21% (46) No Religion 
1% (3) Other 

*3 applicants stated 3 other ethnicities 
which do not show in the summary list. 

21% of grey book applicants indicated they did not 
have a religion, the same rate as in the workforce. 
 

 
Sexual 

Orientation 

 

0.9% of grey book applicants declared a sexual 
orientation other than heterosexual. 

 

 

 

 

 

10

71
92

49

0 0 1
0

20
40
60
80

100

Female
12
5%

Male
211
95%

188

32
1 1 1

0
50

100
150
200

Page 131



 

Recruitment to Apprentice roles 

 End of 2017/18 Q4 Commentary 

Number of 
adverts & 
applicants 

140 Applicants 
1 Advert 

This is the second year the Service has recruited a 
cohort of Firefighter and Community Safety 
Apprentices 

 
Age 

 

Applicants were most commonly aged 17‐24 

 
Gender 

 
 

 

13% of applicants were women, a similar 
percentage to the number of women applying to 
wholetime roles.   

 
Ethnicity 

94% (131) White British 
2% (3) Decline to State 

 
*6 applicants stated 6 ethnicities that 
are not shown in the above summary. 

Approximately 4% of applicants indicated an 
ethnicity other than White British, similar to the 
proportion in the workforce.  

Disability 
4% (5) applicants stated a 

disability 
Apprenticeship applicants declared a disability in 
the same percentage as those in the workforce. 

Religion 49% (69) No Religion 
44% (62) Christian 

5% (7) Decline to state 
1% (2) Muslim 

48% of apprenticeship applicants indicated they do 
not have a religion.  This is larger than other 
applicants and may be due to the younger age 
group of applicants.   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

107

31

2
0

20

40

60

80

100

120

17‐24 25‐35 36‐45

Male
122
87%

Female
18

13%

Page 132



 

Promotions 
 

 End of Q4 2017/18  Commentary 

Number of 
Promotions 

Total staff who received a  
promotion–120 

 
40 Permanent & 80 Temporary 

Slightly more promotions were made in 
2017/18 than in 2016/17. The largest 
difference was for On Call staff (+11). 

 
Age 

 

The majority of those promoted were aged 
between 35‐44. This is the same as seen in 
2016/17. 

 
Gender 

 

Men were over‐represented in 2017/18 
promotions compared to their proportional 
representation in the workforce.  There was 
also a 7% decrease in women being promoted 
compared to 2016/17.  This can be explained, 
at least in part, by the majority of promotions 
being available to operational staff where 
women are under‐represented, and the 
reduction in female support staff following 
bluelight collaboration.   

 
Ethnicity 

 

The majority of those promoted were White 
British, continuing trends from previous years. 

Disability 

 

The number of disabled staff being promoted 
is similar to the proportional representation of 
disabled staff in the workforce, although it 
does represent a reduction from 9% in 
2016/17.   

Religion 

 

The majority of staff promoted were Christian, 
continuing trends from previous years. 

 
Sexual 

Orientation 

 

The majority of staff promoted were 
Heterosexual, slightly lower than the 
proportional representation of heterosexual 
staff in the workforce. 

4

34

45

34

3

0

10

20

30

40

50

17 ‐ 24 25 ‐ 34 35 ‐ 44 45 ‐ 54 55 ‐ 64

Female
10
8%

Male
110
92%

115

1 1 1 1 1
0

50
100
150

Y
5

4%

N
115
96%

72

25
16

3 4
0

20

40

60

80

Christian Decline to
State

No
religion at

all

Not
Stated

Other

88

28
4

0

50

100

Heterosexual Decline to
state

Not Stated

Page 133



 

Training 
 

 End of Q4 17/18  Commentary 

Number of 
Employees 
who have 
attended 
Training 

926 (91%) staff have attended 
formal training.  

The percentage of staff having received formal 
training has increased from 70% in Q1 2017/18 
to 91% at the end of the year. 75% of support 
staff received training.  In addition, as this 
analysis includes training information for 
everyone in CFRS in 2017/18, it may include 
people who left before the end of the year. 

 
Age 

 

 
As with 2016/17, access to training tends to 
decline as employees become older.  This will 
continue to be monitored. 

 
Gender 

Total Male Staff – 818 
Male Staff who have attended 

training – 760 (93%) 
 

Total Female Staff – 204 
Female Staff who have attended 

training – 166 (81%) 
 

More men than women are accessing training 
opportunities.  However, the percentage of 
women accessing training opportunities has 
increased from 54% in Q1 to 81% at year end.  
This is in circumstances where the majority of 
female staff are support staff who may not 
have mandatory training. 

 
Ethnicity 

873/963 (91%) White British staff 
attended training.  

13/13 (100%) White Other staff 
attended training. 

9/10 (90%) Declined to state staff 
attended training.  

The majority of staff accessing training 
opportunities are White British, in line with 
workforce demographics.   

Disability 38/44 (86%) staff with a disability 
have attended training. 

888/978 (91%) staff who have not 
stated a disability have had access to 

training 
 

The number of staff declaring a disability who 
have received training has increased from 68% 
in Q1 to 86% at the end of the year.     

Religion 456/503 (91%) Christian staff 
attended training. 

198/212 (93%) decline to state staff 
attended training. 

182/207 (88%) No Religion staff 
attended training. 

 

The majority of staff accessing training 
opportunities are Christian, in line with 
workforce demographics.   

 
Sexual 

Orientation 

 

Lesbian and gay staff are accessing training 
opportunities to a lesser extent than other 
colleagues; however, the percentage of 
lesbian, gay and bisexual colleagues accessing 
training has increased from 63% in Q1 to 81% 
at year end.   

 
 

94% 94% 92% 91%
77%

44%

0%
20%
40%
60%
80%

100%

17‐24 25‐34 35‐44 45‐54 55‐64Over 65

90% 93%
76%

91% 89%

33%

0%
20%
40%
60%
80%

100%

Page 134



 

Leavers 
 

 End of Q4 2017/18 Commentary 

Number of 
Leavers 

169 
 

 
There were 52 more leavers in 2017/18 than in 
2016/17.  This can be explained in large part 
due to ongoing Bluelight collaboration.  An 
analysis of leavers (excluding those who have 
retired) is included at Appendix 2. 
 

 
Age 

 

Leavers were most commonly aged between 
45‐54, closely followed by those aged between 
35‐44 and 25‐34. This was slightly different to 
2016/17, when the most common leaving age 
group was 25‐34, however this group was 
closely followed by those aged between 45‐54. 

 
Gender 

 

The proportion of Female leavers has 
increased slightly to 36% in 2017/18, up from 
30% in 2016/17.  A large percentage of female 
staff are support staff.  As a result of bluelight 
collaboration, a number of female support 
staff have transferred to Cheshire Police, 
thereby to a large extent accounting for this 
increase.  

 
Ethnicity 

 

93% of leavers identify as white British, similar 
to the proportions in the general workforce.   

Disability 

 

5% of leavers identified as having a disability, 
again a slightly higher proportion than in the 
general workforce.  However, it is lower than 
the 9% recorded in 2016/17. 

Religion 

 

49% of leavers identified as Christian, similar 
to the proportion in the general workforce 
population.  This was slightly lower than in 
2016/17 and is explained by an increase in 
leavers with no religion, or who declined to 
state or had not stated a religion. 

 
Sexual 

Orientation 

 

4% of leavers identified as lesbian, gay or 
bisexual.  This is higher than the 2% in the 
general workforce population and the 1% 
recorded in 2016/17.   

7

40 45 48

27

2
0

20

40

60

17‐24 25‐34 35‐44 45‐54 55‐64 Over
65

Female
61

36%

Male
108
64%

158

2 3 2 2
0

50
100
150
200

N
160
95%

Y
9

5%

83

38 32
11 4

0
20
40
60
80

100

Christian No
religion

at all

Decline
to State

Not
Stated

Other

127

26 10 3 3
0

50

100

150

Page 135



 

 
Equality and Diversity Monitoring 

  Community Engagement 

2017-18  
 
 

Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service works hard to educate residents on fire and road safety, and to ensure that 
business owners are aware of relevant legislation to ensure safe working environments. 
 
The equality information captured during this work is vital to ensure that the Service is reaching its target 
audience and also identify any trends that allow us to make sure all members of our community can access 
our services. 
 
Within this report, community engagement is detailed as follows: 
 
Prevention – Safe and Well Delivery 
The Fire Authority is committed to undertaking Safe and Well assessments in the most vulnerable 
households. This is based upon a targeting methodology which centres on enriching our existing data on 
vulnerable people, with data that the NHS and local authorities share with the Authority.  Research shows 
that personal fire‐risk increases with age, thus the majority of Safe and Well Assessments are delivered to 
residents over 65. 
 
Prevention – Safe and Well Resident Satisfaction 
A questionnaire is sent to a random sample of individuals who have received a Safe and Well visit. The 
purpose of the questionnaire is to provide quality assurance to the safe and well process and to ensure that 
residents are happy with the service that CFRS delivers.  
 
Prevention – Youth Engagement Activities 
The Service has, for a number of years run many youth engagement initiatives to promote fire and road 
safety, encourage young people to develop personally and socially while promoting self‐discipline, team work 
and citizenship.  The Service works with local authorities to identify individuals that may benefit from some 
of the courses.   
The activities included in this report include data from the Service Cadets, Princes Trust and RESPECT 
Courses.  More details on these can be found on our website www.cheshirefire.gov.uk  
 
Protection – Business Premises Audits 
Our Protection team are responsible for the enforcement of fire safety legislation in non‐domestic premises.  
During an audit, equality monitoring data is captured for a ‘responsible’ individual. This is usually the 
manager/owner of the business but can also be a nominated person. 
The data in this report details information from the audits undertaken, to those with deficiencies reported, 
action plans issued and any resulting enforcements or prohibitions.  
 
Service Delivery – After the Incident Consultation 
‘After the Incident’ questionnaires are sent to individuals and businesses who have requested the services of 
CFRS to monitor how satisfied the individuals are with the service we provide.  
 
Service Delivery – Injuries and Fatalities Occurring as a Result of Fire 
It is vital that the Service monitors information relating to victims of fires so that appropriate action can 
be taken to target those most at risk.   This report splits out all victims and those occurring as a result of 
accidental fires in the home. The following pages detail relevant equality data captured for each of the 
areas listed above.   
 
 
 
 

 Page 136



 

Prevention – Safe and Well Equality Information 
 

 End of Q4 2017/18  Commentary 

People 
Included 

906  
 

*Not all questions are answered in each 
returned survey. Figures below highlight 

the highest categories of questions 
answered. 

This is the first year equality information has 
been collected in relation to safe and well 
visits.  They are collected via a paper 
questionnaire.  

 
Age 

 

The majority of residents were aged over 65, in 
line with our targeted risk methodology. 

 
Gender 

 

Slightly more women than men were 
recorded, continuing trends from resident 
satisfaction survey information. 

 
Ethnicity 

91.9% (833) British 
1.9% (17) Any Other White 

Background 
1.4% (13) Irish 

*43 individuals stated 12 other ethnicities 
not shown in the summary above 

In line with local population demographics and 
trends from previous years, the vast majority 
of respondents identified as white British. 
 

Disability 

20% (183) with a disability Types of disability were not recorded in the 
dataset. 

Religion 66.7% (604) Christian 
15.7% (142) No Religion 

13.4% (121) Prefer not to say 
*39 individuals stated 4 other ethnicities not 

shown in the summary above 

In line with local population demographics, the 
vast majority of respondents identified as 
Christian followed by no religion. 

 
Sexual 

Orientation 

 

As with survey information, there were low 
numbers of returns from residents identifying 
as lesbian, gay or bisexual.  12 individuals 
identified as trans. 

 
 
 

5 25 22 28 78

676

55 17
0

100
200
300
400
500
600
700
800

Female
484
53%

Male
404
45%

Prefer 
not to 

say
7

1%

(blank)
11
1%

757

116 21 7 3 2
0

200
400
600
800

Page 137



 

Prevention – Safe and Well (HSA) Resident Satisfaction 
 

 End of Q4 2017/18  Commentary 

People 
Included 

1572 surveys returned 
 

*Not all questions are answered in each 
returned survey. Figures below highlight 

the highest categories of questions 
answered. 

212 fewer questionnaires were returned in 
2017/18 compared to 2016/17.  This may be 
due to a revised format of the survey.   

 
Age 

 

The majority of residents returning satisfaction 
reports were aged over 65, in line with our 
targeted risk methodology. 

 
Gender 

 

Slightly more women than men returned the 
survey, continuing trends from previous years. 

 
Ethnicity 98.0% (1500) White British 

0.7% (11) Prefer not to say 
0.7% (10) White Irish 

In line with local population demographics and 
trends from previous years, the vast majority 
of respondents identified as white British. 
 

Disability The most commonly recorded 
disabilities were Hearing 

Impairment (374) and Mobility 
(307) 

The types of disability recorded remains 
relatively similar to those recorded in previous 
years. 

Religion 
71.9% (1023) Christian 

12.0% (171) No Religion 
12.0% (170) Hindu 

There have been a high number of responses 
from Hindu residents.  This is likely due to the 
format of the satisfaction form and will be 
addressed when the forms are next re‐printed. 

 
Sexual 

Orientation 

 

As with previous quarters, there were low 
numbers of returns from residents identifying 
as lesbian, gay or bisexual.  5 respondents 
identified as trans. 

 

 

0 0 2 5 11 73

789

556

11
0

200

400

600

800

1000
<1

8

18
‐2

4

25
‐3

4

35
‐4

4

45
‐5

4

55
‐6

4

65
‐7

4

75
+

PN
TS

Male 
649
44%

Female
807
55%

Prefer 
not to 

say
6

1%

1237

48 9
0

500
1000
1500

Page 138



 

Prevention – Youth Engagement Summary 

 End of Q4 2017/18 Commentary 

Attendees on 
Youth 

Engagement 
Initiatives 

1513 

Data is recorded for RESPECT course, Fire 
Cadets and Princes Trust courses. Attendance 
on youth engagement courses was slightly 
lower than in 2016/17 by 157 participants.   

 
Age 

 

As with 2016/17, the majority of young people 
are aged between 15‐17 years.   

 
Gender 

 

As with previous trends, more men than 
women attended courses.  Work is undergoing 
to encourage more women to attend courses, 
but the higher statistics may also be skewed 
by: more men being excluded from school 
from women and therefore participating in 
RESPECT courses; and the higher numbers of 
male cadets than female cadets.  
 

  
Ethnicity 

91% (1381) White British 
4% (60) Not Known 

2% (23) White Other 
1% (12) White Irish 
>1% (7) Pakistani 

 

Ethnicity trends remain broadly similar to 
previous quarters.  
 
*Only the top 5 ethnicities are shown in this report for 
reasons of confidentiality. 30 attendees from 10 other 
ethnicities are not shown in the summary table 

Disability 

11% (171) with a disability. 
There was a 5% increase in the number of 
attendees with a disability compared to 
2016/17 . 

Religion 57% (731) No Religion 
36% (457) Christian 

6% (78) Other 
*6 other attendees classed their religion 

as either Buddhist or Muslim. 

Data on religion is not collected for Respect 
attendees.   There was a 4% increase in those 
declaring ‘Other’ as their religion, compared to 
2016/17.  There was a 4% decrease in those 
declaring No Religion. 

 
Sexual 

Orientation 

71% (181)  Heterosexual 
17% (43) Prefer not to say 

7% (18) Bisexual 
3% (8) Gay/Lesbian  

*4 other attendees sexual orientations 
were either noted as ‘other’, ‘Unknown’ 

or were left blank. 

Data on sexual orientation is only collected 
for Princes Trust participants. There was an 
increase of 8% of Princes Trust participants 
who preferred not to state their sexual 
orientation as compared to 2016/17.  

 

 

 

125

522

698

94 55

0

200

400

600

800

9‐11 12‐14 15‐17 18 ‐ 20 21+

Male
1006
67%

Female
506
33%

Other
1

0%

Page 139



 

Respect Summary (No courses in Q2 – Summer holidays) 

 End of Q4 2017/18 Commentary 

Attendees on 
Youth 

Engagement 
Initiatives 

241 No course in Q2. Slightly fewer attendees on 
Respect courses compared to 2016/17. 

 
Age 

 

The majority of attendees were aged 9‐11. 
Similar proportions were seen in comparison 
to 2016/17. 

 
Gender 

 

National statistics suggest that school 
exclusion is more common amongst boys, 
resulting in more boys in RESPECT courses.     

 
Ethnicity 

89% (215) White British 
7% (18) White Other 

2% (6) Pakistani 
 

*2 other attendees stated religions that 
was not in the above summary 

The majority of attendees were White British. 
Similar proportions were seen in comparison 
to 2016/17. 

Disability 
5% (12) of attendees stated a 

disability. 
 

A slightly lower proportion of attendees with 
disabilities attended Respect courses than in 
2016/17 by 2%. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

125

95

21

0
20
40
60
80

100
120
140

9 ‐ 11 12 ‐ 14 15 ‐ 17

Male
164
68%

Female
77

32%

Page 140



 

Cadets Summary 

 End of Q4 2017/18 Commentary 

Attendees on 
Youth 

Engagement 
Initiatives 

1018 Fewer cadets attended courses compared to 
2016/17 by 190 attendees. 

 
Age 

 

The majority of cadets are aged between 15 
and 17 years.  

 
Gender 

 

There was a slight increase by 3% in the 
proportion of male cadets compared to 
2016/17. The proportion of male: female 
cadets remains more representative of the 
community than the general workforce.  

 
Ethnicity 

91% (931) White British 
5% (55) Not Known 
1% (12) White Irish 

 
*20 attendees stated 8 other ethnicities 

that are not shown in the summary 
above. 

 

The majority of attendees are White British, in 
line with local population demographics.  
There was a 2% increase in cadets identifying 
as White British from 2016/17. However the 
attendees were more diverse compared to 
2016/17, with 10 ethnicity groups 
represented. 

Disability 

4% (36) stated a disability. 
There was a slight increase of 2% in the 
number of cadets recording a disability from 
2016/17.  

Religion 50% (507) No Religion 
42% (431) Christian 

7% (75) Other 
 

*5 attendees stated religions that are 
not shown in the above summary. 

There was a relatively high proportion of 
cadets declaring their religion as ‘other’.  This 
is largely due to a misunderstanding of the 
category in Q3.  

 

 

 

 

 

0

427

572

0
0

100
200
300
400
500
600
700

9 ‐ 11 12 ‐ 14 15 ‐ 17 18+

Male
696
68%

Female
322
32%

Page 141



 

Princes Trust Summary 

 End of Q4 2017/18 Commentary 

Attendees on 
Youth 

Engagement 
Initiatives 

254 66 additional attendees were seen in 2017/18 
compared to 2016/17. 

 
Age 

 

The most common age for Princes Trust 
attendees is 15‐17. However, the majority of 
attendees were over 17, as seen in 2016/17.   

 
Gender 

 

Marginally more men than women attended 
Princes Trust, however a higher proportion of 
females attended in 2017/18 compared to 
2016/17.   

 
Ethnicity 93% (235) White British 

2% (5) Not Known 
2% (5) White Other 

1% (3) White & Black Caribbean 
*6 attendees stated an ethnicity that 

was not in the above summary. 

Although the majority of attendees were white 
British, there was a diverse range of other 
ethnicities represented on Princes Trust 
schemes.  This is similar to previous years and 
there was a 4% reduction in attendees 
identifying as White British compared to 
2016/17. 
 

Disability 

48% (123) stated a disability. 

Nearly half of all Princes Trust attendees 
declared a disability.  This is much higher than 
in 2016/17 where close to a quarter declared a 
disability. 
 

Religion 88% (224) No Religion 
10% (26) Christian 

*5 other attendees stated a religion not 
shown above. 

 

Very few attendees declared a religion, with an 
annual increase of 12% of attendees declaring 
no religion.  

 
Sexual 

Orientation 

71% (181)  Heterosexual 
17% (43) Prefer not to say 

7% (18) Bisexual 
3% (8) Gay/Lesbian 

 
4 other attendees sexual orientations were 

either noted as ‘other’, ‘Unknown’ or were left 
blank. 

10% of attendees declared their sexual 
orientation as lesbian, gay or bisexual.  This is 
the highest declaration rate of any staff group 
or community engagement scheme. 

 

 

105
94

40

15

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

15 ‐ 17 18 ‐ 20 21 ‐ 23 24+

Male
146
58%

Female
107
42%

Other
1

0%

Page 142



 

Protection – Business Premises Audits 

 End of Q4 2017/18 Commentary 

Audits 
Included 

1172 
There was a 25% decrease in the 

number of business audits carried 
out compared to the previous year. 

 

 
Age 

 

As with 2016/17, the majority of 
outcomes taken were at audits 

with people aged 41‐50 

 
 

Outcome 

Al
l  

En
fo

rc
em

en
ts

 
 

Pr
oh

ib
iti

on
s 

Al
te

ra
tio

ns
 

De
fic

ie
nc

ie
s 

Ac
tio

n 
Pl

an
s 

 
In line with previous years, the 

most common outcome of audits 
where action was taken were 

reporting of deficiencies, recorded 
for 75% of all audits where action 

was taken.  The number of 
enforcements and action plans 

decreased from 2016/17 
 

 
 

Number of 
Outcomes 
Included 

 

 
 
 

396 

 
 
 

16 

 
 
 

2 

 
 
 

0 

 
 
 

299 

 
 
 

79 

 
 

Gender 
 
 

 
Male 
51% 

Female 
40% 
Not 

Stated 
9% 

 
Male 
63% 

Female 
38% 

Not Stated 
0% 

 
Male 
50% 

Female 
50% 

Not Stated 
0% 

 
NA 

 
Male 
49% 

Female 
41% 
Not 

Stated 
10% 

 
Male 
57% 

Female 
35% 

Not Stated 
8% 

There was a fairly even split of 
outcomes issued against men or 

women. Only enforcements 
changed notably from 2016/17.  

 
Ethnicity 81% 

White 
British 

10% Not 
Stated 
2% Any 
other 
White 

Backgrou
nd 

88% White 
British 
6% Any 

other Asian 
background 

6% 
Asian/Asian 

British ‐ 
Indian 

 

100% 
Any 

other 
Asian 

background 

NA 

82% 
White 
British 

11% Not 
Stated 
1% Any 
other 
Asian 

backgrou
nd 

76% White 
British 
9% Not 
Stated 
6% Any 
other 
white 

backgroun
d 
 

 

Although only 2 prohibitions were 
issued, they were issued against 

Asian‐owned businesses, 
continuing trends from previous 

years.  The number of 
enforcements against those from 

an Asian background has increased 
since 2016/17, although overall 

action taken against Chinese 
business has reduced from 

2016/17. 

 
Disability 

 
 

6 people 
recorded a 
disability 

0 recorded 
disability 

0 
recorded 
disability 

0 
recorded 
disability 

6 
recorded 
disability 

0 
recorded 
disability 

A very small number of outcomes 
were noted against business owners 
with disabilities in line with previous 

recording. 

0 20 40 60 80 100 120

16 ‐ 21
22 ‐ 30
31 ‐ 40
41 ‐ 50
51 ‐ 60
61 ‐ 65

Above 65…
(blank)

Enforcement notice Prohibition Deficiencies Action Plan

Page 143



 

Service Delivery – After the incident consultation 

 End of Q4 2017/18 Commentary 

People 
Included 

111 
 

*Not all questions are answered in 
each returned survey. 

This represents a reduction of 50 completed 
forms from 2016/17.  

 
Age 

 

The most common age group for responders 
was 65+.  This is reflected in our Safe and Well 
targeting methodology, ensuring that those 
most at risk are engaged with.  

 
Gender 

 

As with previous trends, the majority of 
respondents were women.   

 
Ethnicity 

 

In line with local population demographics and 
previous trends, the majority of respondents 
were White British.   

Disability 68/101 responses stated no 
disability. 

The most common disability 
was Mobility (19). 

The most commonly declared disability was 
mobility issues as with 2016/17. 

Religion 

 

The majority of those involved in incidents 
declared their  religion as Christian,  in line with 
local population demographics and previous 
trends. 

 
Sexual 

Orientation 

 

2 respondents identified as LGBT, a slight 
increase from 2016/17. 

 
 

0 0 2

18
22

17

48

0
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

Male
42

40%

Femal
e

64
60%

99

1 1
0

50

100

150

White ‐
British

Pakistani Chinese

70

21
1 1 4

0
20
40
60
80

74

2 0 4
0

20
40
60
80

Page 144



 

Service Delivery – Injuries and Fatalities occurring as a result of fire 
 

 End of Q4 2017/18 Commentary 

People 
Included 

4 Fatalities 
61 Injuries (14 serious) 

 

This is the first year in which serious 
injuries have been separated from 
injuries in general.   

 
Age 

 

Injuries were most common among 
those aged 17‐24.  Proportionally, 
most serious injuries occurred to 
those aged 45‐54.  This suggests that 
injuries are occurring to younger 
people than those identified by our 
targeted risk methodology.  
However, numbers are relatively 
small to make definite conclusions 
and prevention work will have 
impacted on the number of injuries 
occurring to those aged over 65.  In 
2016/17, most injuries occurred to 
those over 65.   

 
Gender 

 
 

Slightly more women than men were 
injured. Our targeted risk 
methodology by contrast predicts 
that more men will be injured.  
However, the margin of difference is 
small as are the numbers involved.  
By contrast, in 2016/17, 68% of 
injuries occurred to men. 

 
Ethnicity 95% (58) British 

3% (2) Other White 
2% (1) Pakistani 

 

This includes all British identities, not 
just White British.  As with 2016/17, 
almost all victims of fire were White 
British. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

5

14

7

8

12

5

10

0

4

0

2

6

1

1

0 5 10 15

Under
17

17 to
24

25 to
34

35 to
44

45 to
54

55 to
64

65+

Serious Injuries Injuries

Female
32

52%

Male
30

48%

Page 145



 

Service Delivery – Injuries and Fatalities occurring as a result of Accidental 
fires in the home 

 
 End of Q4 2017/18 Commentary 

People 
Included 

2 Fatalities 
37 Injuries (8 serious) 

This is the first year in which serious injuries 
have been separated from other injuries. 

 
Age 

 

Those aged 45‐54 suffered the most number of 
serious injuries and most injuries in general. 
This suggests that injuries are occurring to 
younger people than those identified by our 
targeted risk methodology.  However, 
numbers are relatively small to make definite 
conclusions and prevention work will have 
impacted on the number of injuries occurring 
to those aged over 65.  In 2016/17, most 
injuries occurred to those over 65. 

 
Gender 

 

 
 
 

Slightly more women than men were injured. 
Our targeted risk methodology by contrast 
predicts that more men will be injured.  
However, the margin of difference is small as 
are the numbers involved.  In 2016/17, the 
majority of injuries occurred to men.   

 
Ethnicity 92% (34) British 

5% (2) Other White 
3% (1) Pakistani 

This includes all British identities, not just 
White British.  In 2016/17, all injuries occurred 
to those identifying as White British. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1
6

4
3

10
4

9

6
1
1

0 5 10 15

Under 17
17‐24
25‐34
35‐44
45‐54
55‐64

65+

Serious
Injuries

Injuries

Female
19

51%

Male
18

49%

Page 146



 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 – Recruitment to Roles other than On Call (Apprentices Included) 

 End of 2017/18 Q4 Commentary 

Number of 
adverts & 
applicants 

781 Applicants 
80 Adverts 

Includes applications to all green and grey book, 
and apprenticeship roles, other than whole‐time 
and on‐call recruitment. Increases have been seen 
in both adverts and applicants compared to 
2016/17, but the average applicants per adverts 
remained the same. 

 
Age 

 

The majority of applicants were aged between 25 
and 35.  This is in line with previous years.  The 
inclusion of apprentice data in previous quarters 
has likely skewed the data to a younger age group.   

 
Gender 

 
 

 

33% of applicants were Female, although this is still 
significantly down from previous years.  This is 
most likely due to the inclusion of apprenticeship 
applications.  No applicants identified as trans. 

 
Ethnicity 

94% (728) White British 
1% (11) Any Other White 

1% (6) White Irish 
1% (6) Blank 

 
*30 applicants stated 15 other ethnicities 

not shown in the summary above 

Ethnicity trends largely mirror trends from previous 
years and quarters. 

Disability 
7% (51) applicants stated a 

disability 

 
6.53% of applicants stated a disability, an increase 
from 2016/17.   

Religion 53% (414) Christian 
35% (272) No Religion 

9% (71) Decline to State 
1% (9) Blank 

Religion trends largely mirror trends from previous 
quarters and years. 
 
*15 ‘applicants stated 4 other responses which are not in the 
summary shown. 

 
Sexual 

Orientation 

 

3.2% of applicants stated their sexuality as either 
Gay, Lesbian or Bisexual. This is a slight decrease 
on 2016/17.    

192
225

181

133

41
1 8

0

50

100

150

200

250

Female
260
33%

Male
520
67%

(blank)
1

0%

688

63 20 5
0

200
400
600
800

Page 147



 

Appendix 2 – Leavers (excluding Retired) 

 End of Q4 2017/18 Commentary 

Number of 
Leavers 

139 Leavers 
 

 
90 Support staff, 35 On Call, 11 Whole‐time 
and 3 Nucleus have left CFRS between 
01/04/17 and 01/04/18.  
 
 

 
Age 

 

Excluding retirements, the most common age 
of leavers was 35‐44.  

 
Gender 

 

The majority of retiring leavers were Male, as a 
result, the % of female leavers increases –
however the number of female leavers 
changed minimally. 
 

 
Ethnicity 

 

The majority of leavers remain White British. 
 
*a further 3 leavers with 3 different ethnicities 
are not included in the chart. 

Disability 

 

There is a reduction of one leaver with a 
disability after the exclusion of retirees from 
the analysis. 

Religion 

 

The breakdown of religion remains relatively 
unchanged once leavers are excluded. 

 
Sexual 

Orientation 

 

The exclusion of retirees has no impact on the 
number of lesbian, gay and bisexual staff 
leaving the Service.   

 
 

7

40
45

31

15

1
0

10
20
30
40
50

17‐24 25‐34 35‐44 45‐54 55‐64 Over
65

Female
60

43%

Male
79

57%

129

2 3 2
0

50

100

150

White ‐
British

Decline to
State

Not Known Othermixed

N
131
94%

Y
8

6%

70

37

18
9 4

0

20

40

60

80

ChristianNo religion at allDecline to StateNot Stated Other

114

10 9 3 3
0

50

100

150

Page 148



 

 
 

Appendix 3 – Operational Recruitment  
 

Appendix 3 sets out recruitment statistics for new operational recruits as follows: 
wholetime recruitment, on-call recruitment and apprentices. The Service’s workforce 
is majority white, straight and male. The benefits of a more diverse workforce are well 
evidenced: internally, it allow for greater diversity of thought and improved problem 
solving ability, and externally it means we are representative of and better able to 
serve our communities. 
 
The Service set a Corporate Performance Indicator that 25% of its new recruits would 
be women and 3% would be BAME (black and minority ethic) to recruit Cheshire’s 
BAME population.  No target was set for LGBT recruits due to the difficulty with 
accurately measuring local LGBT population. 
 
To achieve this, the Service carried out a sustained programme of positive action to 
attract female, BAME and LGBT recruits, from attending community events such as 
race for life and Prides to promoting opportunities, holding taster days on station 
targeted at under-represented groups, and providing fitness advice.  The Service also 
set up a buddying scheme to help under-represented groups to find out more about 
working as a firefighter. 
 
Despite sustained efforts, the Service was unable to reach the target for female 
recruits.  This was also due to some bad luck, with successful female recruits choosing 
to join other Services for personal reasons.  However, 7% of wholetime recruits were 
BAME, outperforming the target, and 29% and 18% of wholetime recruits and 
apprentices identified as LGBT. 
 
As such, the Service is making some ground in seeking to diversify its workforce.  
However, this is at a slow pace and the Service would like to see quicker moves in 
this area.  Therefore, it is committed to reviewing and evaluating its approach to 
positive action so that it can realise the benefits associated with a more diverse 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 Page 149



 

Whole-time Recruitment  

 
 
 

Registrations 
Invited 
to stage 

2 

Invited to 
Practical 

Assessment 

Invited 
to 

Interview 
Successful 
Candidates 

Starting 
Candidates  

Total 
Numbers 

% values presented 
below represent the 

number in each 
category divided by 
the total applicants 

invited to each stage 

2336 1159 75 58 15 14  

Age 

Under 18 1% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

 
18-24 26% 25% 32% 33% 47% 50% 
25-40 68% 70% 65% 67% 53% 50% 
41-59 5% 4% 3% 0% 0% 0% 

NA/Blank 1% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Gender 

Male  88% 87% 85% 90% 80% 86% 

 
Female  12% 13% 15% 10% 20% 14% 

Transgender  0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 
Prefer Not To Say  0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Self Describe  0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Ethnicity 

White British  87% 89% 93% 97% 87% 93% 

 

White Irish  1% 1% 0% 0% 0% 0% 
Mixed ‐ White & Black 

Caribbean  1% 1% 1% 0% 0% 0% 

Mixed ‐ White & Black 
African  0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Mixed ‐ White & Asian  0% 1% 3% 3% 13% 7% 
Asian or Asian British ‐ 

Indian  0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Asian or Asian British ‐ 
Pakistani 1% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Asian or Asian British ‐ 
Bangladeshi  0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Asian or Asian British ‐ 
Any Other Asian 

Background 
0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Black & Black British ‐ 
Caribbean  0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Chinese 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 
White ‐ Any other 
White Background 1% 2% 1% 0% 0% 0% 

Mixed ‐ Any other 
Mixed Background 0% 0% 1% 0% 0% 0% 

Black & British ‐ Any 
other Black 
Background 

0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Gypsy/Traveller  0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 
Prefer Not to Say 1% 1% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Black & Black British ‐ 
African  0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Other  0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 
N/A / Blanks 6% 4% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Religion 

Buddhist 1% 1% 1% 2% 7% 7% 

 

Other 1% 1% 1% 0% 0% 0% 
Prefer Not to Say  4% 4% 7% 7% 0% 0% 

Christian  42% 41% 33% 31% 33% 36% 
Hindu 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Humanist 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 
Jewish  0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 
Muslim  1% 1% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

 
Pagan  0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

 N/A  1% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 
Sikh  0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

No Religion 51% 51% 57% 60% 60% 57% 
Disability Prefer Not to Say 1% 1% 1% 0% 0% 0% Page 150



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

N/A / Blanks  1% 1% 1% 2% 7% 7% 
 Yes  2% 2% 1% 2% 7% 7% 

No 96% 97% 96% 97% 87% 86% 

Sexual 
Orientation 

Bisexual  4% 5% 4% 3% 13% 14% 

 
Heterosexual  85% 85% 83% 84% 73% 71% 
Gay/Lesbian  4% 4% 4% 3% 13% 14% 

Prefer Not to Say  5% 6% 9% 9% 0% 0% 
N/A / Blanks 1% 1% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Page 151



 

On Call Recruitment Breakdown (Q2 & Q3) 
 

*Due to changes in the recruitment process during Q3 2017/18, On Call recruitment information has to 
be reported separately. Data supplied by HR is slightly different for the old and new recruitment process. 
There are 2 lots of data for Q3 as the new system was implemented in the middle of the Q3 period. 

 
 
 

Registrations Passed Sift 
Passed 
Written 

Tests 

Passed 
Practical 

Assessment 
Passed 

Interview 

Made 
Course*    
(includes 

those 
awaiting 

next course 
dates) 

 

 

Total 
Numbers 

% values presented 
below represent the 

number in each 
category divided by 
the total applicants 
passing each stage 

62 45 28 18 15 14  

Age 

Under 18 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

 
18-24 29% 36% 39% 33% 40% 40% 
25-40 58% 51% 50% 56% 53% 53% 
41-59 13% 13% 11% 11% 7% 7% 

NA/Blank 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Gender 

Male  76% 73% 68% 89% 87% 87% 

 
Female  24% 27% 32% 11% 13% 13% 

Transgender  0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 
Prefer Not To Say  0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Self Describe  0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 
NA/Blank 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Ethnicity 

White British  95% 93% 96% 94% 93% 93% 

 

White Irish  2% 2% 4% 6% 7% 7% 
Mixed ‐ White & 
Black Caribbean  0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Mixed ‐ White & 
Black African  0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Mixed ‐ White & 
Asian  0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Asian or Asian British 
‐ Indian  0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Asian or Asian British 
‐ Pakistani 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Asian or Asian British 
‐ Bangladeshi  0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Asian or Asian British 
‐ Any Other Asian 

Background 
0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Black & Black British 
‐ Caribbean  0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Chinese 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 
White ‐ Any other 
White Background 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Mixed ‐ Any other 
Mixed Background 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Black & British ‐ Any 
other Black 
Background 

2% 2% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Gypsy/Traveller  0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 
Prefer Not to Say 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Black & Black British 
‐ African  2% 2% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Other  0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 
N/A / Blanks 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Religion 
Buddhist 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

 Other 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 
Prefer Not to Say  3% 4% 4% 0% 0% 0% 

Christian  44% 44% 43%   39% 33% 33% Page 152



 

 
 

 

  

Hindu 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 
Humanist 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Jewish  2% 2% 4% 6% 0% 0% 
Muslim  2% 2% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

 
Pagan  0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

 N/A  0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 
Sikh  0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

No Religion 50% 47% 50% 56% 67% 67% 

Disability 

Prefer Not to Say 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

 N/A / Blanks  2% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 
Yes  8% 9% 4% 6% 7% 7% 
No 90% 91% 96% 94% 93% 93% 

Sexual 
Orientation 

Bisexual  0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

 
Heterosexual  87% 87% 82% 89% 87% 87% 
Gay/Lesbian  5% 7% 11% 6% 7% 7% 

Prefer Not to Say  6% 7% 7% 6% 7% 7% 
N/A / Blanks 2% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Page 153



 

On Call Recruitment Breakdown (Q3 & Q4) 
 

*Due to changes in the recruitment process during Q3 2017/18, On Call recruitment information has to 
be reported separately. Data supplied by HR is slightly different for the old and new recruitment process. 
There are 2 lots of data for Q3 as the new system was implemented in the middle of the Q3 period. 

 
 
 

Registrations 
Passed DOA 

& Online 
Registration 

Passed 
Online 

Assessment 

Passed 
Timed 

Assessment 

Passed 
Practical 

Assessment 

Made 
Course*    
(includes 

those 
awaiting 

next course 
dates) 

 

 

Total 
Numbers 

% values presented 
below represent the 

number in each 
category divided by 
the total applicants 
passing each stage 

38 34 17 15 12 5  

Age 

Under 18 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

 
18-24 29% 32% 24% 27% 17% 20% 
25-40 53% 56% 59% 53% 58% 40% 
41-59 8% 9% 18% 20% 25% 40% 

NA/Blank 11% 3% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Gender 

Male  74% 79% 82% 80% 83% 80% 

 
Female  16% 18% 18% 20% 17% 20% 

Transgender  0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 
Prefer Not To Say  0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Self Describe  0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 
NA/Blank 11% 3% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Ethnicity 

White British  82% 88% 100% 100% 100% 100% 

 

White Irish  0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 
Mixed ‐ White & 
Black Caribbean  0% 0% 0%       0%       0%       0%       

Mixed ‐ White & 
Black African  0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Mixed ‐ White & 
Asian  0% 0%       0% 0% 0% 0% 

Asian or Asian British 
‐ Indian  0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Asian or Asian British 
‐ Pakistani 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Asian or Asian British 
‐ Bangladeshi  0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Asian or Asian British 
‐ Any Other Asian 

Background 
0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Black & Black British 
‐ Caribbean  0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Chinese 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 
White ‐ Any other 
White Background 3% 3%         

Mixed ‐ Any other 
Mixed Background 3% 3% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Black & British ‐ Any 
other Black 
Background 

0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Gypsy/Traveller  0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 
Prefer Not to Say 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Black & Black British 
‐ African  0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Other  0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 
N/A / Blanks 13% 6% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Religion 
Buddhist 3% 3% 6% 7% 8% 20% 

 Other 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 
Prefer Not to Say  0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Christian  39% 44% 53% 47% 33% 20% Page 154



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Hindu 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 
Humanist 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Jewish  0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 
Muslim  0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

 
Pagan  0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

 N/A  13% 6% 6% 7% 8% 20% 
Sikh  0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

No Religion 45% 47% 35% 40% 50% 40% 

Disability 

Prefer Not to Say 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

 N/A / Blanks  11% 3% 0% 0% 0% 0% 
Yes  0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 
No 89% 97% 100% 100% 100% 100% 

Sexual 
Orientation 

Bisexual  0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

 
Heterosexual  84% 91% 94% 93% 92% 100% 
Gay/Lesbian  3% 3% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Prefer Not to Say  3% 3% 6% 7% 8% 0% 
N/A / Blanks 11% 3% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Page 155



 

Apprentice Recruitment Data 
 

Apprentice information has been taken from the Recruitment other than On Call dataset supplied on a 
quarterly basis. Data supplied only shows all applicants for the role and whether the applicant was 
successful. The data may not reflect which applicants started within the role. 
 

 
 
 

Applications Successful  

Total Numbers 
% values presented 
below represent the 

number in each category 
divided by the total 

applicants in each stage 
140 12  

Age 

Under 17 0% 0% 

 
17-24 76% 58% 
25-35 22% 33% 
36-45 1% 8% 
45+ 0% 0% 

Gender 

Male  87% 83% 

 
Female  13% 17% 

Transgender  0% 0% 
Prefer Not To Say  0% 0% 

Self Describe  0% 0% 
NA/Blank 0% 0% 

Ethnicity 

White British  94% 100% 

 

White Irish  0% 0% 
Mixed ‐ White & Black 

Caribbean  1% 0% 

Mixed ‐ White & Black 
African  

0% 0% 

Mixed ‐ White & Asian  0% 0% 
Asian or Asian British ‐ 

Indian  
0% 0% 

Asian or Asian British ‐ 
Pakistani 

0% 0% 

Asian or Asian British ‐ 
Bangladeshi  

0% 0% 

Asian or Asian British ‐ 
Any Other Asian 

Background 

0% 0% 

Black & Black British ‐ 
Caribbean  1% 0% 

Chinese 0% 0% 
White ‐ Any other 
White Background 1% 0% 

Mixed ‐ Any other 
Mixed Background 1% 0% 

Black & British ‐ Any 
other Black Background 1% 0% 

Gypsy/Traveller  0% 0% 
Prefer Not to Say 2% 0% 

Black & Black British ‐ 
African  0% 0% 

White & Asian 1% 0% 
Other  0% 0% 

N/A / Blanks 0% 0% 

Religion 

Buddhist 0% 0% 

 

Other 0% 0% 
Prefer Not to Say  5% 0% 

Christian  44% 58% 
Hindu 0% 0% 

Humanist 0% 0% 
Jewish  0% 0% 
Muslim  1% 0% 

 Pagan  0% 0%  N/A  0% 0% Page 156



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Sikh  0% 0% 
No Religion 49% 42% 

Disability 

Prefer Not to Say 0% 0% 

 N/A / Blanks  0% 0% 
Yes  4% 0% 
No 96% 100% 

Sexual Orientation 

Bisexual  1% 8% 

 
Heterosexual  91% 83% 
Gay/Lesbian  2% 8% 

Prefer Not to Say  6% 0% 
N/A / Blanks 0% 0% 

Page 157



 

 
 
Conclusion and Next Steps 
 
Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service is keen to ensure that the monitoring data collated in this report 
is used to inform its employment practices and service delivery.  As a result, this information has 
been used to develop significant policies and practices, key examples of which are as follows: 
 

• As referred to in Appendix 3 above, there is work to be done to build a diverse workforce 
and therefore the Service remains committed to reviewing and evaluating its positive 
action campaigns in respect of all operational roles. 

• This report indicates that women are being promoted in lower numbers than their 
proportion in the workforce.  The number of women in the top 5% of earners has also 
reduced this year.  This can be explained by the majority of promotions being given to 
operational staff in circumstances where women only make up 6% of the operational 
workforce.  However, the Service remains committed to ensuring its training and 
promotional processes are as inclusive as possible.   

• The Service’s youth engagement schemes attract more diverse participants than 
compared to its workforce.  As such, the Service intends to explore how its youth 
engagement schemes can act as a talent pipeline for its workforce.   

• Business protection outcomes are decided on the basis of a risk matrix, under which 
ethnicity is not a risk factor.  However, previous reports highlighted high levels of 
outcomes being taken against people of Chinese origin following business premises audits 
due to the types of businesses such as takeaways being operated (not because of 
ethnicity).  This year’s report has shown a reduction in these outcomes, but increases in 
the percentage of enforcements and action plans against businesses of Asian origin (for 
the same reasons explained).  Therefore focused engagement work will again be carried 
out;  and 

• Our targeted risk methodology suggests that the most common age range of victims of 
fire will be those aged over 65.  However, this year younger people were victims of fire.  
It is difficult to draw conclusions from this due to the low number of people involved in 
fire and the prevention work carried out to support those aged over 65.  This information 
is being analysed as part of quarterly performance monitoring to inform future planning. 

 
For any queries or comments on this report, or on equality and diversity in general, please contact 
Melanie Hockenhull (Equality and Inclusion Officer) on 01606 868414 or 
equalities@cheshirefire.gov.uk  
 

Equality and Diversity Monitoring 

Conclusion 

2017-18 

Page 158

mailto:equalities@cheshirefire.gov.uk


Performance and Overview Committee
(Forward Work Programme – 28th November 2018 and 27th February 2019)

Performance and Overview Committee

28th November 2018 27th February 2019

1 Q2 Finance Report AR/WB 1 Q3 Finance Report AR/WB

2 Q2 Performance Report LS/AJ 2 Q3 Performance Report LS/AJ

3 Q2 Programme Report JC/SW 3 Q3 Programme Report JC/SW

4 Q2 Internal Audit Progress Report AL/CA 4 Q3 Internal Audit Progress Report AL/CA

5
Annual Health, Safety and Wellbeing 
Report SB/NW 5 Equality Monitoring – 6 Monthly Update AH/MH

6 Annual Road Safety Report NE 6 Annual Bonfire Report NE

7 Interim Bonfire Update (verbal) NE 7 Annual Prosecution Report LS/JW

8 Annual On the Streets Report NE 8 UPH – 6 Monthly Update AW/LS

9 Action Plan – HMICFRS Inspection LS/AJ

Standing Items: Standing Items:
Work Programme Update Work Programme Update

P
age 159

A
genda Item

 8



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1D Minutes of the Performance and Overview Committee
	2 Quarter 1 Financial Review 2018-19
	3 Quarter 1 Programme Report 2018-19
	2018.09.05 Quarter 1 Programme 2018.19 Appendix 1

	4 Quarter 1 Performance Report 2018-19
	Appendix 1 - Corporate Performance Scorecard
	Appendix 2 - Quarter 1 Performance Report
	2018.09.05 Quarter 1 Performance Report 2018-19 Appendix 2. Annex 1 (Safe & Well)
	2018.09.05 Quarter 1 Performance Report 2018-19 Appendix 2. Annex 2 (Halton HELPS)
	2018.09.05 Quarter 1 Performance Report 2018-19 Appendix 2. Annex 3 (Safety Central).pdf
	2018.09.05 Quarter 1 Performance Report 2018-19 Appendix 2. Annex 4 (On Call Availability).pdf.jpg
	Sheet1


	5 Internal Audit Plan 2018-19 - Quarter 1 Progress and Follow Up Reports
	Appendix 1 - Internal Audit Progress Report - Progress Report
	Appendix 2 - Quarter 1 Internal Audit Progress Report - Follow-up

	6 Unitary Performance Group Report 2017-18 and Quarter 1 2018-19
	Appendix 1 - Unitary Performance Group Activities
	Appendix 2 - Unitary Performance Group Expenditure

	7 Annual Equality and Diversity Monitoring Report 2017-18
	Appendix 1 - Annual Equality and Diversity Monitoring  2017.18

	8 Forward Work Programme 2018-19



